



A DISSERTATION FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY IN FOOD AND NUTRITION

Effects of Vitamin C on Mental Vitality in Young Adults

젊은 성인에서 비타민 C가 정신적 활력에 미치는 영향 연구

February 2023

Department of Food and Nutrition Graduate School Seoul National University

Minju Sim

Effects of Vitamin C on Mental Vitality in Young Adults

지도 교수 신동 미

이 논문을 생활과학박사 학위논문으로 제출함 2022년 10월

> 서울대학교 대학원 식품영양학과

심 민 주

심민주의 생활과학박사 학위논문을 인준함 2022년 12월

위욱	빈 장	(인)
부위	원장	(인)
위	원	(인)
위	원	(인)
위	원	(인)

Abstract

Effects of Vitamin C on Mental Vitality in Young Adults

Minju Sim Department of Food and Nutrition The Graduate School Seoul National University

Background

Vitamin C (L-ascorbic acid or ascorbate) is an essential nutrient that acts as a powerful reducing agent with antioxidant properties. The brain requires the highest concentration of vitamin C in the body because it is vulnerable to oxidative stress due to its high metabolic rate and abundant lipid content. In addition to acting as an antioxidant, vitamin C plays a critical role in neural differentiation and neurotransmitter synthesis and release, suggesting that it is one of the most important nutrients for maintaining brain homeostasis. Thus, vitamin C is believed to have the potential to promote psychological function, supported by previous *in vivo* studies showing that reduced levels of vitamin C are associated with various psychiatric disorders. Mental vitality, a psychological state of aliveness and alertness, provides energy to cope with taxing problems and encourages healthy psychological functioning, such as motivation and goal-seeking. Given that the

early signs of vitamin C deficiency include lethargy and low energy in the body, vitamin C appears to be involved in boosting vitality-related mental functions in humans. However, in contrast to a great deal of understanding of the antioxidant properties of vitamin C, its biological role in the brain has yet to be fully understood in humans. Moreover, causal and mechanistic relationships between vitamin C status and vitality-related psychological functions have yet to be investigated.

Objectives

This research aimed to gain deep insight into the relationship between vitamin C status and mental function in healthy young adults. **Study 1** aimed to determine the association between serum vitamin C concentrations and mental vitality using a population-based cross-sectional study. The aim of **Study 2** was to determine the causal relationship between vitamin C and mental vitality using a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled vitamin C supplementation trial and to explore the physiological mechanisms by which vitamin C promotes mental vitality in a healthy young population with suboptimal vitamin C status.

Methods

In **Study 1**, a cross-sectional investigation was performed in 214 healthy men and women (20–39 y). Serum vitamin C concentrations were measured using high-performance liquid chromatography. To determine the factors associated with serum vitamin C status, participants' lifestyle factors (smoking status, physical activity, alcohol consumption, dietary intake of vitamin C, and vitamin C supplement use) and a single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) in the gene encoding

sodium-dependent vitamin C transporter 1 were investigated. Data on smoking status, alcohol consumption, physical activity, and vitamin C supplement use were collected using questionnaires. Usual dietary intake of vitamin C was assessed using a two-day dietary record. SNP rs6596473 at the solute carrier family 23 member 1 (SLC23A1) gene locus was genotyped using TaqMan[™] SNP Genotyping Assay. Participants rated their mental vitality levels (fatigue and subjective attention) and mood states (stress, depression, and positive and negative affect) using validated self-reported questionnaires. Binary logistic analysis was used to determine factors associated with suboptimal serum vitamin C status with concentrations less than 50 µmol/L. The associations between serum vitamin C concentrations and mental states were determined using linear regression analysis. In Study 2, a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled vitamin C supplementation trial was performed in otherwise healthy men and women (20–39 y) whose serum vitamin C concentrations were suboptimal ($<50 \mu mol/L$). Participants were randomly allocated to receive 500 mg of vitamin C twice a day for 4 weeks (n = 24) or a placebo (n = 22). Mental vitality indicators were measured as follows: validated self-reported questionnaires determined participants' levels of fatigue, subjective attention, work engagement with a threedimensional structure (vigor, dedication, and absorption), and self-control resources; Stroop color-word test combined with mental arithmetic tasks evaluated cognitive function of sustained attention and cognitive flexibility; and enzymelinked immunosorbent assays (ELISA) determined serum concentrations of brainderived neurotrophic factor (BDNF). Mood state assessments were performed to determine the levels of stress, depression, positive and negative affect, and anxiety. To explore how vitamin C promotes mental vitality through the gut-microbiotabrain axis, bacterial 16S ribosomal RNA gene amplicons were sequenced using Next-Generation Sequencing technology. The relative abundance of specific bacterial taxa was analyzed using QIIME2. Bacterial functional abundance was predicted using PICRUSt2 based on the 16S rRNA data and a reference genome database. Based on the results from PICRUSt2, ELISA determined the serum concentrations of lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-binding protein and spermidine. The mechanistic relationship between vitamin C-induced mental vitality and gut microbiota profiles was established in concert with investigations of proinflammatory cytokines and neurotransmitters. Electrochemiluminescent multiplex immunoassay determined serum concentrations of cytokines, including interleukin (IL) 6, IL-8, IL-10, tumor necrosis factor (TNF) α , and interferon (IFN) γ . In addition, concentrations of neurotransmitters in sera, including L-DOPA, norepinephrine, and serotonin, were measured using ultrahigh-performance liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry.

Results

In the population-based cross-sectional study (**Study 1**), the binary logistic analysis showed that individuals in the lowest tertile of dietary vitamin C intake were 3.9 times more likely to have suboptimal serum vitamin C concentrations than those in the highest tertile of dietary vitamin C intake (95% CI: 1.77, 8.83). In addition, individuals who did not use vitamin C-containing supplements were 4.4 times more likely to have suboptimal serum vitamin C concentrations than those who regularly took vitamin C supplements (95% CI: 2.09, 9.40). Also, men were 4.5 times more likely than women to have suboptimal concentrations of vitamin C in their sera (95% CI: 2.10, 10.01). Regarding the SNP rs6596473 at the SLC23A1 gene locus,

individuals with the minor allele homozygote (GG) were 2.7 times more likely to have suboptimal serum vitamin C concentrations than those with the major allele homozygote (CC) (95% CI: 1.05, 7.30; adjusted for sex, dietary vitamin C intake, and vitamin C supplement use). The linear regression analysis showed that attention scores, an important indicator of mental vitality level, directly correlated with serum concentrations of vitamin C ($\beta = 0.20$, p < 0.01; adjusted for sex, age, BMI, current smoking, alcohol consumption, and physical activity). On the other hand, there was no significant association between serum vitamin C concentrations and fatigue levels or mood states. In the randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled trial (Study 2) involving young adults (20-39 y) with suboptimal serum vitamin C concentrations (<50 µmol/L), daily supplementation with 1000 mg of vitamin C for 4 weeks increased serum vitamin C concentrations by 106% (p <0.001). On the other hand, serum vitamin C concentrations in the placebo group decreased by 25% (p < 0.01). Notably, vitamin C supplementation significantly increased the levels of subjective attention and work absorption compared to placebo supplementation (both p < 0.05): subjective attention and work absorption scores in the vitamin C group increased by 27% (p < 0.01) and 10% (p < 0.05), respectively, whereas those scores in the placebo group did not significantly change. In addition, compared to the placebo group, the vitamin C group showed marginal improvement in fatigue (p = 0.06) and comprehensive work engagement (p = 0.07). On the other hand, there was no significant treatment effect of vitamin C on self-control resources, serum BDNF concentrations, and mood indices compared to the placebo treatment. In the Stroop color-word test, the participants supplemented with vitamin C showed higher sustained attention than those in the placebo group (p < 0.05). Furthermore, there was a direct correlation between the

endpoint serum concentration of vitamin C and cognitive performance in the Stroop test (r = 0.28, p = 0.05). Analysis of gut bacterial communities showed that vitamin C supplementation significantly increased the relative abundance of Bacillaceae, Bifidobacterium, and Anaerotruncus and decreased the relative abundance of *Desulfovibrio* compared to placebo supplementation (all p < 0.05). Moreover, cognitive performance in the Stroop test directly correlated with changes in *Bacillaceae* (r = 0.30, p < 0.05) and *Anaerotruncus* (r = 0.35, p < 0.05), while inversely correlated with changes in *Desulfovibrio* (r = -0.31, p < 0.05). The analysis of the functional abundance of gut microbiota showed that vitamin C supplementation significantly decreased the LPS- and polyamine-producing bacteria compared to the placebo (both p < 0.05). Accordingly, compared to the placebo group, significant decreases in the concentrations of LPS-binding protein and spermidine were observed in sera of the vitamin C group (both p < 0.05). Furthermore, cognitive performance in the Stroop test inversely correlated with changes in the abundance of bacterial polyamine biosynthesis (r = -0.58, p < -0.58) 0.001) and the Entner-Doudoroff pathway (r = -0.33, p < 0.05), which were reduced by vitamin C supplementation. For serum cytokine concentrations, there was a significant time-by-group interaction effect in serum IL-6, IL-10, and TNF- α concentrations (all p < 0.05). Specifically, in the placebo group, concentrations of serum IL-6 and IL-10 increased by 46% (p < 0.01) and 22% (p < 0.01), respectively, whereas those in the vitamin C group did not significantly change. In addition, serum TNF- α concentrations in the vitamin C group decreased by 23% (p < 0.01), whereas those in the placebo group did not significantly change. Notably, the placebo group showed a direct correlation between poor cognitive performance in the Stroop test and increased concentrations of IL-8 (r = 0.47, p < 0.05) and IL-

10 (r = 0.45, p = 0.05), but these associations were abolished in the vitamin C group. For serum neurotransmitters, including L-DOPA, norepinephrine, and serotonin, there was no treatment effect of vitamin C on the concentration change; however, only the vitamin C group showed a robust direct correlation between an increase in L-DOPA concentrations and an increase in work engagement levels (r = 0.58, p < 0.001).

Conclusion

This study is the first to show a causal and mechanistic relationship between vitamin C and mental vitality in young adults with suboptimal vitamin C status. Optimal vitamin C status supports the normal psychological function of dopamine to promote enthusiasm and motivation for work. Sufficient vitamin C intake also inhibits endotoxin-producing gut microbes, a potential risk factor for chronic inflammation, contributing to maintaining attentional focus during cognitive tasks. Current findings suggest that optimal vitamin C status promotes gut microbiota balance and increases mental energy in young adults.

Keywords: vitamin C, mental vitality, attention, motivation, gut microbiota, gutbrain axis, proinflammatory cytokine, single nucleotide polymorphism

Student Number: 2018-34327

Contents

Abstracti
Contents viii
List of Tablesxiv
List of Figuresxvi
List of Abbreviationsxix
I. Introduction1
1. Background2
2. Objectives
II. Literature review7
1. Biochemical functions of vitamin C in humans
2. Actions of vitamin C in central nervous system10
3. Roles of vitamin C in mood states15
4. Recommended dietary allowance and toxicity of vitamin C
5. Assessment of human vitamin C status
6. Optimal vitamin C status in humans

7. Factors associated with vitamin C status	31
8. Vitamins and gut microbiota	35
9. Limitations of previous studies	36

III. Study 1. Association between vitamin C status and mental v	itality: a
cross-sectional study	37
1. Introduction	
2. Materials and Methods	41
2.1. Participants	41
2.2. Measurement of general characteristics	42
2.3. Measurement of serum vitamin C concentrations	43
2.4. SNP selection and genotyping	44
2.5. Assessment of vitality and mood states	47
2.6. Statistical analysis	49
3. Results	51
3.1. General characteristics of participants	51

3.2. Genotype frequency of SNP rs6596473 at the SLC23A1 gene locus
and distribution of serum vitamin C concentrations in each genotype57
3.3. Association between suboptimal serum vitamin C concentrations and
SNP rs6596473 at the SLC23A1 gene locus61
3.4. Association between serum vitamin C concentrations and mental
vitality and mood states
4. Discussion

IV. Study 2. Effects of vitamin C supplementation on mental vitality: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial......75

1. Introduction	76
2. Materials and Methods	80

2.4. Sample collection	.86
2.5. Mental vitality assessment	.87
2.5.1. Subjective mental vitality	.87

	2.6. Mood state assessment	92
	2.7. Gut microbiota analysis	94
	2.8. Serum biochemical analysis	96
	2.8.1. Vitamin C	96
	2.8.2. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor	96
	2.8.3. Lipopolysaccharide-binding protein	97
	2.8.4. Spermidine	98
	2.8.5. Cytokines	99
	2.8.6. Neurotransmitters	99
	2.9. rs6596473 genotyping	101
	2.10. Statistical analysis	103
3	. Results	105
	3.1. General characteristics of participants at baseline	105
	3.2. Dietary intake	109
	3.3. Serum vitamin C concentration	111

3.4. Mental vitality
3.5. Mood state
3.6. Gut microbiota
3.6.1. Rarefaction curves of species richness
3.6.2. Gut microbial diversity123
3.6.3. Relative abundance of gut microbiota126
3.6.4. Functional analysis of gut microbiota131
3.6.5. Gut microbial-derived molecule and metabolite
3.6.6. Relationship between gut microbiota and mental vitality
3.7. Cytokines
3.7.1. Changes in serum concentrations of cytokines144
3.7.2. Relationship between changes in cytokine levels and cognitive
performance147
3.8. Neurotransmitters
3.8.1. Changes in serum concentrations of neurotransmitters150
3.8.2. Relationship between changes in neurotransmitter levels and work
engagement153

4. Discussion	
V. Summary and Conclusion	
References	166
국문초록	

List of Tables

II. Literature review

Cable 1 . Animal studies investigating the role of vitamin C in mood disorders
Clinical studies investigating the role of vitamin C in mood states
Table 3. Phenotypic effects of SNPs in the gene encoding SVCT1 protein in
10 mans

III. Study 1. Association between vitamin C status and mental vitality: a crosssectional study

Table 1 . Sequences of the primers and probes used in the genotyping
Table 2. General characteristics of participants
Table 3. Minor allele and genotype frequencies of SNP rs6596473 at the
SLC23A1 gene locus
Table 4. Association between suboptimal serum vitamin C concentrations and
general characteristics
Table 5. Association between suboptimal serum vitamin C concentrations and
SNP rs6596473 at the SLC23A1 gene locus
Table 6. Association between serum vitamin C concentrations and mental
vitality67
Table 7. Association between serum vitamin C concentrations and mood states

IV. Study 2. Effects of vitamin C supplementation on mental vitality: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial

Table 1. General characteristics of participants at baseline	107
Table 2 . Dietary intakes of energy and nutrients	110
Table 3 . Effects of vitamin C supplementation on subjective vitality	115
Table 4. Effects of vitamin C supplementation on mood states	120

List of Figures

III. Study 1. Association	between	vitamin C	status and	mental	vitality: a	cross-
sectional study						

Figure 1. Flowchart of participation throughout the course of the	e cross-sectional
study	53
Figure 2. Distribution of serum vitamin C concentrations in the	e cross-sectional
population	54
Figure 3. Distribution of serum vitamin C concentrations ad	ccording to the
genotype of rs6596473	60

IV. Study 2. Effects of vitamin C supplementation on mental vitality: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial

Figure 1. Schematic diagram of participants' schedules during the visit
Figure 2. Schematic illustration of the cognitive test90
Figure 3. Flowchart of participation throughout the course of the intervention
trial106
Figure 4. Effects of vitamin C supplementation on serum concentrations of
vitamin C112
Figure 5. Performance difference in the Stroop test between the vitamin C and
placebo groups117
Figure 6. Changes in serum concentrations of BDNF118
Figure 7. Rarefaction curves of alpha diversity indices of gut bacterial
communities

Figure 8. Changes in alpha diversity indices of gut microbiota124
Figure 9. Bray-Curtis dissimilarity of gut microbiota
Figure 10. Changes in the relative abundance of gut microbiota at the phylum
level
Figure 11. Relative abundance of Bacteroidetes and Firmicutes, and the
Firmicutes to Bacteroidetes ratio128
Figure 12. Changes in the relative abundance of gut microbiota at the genus
level
Figure 13. Effects of vitamin C supplementation on the relative abundance of
bacterial genera130
Figure 14. Changes in the predicted relative abundance of microbial metabolic
pathways
Figure 15. Effects of vitamin C supplementation on the predicted relative
abundance of microbial metabolic pathways133
Figure 16. Effects of vitamin C supplementation on serum concentrations of
LBP137
Figure 17. Effects of vitamin C supplementation on serum concentrations of
spermidine
Figure 18. Relationship between gut microbiota profiles and mental vitality
indices
Figure 19. Changes in serum concentrations of cytokines
Figure 20. Effects of vitamin C supplementation on serum concentration of
cytokines146
Figure 21. Relationship between changes in cytokine levels and cognitive
performance148

Figure 22. Changes in serum concentrations of neurotransmitters151
Figure 23. Effects of vitamin C supplementation on serum concentration of
neurotransmitters
Figure 24. Relationship between changes in neurotranmitter levels and work
engagement

List of Abbreviations

BDNF	Brain-derived neurotrophic factor
ED pathway	Entner-Doudoroff pathway
IL	Interleukin
LBP	Lipopolysaccharide-binding protein
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
MAF	Minor allele frequency
OR	Odds ratio
OTU	Operational taxonomic unit
РА	Polyamine
РВО	Placebo
SLC23A1	Solute carrier family 23 member 1
SNP	Single nucleotide polymorphism
SVCT1	Sodium-dependent vitamin C transporter 1
TNF-a	Tumor necrosis factor α
VC	Vitamin C

I. Introduction

1. Background

Vitamin C, also known as L-ascorbic acid or ascorbate, is an essential nutrient that functions as an electron donor and cofactor in several biological reactions (Du, Cullen, and Buettner 2012). The distribution of vitamin C in the body is thought to reflect the functional requirements of those tissues and organs (Figueroa-Méndez and Rivas-Arancibia 2015). Accordingly, given that the brain has the highest concentration of vitamin C than any other organ, it can be seen that vitamin C is closely related to brain function and maintaining its homeostasis (Fiona E Harrison and May 2009b). More specifically, in vitro experiments and animal model studies have shown that vitamin C in the brain effectively scavenges reactive oxygen species and free radicals to protect neurons from oxidative stress and is involved in recycling other brain antioxidants such as glutathione and vitamin E (Ballaz and Rebec 2019). In addition, vitamin C induces the differentiation and maturation of neurons and regulates the synthesis or transmission of neurotransmitters, including catecholamines and serotonin (Hansen et al. 2018; James M May, Qu, and Meredith 2012; Seitz et al. 1998). Consistent with in vitro results, evidence from in vivo models has shown that vitamin C deficiency or depletion conditions are implicated in abnormal phenotypes of brain structure and function, indicating cerebral hemorrhage, neurodegeneration, mood disorders, or cognitive decline (Tveden-Nyborg 2021; Hansen et al. 2018; Plevin and Galletly 2020). Although a few human studies also have observed a significant relationship between vitamin C status and brain function, the currently available evidence is limited to the elderly or patient populations with clinical psychiatric symptoms (Plevin and Galletly 2020; Fiona E Harrison 2012; Moretti, Fraga, and Rodrigues 2017). Therefore, it is

highly desirable to investigate whether improvement of vitamin C status in healthy populations is also effective in better brain function, such as vitality-related psychological and cognitive domains

The gut microbiota, a collection of commensal bacteria, archaea, fungi, and viruses, is referred to as a forgotten organ in humans because the number of intestinal bacteria equals the number of cells in the human body, and their genetic repertoire is estimated to be 150 times greater than that of humans (Lloyd-Price et al. 2017). Accumulating evidence suggests that the gut microbiota has the potential to influence various metabolic and physiological functions of the host, including nutrient metabolism, immune responses, and disease pathology (Tilg et al. 2020; Rooks and Garrett 2016; Cryan and Dinan 2012; Gentile and Weir 2018; Gehrig et al. 2019). Hence, gut dysbiosis, a condition with the loss of beneficial microbiota and expansion of pathogenic microbes, has been linked with gastrointestinal disorders and various unhealthy outcomes affecting other distal organs (Carding et al. 2015). Given the overall impact of the gut microbiota on human health, the gutmicrobiota-brain axis, bidirectional communication between enteric bacteria and the central nervous system, is recently considered an essential concept for understanding the pathogenesis of mental illness (Cryan et al. 2019). Alteration in intestinal gut bacterial communities can affect brain function through the gutmicrobiota-brain axis and vice versa (Mayer, Tillisch, and Gupta 2015). Indeed, overwhelming evidence from in vivo and clinical studies has observed the significant link between gut microbiota imbalance and the prevalence and severity of various psychiatric disorders, such as depression, anxiety, autism, and dementia (Cryan and Dinan 2012). Therefore, it is clear that maintaining a balanced gut microbiota is an important determinant of brain health.

It is worth noting a link between dietary vitamins and the gut microbiota since vitamins are essential for brain homeostasis as well as survival of the gut microbiota and their basic biological processes (Pham, Dold, et al. 2021; Das, Babaei, and Nielsen 2019). Since dietary vitamins are entirely absorbed in the proximal small intestine, vitamins have not traditionally been considered to affect the gut flora (Said 2011). However, emerging animal and clinical studies over the past few years have shown that high-dose or colon-targeted vitamins can reach the large intestine, and commensal bacteria utilize significant amounts of the vitamin in the gut (Pham, Fehlbaum, et al. 2021; Fangmann et al. 2018). Therefore, recent studies focus on determining the effectiveness of vitamins as adjuvants for the prevention and treatment of various mental illness, which is achieved via the gutmicrobiota-brain axis (Berding et al. 2021). For example, dietary riboflavin has been reported to nourish the short-chain fatty acid-producing bacteria (L. Liu et al. 2022). Accumulating evidence also shows that vitamin D acts as a signaling molecule that regulates neuroreceptor activity within the gut-microbiota-brain axis. In contrast to the widely investigated vitamin D or B complex, the effects of vitamin C administration on the gut microbiota have been rarely investigated, and an association with brain function remains to be established.

The mechanisms underlying bidirectional communication between gut and brain involve alterations in bacterial composition and metabolism and mediation of neuro-immuno-endocrine factors (de Vos *et al.* 2022). For example, a growing body of studies has shown that the compositional shift toward gut microbiota dysbiosis and the consequent bacterial metabolic changes trigger systemic inflammatory cascades and chronic neuroinflammation, a major cause of mental disorders (Rooks and Garrett 2016). Impaired balance in gut flora also increases the permeability of the intestinal mucosa, increasing the likelihood of toxic bacterial fragments reaching the central nervous system (Bhattacharyya and Bhunia 2021). Additionally, clinical and experimental evidence indicates that microbial-derived metabolites not only interact locally with intestinal cells, but also exert their effects remotely via neuroendocrine and metabolic pathways (Y. Liu *et al.* 2020; Yang and Cong 2021). That is, it is likely that multiple mechanisms work together to mediate the gut-microbiota-brain axis, contributing to homeostasis of the gut, brain, and microbial community.

2. Objectives

Hypothesis

- 1. High serum vitamin C concentrations may be associated with high mental vitality levels in a young population.
- Vitamin C supplementation may promote mental vitality, which is achieved by gut microbiota alteration interacting with immune and central nervous systems through the gut-microbiota-brain axis.

Aims

- The aim of Study 1 was to determine the association of serum vitamin C concentrations with mental vitality in young adults by conducting a population-based cross-sectional study.
- 2. The aim of Study 2 was to determine whether vitamin C supplementation promotes mental vitality in otherwise healthy individuals with suboptimal serum vitamin C status by conducting a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. The mechanisms by which vitamin C supplementation promotes mental vitality were investigated by assessing the effects of vitamin C on gut bacterial communities, inflammatory cytokines, and neurotransmitters.

II. Literature review

1. Biochemical functions of vitamin C in humans

Vitamin C (ascorbic acid) is a water-soluble carboxylic acid consisting of six carbons. Most mammals can synthesize vitamin C on their own. However, humans cannot synthesize vitamin C due to a lack of L-gulono-1,4-lactone oxidase, an enzyme responsible for the final step in vitamin C synthesis (Nishikimi and Yagi 1991). Therefore, humans are entirely supplied with vitamin C from their diet. In humans, ingested vitamin C is readily absorbed from the small intestine and distributed to the organs by sodium-dependent vitamin C transporter (SVCT) 1, which belongs to solute carrier family 23 member 1 (SLC23A1) (Sotiriou et al. 2002). Vitamin C is differentially accumulated by most tissues and body fluids. High concentrations of vitamin C are found in the pituitary gland, adrenal glands, lens, and brain. There are two important biological forms of vitamin C: ascorbate anion, the deprotonated ascorbic acid at physiological pH, and dehydroascorbic acid, the oxidized form of ascorbic acid (Du, Cullen, and Buettner 2012). Vitamin C acts as an electron donor, a reducing agent that exerts antioxidant activity. Most of the physiological functions of ascorbic acid depend on its redox properties (S. J. Padayatty et al. 2003). In addition, ascorbic acid acts as a cofactor for fifteen mammalian enzymes, such as dopamine β -monooxygenase, peptidylglycine α amidating monooxygenase, prolyl hydroxylase, lysyl hydroxylase, asparaginyl hydroxylase, trimethyllysine hydroxylase, and γ -butyrobetaine hydroxylase (Sebastian J Padayatty and Levine 2016). Therefore, vitamin C is necessary for collagen synthesis and contributes to the formation and maintenance of connective tissues, such as tendons, bones, and cartilage in our body. Vitamin C is also involved in regulating the activity of hydroxylase in tyrosine and phenylalanine

metabolism. In addition, vitamin C plays a critical role in converting folic acid to its active form, tetrahydrofolate. Vitamin C converts ferric cation into ferrous in the intestinal tract and prevents calcium from forming insoluble salts with iron, which increases intestinal iron absorption. Vitamin C also enzymatically breaks down histamine and converts it to aspartate for detoxification.

2. Actions of vitamin C in central nervous system

Circulating vitamin C enters the brain via SVCT2, which presents its highest expression in the central nervous system (Fiona E Harrison and May 2009b). By active transport of SVCT2, ascorbic acid crosses the blood-brain barrier, choroid plexus, and neuronal membranes. In addition, dehydroascorbic acid is transported by glucose transporter (GLUT) 1 and 12 in the blood-brain barrier and astrocytic membranes (Miyata *et al.* 2022; Agus *et al.* 1997). It has been reported that oral vitamin C administration upregulates basal expression of GLUT1 in endothelial cells of the brain cortex in rat models (Iwata *et al.* 2014). In addition, neurons modify the availability of intracellular vitamin C itself in response to an increase in extracellular ascorbic acid via SVCT2 translocation to the plasma membrane, ensuring optimal vitamin C uptake (Covarrubias-Pinto *et al.* 2018). In humans, the brain contains 2-10 mmol/L of vitamin C, which is 200 times higher than the plasma concentration.

Neuroprotection

The brain is vulnerable to oxidative damage due to its high metabolic rate and an elevated content of unsaturated fatty acids in cell membranes (Niemoller and Bazan 2010). Because vitamin C has a strong reducing activity and small molecular size, it can serve as the first line of intracellular defense against free radicals produced by cellular metabolism in the brain (Ballaz and Rebec 2019). Therefore, in some brain regions, vitamin C levels are known to reach the millimolar level, which is ten times higher than the average concentration in other tissues (Figueroa-Méndez and Rivas-Arancibia 2015). Preclinical evidence

suggests that vitamin C deficiency in the brain causes oxidative stress and neurodegeneration. For example, the lack of the ability to synthesize ascorbic acid in transgenic mice promotes the pathogenesis of age-related neurodegeneration (Dixit et al. 2015). Dehydroascorbic acid attenuates oxidative damage that was caused by ischemia-reperfusion injury in rats (Bémeur et al. 2005). Vitamin C also inhibits oxidative stress triggered by neurotoxins, including ethanol and monosodium glutamate (Hashem, El-Din Safwat, and Algaidi 2012; Huang et al. 2002). Specifically, in the hippocampal neurons of a prenatal rat model, vitamin C protects against ethanol-induced apoptotic neurodegeneration (Huang et al. 2002). In addition, the antioxidant activity of vitamin C protects neurons against massive glutamate and subsequent excitotoxicity induced by the overactivation of glutamate receptors (Choi 1992). The part of the brain where vitamin C acts are divided into the intracellular and extracellular compartment. The scavenging activity of vitamin C is not limited to aqueous phase, and vitamin C participates in free radical scavenging of cell membranes and other hydrophobic compartments through interaction with vitamin E (J. M. May 1999). Thus, vitamin C protects neurons and immune cells in the brain from oxidative radicals and maintains a redox equilibrium.

Neuronal development

Vitamin C plays a vital role in brain development. Vitamin C levels are highest in the fetal brain of rats, doubling from day 15 to day 20 of gestation and then decreasing significantly at birth (Kratzing, Kelly, and Kratzing 1985). Ascorbic acid has been demonstrated in *in vitro* experiments to enhance the differentiation of mouse embryonic stem cells into neurons and increase the proportion of dopaminergic and serotonergic neurons (S.H. Lee et al. 2000). Differentially expressed genes induced by vitamin C treatment during neuronal differentiation are involved in cell adhesion and development, neurogenesis, maturation, and neurotransmission. In the absence of SVCT2, mouse hippocampal neurons display decreased dendritic branches and total dendritic length, suggesting that SVCT2 is required for the normal maturation of neurons (Qiu et al. 2007). It has also been reported that ascorbic acid increases the number of dopaminergic neurons in culture and *in vivo* systems by stimulating the differentiation of various neural progenitor cells of mice and humans (Bagga, Dunnett, and Fricker-Gates 2008; Chen, He, and Zhang 2009). These effects of vitamin C on lineage commitment of dopaminergic neurons are not due to the antioxidant properties of vitamin C, as alternative antioxidant agents cannot mimic these effects (Yan, Studer, and McKay 2001). Instead, the mechanisms by which ascorbic acid promotes the differentiation of dopaminergic neurons rely on epigenetic regulation in the brain (He et al. 2015). Specifically, ascorbic acid promotes the loss of cytosine methylation in the promoter regions of neuron-specific dopaminergic genes, giving transcription factors access to these regions and consequently differentiating neural stem cells into dopaminergic neurons. Another mouse model experiment reported that vitamin C prevents D-galactose-induced decline in hippocampal neurogenesis by promoting cell proliferation, neuronal differentiation, and neuronal maturation (Nam et al. 2019). Also, vitamin C contributes to the reduction of neuroinflammation in the mouse hippocampus because it increases the levels of endogenous antioxidants and the expression of Sirt1, caveolin-1, and brain-derived neurotrophic factors. Further, vitamin C is involved in synapse formation, thus improving learning and memory while reducing the risk of mood disorders and

neurodegenerative diseases in *in vivo* models (Moretti and Rodrigues 2022). Taken together, vitamin C is essential for neuronal differentiation, maturation, and synapse formation.

Neuromodulation

Vitamin C in the brain plays a variety of roles in the synthesis and regulation of biogenic amines. For example, vitamin C is an essential cofactor for dopamine βhydroxylase, an enzyme that catalyzes the conversion of dopamine to norepinephrine (Daubner, Le, and Wang 2011). Vitamin C is also involved in the regulation of dopaminergic neurotransmission. Vitamin C release into the extracellular space prevents dopamine oxidation during activation of the substantia nigra dopaminergic system (Ballaz and Rebec 2019). Animal models of vitamin C deficiency show the marked reduction in dopamine and other catecholamine levels concomitant with behavioral changes (Hansen et al. 2018). In contrast, ascorbic acid administration to rats was reported to enhance dopamine-mediated behavioral effects (Ward et al. 2013). Additionally, extracellular vitamin C levels in the striatum increase in response to amphetamine, a drug that enhances dopamine transmission (Pierce et al. 1992). For example, when amphetamine is applied directly to the animal's striatal neurons, vitamin C enhances the synaptic action of dopaminergic neurons. Vitamin C participates in the catalysis of peptidyl-glycine α -amidated monooxygenase, an enzyme that synthesizes neuropeptide hormones abundant in the hypothalamus and pituitary gland (Eipper and Mains 1991). Vitamin C is also a cofactor in the formation of epoxyeicosatrienoic acid from arachidonic acid catalyzed by cytochrome P450 peroxygenase, which mediates autocrine and paracrine in the nervous system (H. Jiang et al. 2012). Glutamate, the most abundant excitatory neurotransmitter in the brain, triggers the release of vitamin C from astrocytes in the striatum (Nelson *et al.* 2007). As a result, extracellular vitamin C directly regulates neuronal excitability by inhibiting T-type Ca²⁺-channels, affecting neurotransmission. In addition, vitamin C-mediated redox reactions attenuate the activity of glutamate N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors in forebrain neurons (Sandstrom and Rebec 2007). Taken together, vitamin C affects the synthesis and release of biogenic amines in a wide range of brain regions.
3. Roles of vitamin C in mood states

Evidence from *in vitro* experiments and animal studies on the action of vitamin C in the central nervous system suggests that vitamin C promotes psychological function in humans. However, most of the studies that have investigated the role of vitamin C in brain function have focused on mood states, especially in patients with psychiatric disorders, including depression, anxiety, and schizophrenia. Therefore, the efficacy of vitamin C supplementation for other psychological domains, such as cognition and mental vitality, has been rarely reported in humans. Currently available findings regarding the role of vitamin C in mood states investigated in animal models or clinical studies are presented in **Tables 1** and **Table 2**, respectively.

Depression

Depression presents symptoms like mood disorders, psychomotor disturbances, and physical disabilities (Comstock and Helsing 1977). A number of animal studies have shown the phenotypic effects of vitamin C administration on depressive behavior assessed by the forced swimming test, tail suspension test, and novelty-suppressed feeding test (Fraga *et al.* 2020; Goyal, Gupta, and Verma 2016; Shivavedi *et al.* 2017; Shivavedi *et al.* 2019). In addition, several mechanisms by which vitamin C exerts antidepressant effects have been elucidated through *in vivo* experiments. In this regard, vitamin C has been reported to modulate the synaptic activity of various neuronal receptors and ion channels, including serotonin 1A receptors, gamma-aminobutyric acid receptors, N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors, and potassium channels (Binfaré *et al.* 2009; Acuña *et al.* 2013; Rosa *et al.* 2016).

Specifically, vitamin C activates the serotonin 1A receptor and inhibits the activity of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor and potassium channel. In addition, vitamin C increases the phosphorylation of S6 kinase beta-1 and extracellular signalregulated kinases. On the other hand, vitamin C decreases the phosphorylation of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase in the hippocampus and cortex (Fraga *et al.* 2020; Moretti *et al.* 2016; Moretti *et al.* 2015b). Furthermore, a previous mouse model experiment has shown that vitamin C modulates neurotransmitter release by increasing synapsin 1 levels in nerve endings and increases dendritic spin density in certain brain regions (Fraga *et al.* 2020). In addition to *in vivo* experiments, several epidemiological studies have shown an association between vitamin C status and depression. However, the antidepressant effects of vitamin C administration on depression in patients are not as dramatic as its effects in experimental animals.

Anxiety

Anxiety is a psychiatric disorder caused by dysregulation of the hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal axis and dysfunction of neurotransmitters such as gammaaminobutyric acid, serotonin, and noradrenaline (Grillon 2008). It has been suggested that there is a direct correlation between oxidative stress levels and anxiety-like behaviors (Hughes, Lowther, and van Nobelen 2011). Although the mechanisms by which vitamin C alleviates anxiety are not fully understood, preclinical studies have provided insight into the underlying actions of vitamin C. In this regard, vitamin C modulates the neurotransmitter activity, attenuates the cortisol activity, and mitigates oxidative stress in the brain. In rats, mice, and zebrafish models with anxiety symptoms, vitamin C administration significantly alleviated or abolished anxiolytic-like effects (Fraga *et al.* 2018; de Almeida *et al.* 2014; Walia, Garg, and Garg 2019; Olajide *et al.* 2017; Narayanan *et al.* 2010; Raeis-Abdollahi *et al.* 2019; Puty *et al.* 2014). A cross-sectional study has shown that patients with anxiety have lower circulating vitamin C levels than controls (Gautam *et al.* 2012). Two intervention trials have reported that vitamin C supplementation significantly reduces the severity of anxiety compared to the placebo or other antioxidant vitamins (de Oliveira *et al.* 2015; Mazloom, Ekramzadeh, and Hejazi 2013).

Schizophrenia

Schizophrenia is a neuropsychiatric disorder estimated to affect 1% of the world's population, and its symptoms and pathophysiology are highly complex (Javitt 2012; Arroll, Wilder, and Neil 2014). Symptoms of schizophrenia include hallucinations, paranoia, delusions, lack of motivation, weakened speech, and reduced social functioning. The cause of schizophrenia is still not fully understood, and much controversy exists. However, insufficient dopamine levels due to the loss of dopamine-producing cells appear to be associated with schizophrenia (Wabaidur, ALOthman, and Naushad 2012). However, some argue that the overactivity of the dopaminergic system causes abnormalities in neurotransmission mediated by N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor receptors (Javitt 2012). In addition, there is growing evidence that oxidative stress may be associated with schizophrenic pathology (Morera-Fumero et al. 2017). Antipsychotics administration is known to induce a large amount of free radicals in the body, effectively suppressed by coadministration of vitamin C in the rat model (Heiser et al. 2010). However, there were no significant differences in plasma vitamin C

concentrations between schizophrenic patients and controls in a case-control study (Young *et al.* 2007). On the contrary, a small-scale intervention trial has reported that supplementation with antioxidants combination, including vitamin C, significantly alleviates symptoms of schizophrenia compared to baseline (Sivrioglu *et al.* 2007).

Psychological distress

Several studies have reported the effects of vitamin C supplementation on psychological distress, such as tension, anger, and stress (Pullar et al. 2018; M. Zhang et al. 2011; Wang et al. 2013; Kennedy et al. 2010; Carr et al. 2013; Conner et al. 2020; Brody et al. 2002). Most studies assessed psychological distress levels using the Profile of Mood States (POMS), a self-reported questionnaire. After supplementation with 500 mg of vitamin C twice daily for one week, POMS scores at the endpoint were lower than baseline in acutely hospitalized patients (M. Zhang et al. 2011). Another clinical trial involving acutely hospitalized patients found that daily supplementation with 500 mg of vitamin C twice daily reduced POMS scores compared to supplementation with 5000 IU of vitamin D (Wang et al. 2013). Two clinical trials reported the efficacy of vitamin C supplementation for reducing psychological distress in a healthy population. Compared to placebo, vitamin C supplementation significantly reduced mood disturbance assessed using the POMS (Conner et al. 2020). Brody et al reported that vitamin C supplementation at 3000 mg/day significantly reduced psychological stress responses to public speaking and mental arithmetic test compared to placebo (Brody et al. 2002).

Disease	Animal	Treatment	Main findings	References
Depression	Mouse	A single dose of 10 mg/kg,	\uparrow Antidepressant-like effect (\downarrow latency to feed in the	(Fraga et al.
		orally	novelty-suppressed feeding test); ↑ S6K1(p70S6K)	2020)
			phosphorylation and synapsin 1 immunocontent; \uparrow	
			dendritic spin density in the mature ventral dentate	
			gyrus, but no effect in the dorsal dentate gyrus	
Depression	Mouse	A single dose of 0.065 mg/g or	\uparrow Antidepressant-like effect (\downarrow immobility time in	(Goyal,
		0.13 mg/g, intraperitoneally	forced swimming test and tail suspension test)	Gupta, and
				Verma
				2016)
Depression	Streptozotocin and	25 mg/kg, orally for 11 days	↑ Antidepressant-like effect (↓ immobility period);	(Shivavedi
	foot-shock-induced		lipid peroxidation in the prefrontal cortex; \downarrow reduction	et al. 2017)
	depression/diabetes		of serotonin and noradrenaline levels; \downarrow TNF- α and	
	rat		IL-6 levels in the prefrontal cortex	
Depression	Streptozotocin and	10-400 mg/kg, orally for 11	↑ Antidepressant-like effect (↓ immobility dose-	(Shivavedi
	foot-shock-induced	days	dependently); \downarrow hypercorticosteronemia and adrenal	et al. 2019)
	depression/diabetes		hyperplasia; \uparrow IL-10 levels and \downarrow lipid peroxidation in	
	rat		the prefrontal cortex	

Table 1. Animal studies investigating the role of vitamin C in mood disorders

Depression	Mouse	0.1-1 mg/kg, orally by 21 days	↑ Antidepressant-like effect (↓ immobility time in tail	(Moretti et		
			suspension test); ↑ PKB (Akt) phosphorylation in	al. 2015b)		
			cerebral cortex; \downarrow p38 MAPK phosphorylation			
Depression	Inflammation (TNF-	Pretreatment 0.1-10 mg/kg,	mg/kg, Prevention of TNF- α -induced depression; \uparrow synergic			
	α)-induced	orally	antidepressant-like effect with classical	<i>al.</i> 2015a)		
	depression mouse		antidepressants; 1 p38 MAPK phosphorylation in			
			hippocampus and cerebral cortex; ↑ ERK1			
			phosphorylation in the hippocampus			
Depression	Chronic	A single dose of 0.1 mg/kg	kg \downarrow Depressive-like behavior (\downarrow immobility time in ta			
	unpredictable stress-	with ketamine, orally	suspension test)	al. 2019)		
	induced depression					
	mouse					
Anxiety	Mouse	1, 3 and 10 mg/kg, orally	↑ Anxiolytic-like effect (↑ total time spent in the open	(Fraga et al.		
			arms of elevated plus maze and in the center of the	2018)		
			open field test; \downarrow rearing responses; \uparrow latency to			
			grooming; \downarrow rostral grooming; \uparrow total time in light			
			area in the light/dark preference test)			
Anxiety	Mouse	Acute or repeated 250 mg/kg,	\uparrow Anxiolytic-like effect (\downarrow the number of marbles	(de Almeida		
		intraperitoneally up to 14 days	4 days buried in the marble burying test)			

Anxiety	Mouse	100 mg/kg, intraperitoneally	↑ Anxiolytic-like effect (↑ time spent in the light	(Walia,		
			compartment on light/dark box paradigm and in the	Garg, and		
			open arm of elevated plus maze test;	Garg 2019)		
Anxiety	Aluminum chloride-	100 mg/kg daily for 15 days	\downarrow Anxiety behavior (\uparrow time spent in the open arm of	(Olajide et		
	induced AD rat		elevated plus maze)	al. 2017)		
Anxiety	Rat	100 mg/kg, orally for 3 weeks	100 mg/kg, orally for 3 weeks Abolished Monosodium glutamate-induced anxiety (†			
			time spent in the open arm of elevated plus maze)	et al. 2010)		
Anxiety	Prenatal exposure of	500 mg/kg three-times	Abolished chrysotile asbestos-induced anxiolytic-like	(Raeis-		
	chrysotile asbestos	repeated intraperitoneal $effects; \downarrow lipid peroxidation in the hippocampus$		Abdollahi et		
	to rat	injections with chrysotile		al. 2019)		
		asbestos				
Anxiety	Methylmercury-	Pretreatment 2 mg/g,	Abolished methylmercury-induced anxiolytic-like	(Puty et al.		
	induced anxiolytic	intraperitoneally	effects (improvement in light/dark preference test; \uparrow	2014)		
	zebrafish		extracellular serotonin level)			
Schizophrenia	Rat	1 mM of vitamin C incubation	↓ Antipsychotics-induced formation of reactive	(Heiser et al.		
		with antipsychotics	oxygen species in the whole blood of rats	2010)		
		(haloperidol, clozapine and				
		olanzapine)				

S6K1, S6 kinase beta-1; TNF- α ; tumor necrosis factor α ; IL-6; interleukin 6; IL-10, interleukin 10; PKB, protein kinase B; p38 MAPK, p38 mitogen-activated protein kinases; ERK, extracellular signal-regulated kinases.

Mood	Population	Study design	Main findings	References
Depression	Patients ($n = 322$; ≥ 65 y)	Cross-sectional study	↑ Higher depressive symptoms in patients	(Gariballa
			with plasma vitamin C concentrations of less	2014)
			than 11 μ mol/L compared to those with ≥ 11	
			µmol/L	
Depression	Adolescent girls ($n = 849$;	Cross-sectional study	\downarrow High vitamin C intake was associated with	(Kim et al.
	12-18 y)		\uparrow low depression levels	2015)
Depression	Controls and unipolar	Case-control study	\downarrow Lower serum vitamin C concentration in	(Bajpai et al.
	depression patients ($n =$		patients compared to controls	2014)
	100)			
Depression	Controls and depression	Case-control study	↓ Lower vitamin C intake in MDD patients	(Prohan et
	patients ($n = 60$)		compared to controls	al. 2014)
Depression	Depression patients ($n =$	A randomized, double-blind,	\downarrow Lower depressive symptoms in vitamin C	(Amr et al.
	24)	placebo-controlled trial;	supplementation group compared to the	2013)
		fluoxetine plus 1000 mg/day of	placebo group	
		vitamin C or placebo for 6		
		months		
Depression	MDD patients ($n = 43$)	A randomized, double-blind,	No effect on depression compared to the	(Sahraian,

Table 2. Clinical studies investigating the role of vitamin C in mood states

		placebo-controlled trial:	placebo groups	Ghanizadeh.
		citalopram plus vitamin C or	L	and
		mlaasha far 9 waaka		Vozomojni
		placebo for 8 weeks		Kazemenni
				2015)
Depression	Diabetic patients $(n = 45)$	A randomized, single-blind,	No effect on depression compared to the	(Mazloom,
		placebo-controlled trial; 1000	vitamin E or placebo group	Ekramzadeh
		mg/day of vitamin C, 400		, and Hejazi
		IU/day of vitamin E, or placebo		2013)
		for 6 weeks		
Depression	Healthy adults $(n = 81)$	A randomized, double-blind,	No effect on depression compared to the	(Brody
		placebo-controlled trial; 3000	placebo group	2002)
		mg/day of vitamin C or placebo		
		for 14 days		
Anxiety	Controls and patients with	Case-control study	\downarrow Lower serum vitamin C concentrations in	(Gautam et
	GAD and depression ($n =$		patients compared to controls	al. 2012)
	80; 20-60 y)			
Anxiety	High school students ($n =$	A randomized, double-blind,	\downarrow Lower anxiety levels (\downarrow scores in Beck	(de Oliveira
	42)	placebo-controlled trial; 500	Anxiety Inventory) compared to the placebo	et al. 2015)
		mg/day of vitamin C or placebo	group.	
Anxiety	Diabetic patients $(n = 45)$	A randomized, single-blind,	\downarrow Lower anxiety levels in the vitamin C	(Mazloom,

		placebo-controlled trial; 1000	supplementation group (\downarrow scores in	Ekramzadeh	
		mg/day of vitamin C or 400	Depression Anxiety Stress Scales) compared	, and Hejazi	
		IU/day of vitamin E or placebo	to other groups	2013)	
		for 6 weeks			
Schizophrenia	Controls and schizophrenia	Case-control study	No difference between cases and controls in	(Young et	
	patients $(n = 34)$		plasma vitamin C concentrations	al. 2007)	
Schizophrenia	Schizophrenia patients ($n =$	Intervention study; antioxidant	\downarrow Reduction in symptoms of schizophrenia (\downarrow	(Sivrioglu et	
	17)	complex (1000 mg/day of	scores in Brief Psychiatric Rating Scale, Scale	al. 2007)	
		vitamin C, 1000 mg/day of	for the Assessment of Negative Symptoms,		
		omega-3 fatty acids and 400	Simpson Angus Scale, and Barnes Akathisia		
		IU/day of vitamin E) for 16	Rating Scale) after the intervention		
		weeks			
Psychological	Healthy men ($n = 139, 18$ -	Cross-sectional study	↑ High plasma vitamin C concentrations were	(Pullar et al.	
distress	35 y)		associated with \downarrow low psychological distress	2018)	
			(↓ scores in Profile of Mood States)		
Psychological	Acutely hospitalized	A randomized, double-blind,	\downarrow 34% reduction in psychological distress (\downarrow	(M. Zhang	
distress	patients $(n = 55)$	active-control trial; 1000	scores in Profile of Mood States) compared to	et al. 2011)	
		mg/day of vitamin C or 2000	baseline		
		IU/day of vitamin D for 10 days			
Psychological	Acutely hospitalized	A randomized, double-blind,	\downarrow Reduction in psychological distress (\downarrow	(Wang et al.	

distress	patients $(n = 46)$	active-control trial; 1000	scores in Profile of Mood States) compared to	2013)
		mg/day of vitamin C or 5000	the vitamin D supplementation group	
		IU/day of vitamin D for a mean		
		of 8-day		
Psychological	Healthy men ($n = 215, 30$ -	A randomized, double-blind,	\downarrow Lower stress levels (\downarrow scores in Perceived	(Kennedy et
distress	55 y)	placebo-controlled trial; multi-	Stress Scale) at the endpoint compared to the	al. 2010)
		vitamin/mineral supplement	placebo group	
		(Berocca [®]) with B-complex,		
		vitamin C (500 mg) and		
		minerals or placebo for 33-day		
Psychological	Healthy adults ($n = 167$,	A placebo-controlled trial;	\downarrow Reduction in psychological distress (\downarrow	(Conner et
distress	18-35 y)	kiwifruit, 250 mg/day of vitamin	scores in Profile of Mood States) compared to	al. 2020)
		C, or placebo; cross-over; 4-	the placebo group.	
		week intervention and 2-week		
		wash-out		
Psychological	Healthy adults ($n = 108$,	A randomized, double-blind,	↓ Lower subjective stress responses to acute	(Brody et al.
distress	20-40 y)	placebo-controlled trial; 3000	psychological stress induced by public	2002)
		mg of vitamin C or placebo for	speaking and mental arithmetic compared to	
		14 days	the placebo group.	

MDD, major depressive disorder. GAD, generalized anxiety disorder.

4. Recommended dietary allowance and toxicity of vitamin C

The recommended dietary allowance is defined as the dietary intake level that is sufficient to meet the nutrient requirement of nearly all healthy individuals (Krinsky et al. 2000). The average requirement of vitamin C for Korean adults is estimated at 75 mg/day, which is the amount that can maintain a nearly saturated level of vitamin C in white blood cells with little urinary excretion. Accordingly, the recommended intake of vitamin C was calculated as 100 mg/day for Korean adults considering the individual coefficient of variation of 10%. Recently, the German, Austrian, and Swiss nutrition societies have revised the reference values for the intake of vitamin C as 110 mg/day for men and 95 mg/day for women to compensate for metabolic losses of vitamin C and ensure a fasting plasma ascorbate concentration of 50 µmol/L. Additionally, Frei et al have suggested 200 mg/day as the optimal vitamin C intake to maximize the health benefits of vitamin C and minimize the risk of adverse health effects (Frei, Birlouez-Aragon, and Lykkesfeldt 2012). The Tolerable Upper Intake Level (UL) indicates the maximum daily nutrient intake without the risk of adverse health effects for nearly all individuals. For vitamin C, the UL for adults is usually set at 2 g/day. A number of clinical trials have evaluated the safety of vitamin C intake in excess of recommended dietary allowance. They have not provided a pattern of evidence to support concerns about safety other than intermittent gastrointestinal upset or mild diarrhea. Gastrointestinal disturbances, such as nausea, abdominal cramps, and diarrhea, are the most common side effects of high vitamin C intake (Hoffer 1973). Some studies have reported gastrointestinal effects, such as diarrhea and transient colic, at doses of 3 to 4 g/day in healthy adults (Cameron and Campbell 1974). In another study evaluating the adverse effects of ascorbic acid supplementation at 1, 5, and 10 g for 5 days in healthy adults, diarrhea was reported in 2 of 15 subjects at 10 g/day (Wandzilak et al. 1994). Another risk of high-dose vitamin C intake is increased oxalate excretion and kidney stone formation. However, no clinical significance in urinary oxalate excretion was observed in most of epidemiological studies involving healthy subjects with 3-10 g/day of ascorbic acid consumption for at least 2 years (Tsao and Salimi 1984). Another possible side effect of high vitamin C intake is increased iron absorption, leading to iron overload. However, the literature suggests that vitamin C intake does not increase iron absorption beyond recommended levels. In healthy adults, iron stores were not increased after 2 g/day of vitamin C intake for up to 20 months (Cook et al. 1984). These findings suggest that vitamin C does not induce excessive iron absorption in healthy individuals. Ascorbate can act as a pro-oxidant by reducing iron and copper ions, which induce hydroxyl radical production through the Fenton reaction (Buettner and Jurkiewicz 1996). Combining ascorbic acid with unbound iron can promote lipid peroxidation in vitro (Laudicina and Marnett 1990). However, in vivo iron usually cannot perform these catalytic reactions because it binds to proteins such as transferrin and ferritin. Moreover, epidemiological studies show that high-dose vitamin C intake did not affect the levels of oxidative damage in healthy adults and is not associated with an increased risk of oxidative stress-related diseases, such as heart disease (Berger et al. 1997). Taken together, the evidence from clinical trials concludes that even high doses of vitamin C, up to 2000 mg per day, are safe for most adults.

5. Assessment of human vitamin C status

Vitamin C concentrations in plasma or serum

Physiological absorption and body storage of vitamin C can be evaluated using plasma and serum levels (Dehghan et al. 2007; Mitmesser et al. 2016). The blood vitamin C concentrations are directly correlated with usual dietary intake of vitamin C (Dehghan et al. 2007; Brubacher, Moser, and Jordan 2000). In particular, the fasting plasma or serum concentration of ascorbic acid indicates total body pool levels and relatively long-term vitamin C intake (Sebastian J Padayatty and Levine 2016). Therefore, fasting plasma or serum vitamin C concentrations are most frequently used to provide a criterion for vitamin C status assessment. In general, scurvy, a vitamin C deficiency disease, is clinically manifest at circulating vitamin C concentrations less than 11 µmol/L (Plevin and Galletly 2020; Hodges et al. 1969). According to several depletion-repletion studies, plasma vitamin C concentrations increase in a sigmoidal curve when vitamin C intake increases (Basu 1982; Sauberlich 1975; Irwin and Hutchins 1976). When 60 to 100 mg/day of vitamin C is administered to vitamin C-depleted healthy subjects, plasma concentrations show a steep rise to values of approximately 50 µmol/L (Basu 1982; Levine et al. 2001; Levine et al. 1996). With intakes of more than 100 mg of vitamin C, plasma concentrations of vitamin C increase to about 70-80 µmol/L with a progressive flattening, which is maintained by chronic vitamin C intakes of at least 200 mg/day (Levine et al. 1996; Carr et al. 2016).

Vitamin C concentrations in circulating cells

Vitamin C concentrations in blood cells, such as neutrophils, monocytes, platelets and lymphocytes, are indicative of dietary intake of vitamin C (Graumlich *et al.* 1997). In particular, the leukocyte vitamin C concentration is considered an indicator of tissue storage of ascorbic acid. Vitamin C is actively transported to leukocytes by the SVCT and is 25- and 80-fold more concentrated in neutrophils and lymphocytes, respectively, than in plasma (Jacob, Planalto, and Agee 1992). In nonsmoking adults, the circulating cellular ascorbate concentration is almost saturated at vitamin C intakes of approximately 100 mg/day. Neutrophils, monocytes, platelets and lymphocytes are saturated with vitamin C at concentrations of approximately 1300, 3000, 3500, and 3500-4000 µmol/L, respectively (Levine *et al.* 1996; Levine *et al.* 2001). Measurement of ascorbic acid in leukocytes is less common in clinical practice because it requires a large volume of blood and the measurements vary depending on the number of cells.

Urinary excretion of vitamin C

Urinary ascorbic acid levels may reflect recent dietary intakes of vitamin C (Levine *et al.* 2001). When ingested more than 1 g/day, vitamin C is mainly excreted in the urine in an unmetabolized form. Some of the absorbed vitamin C are metabolized into oxalic acid, threonic acid, and L-xylose, which are primarily excreted in the urine. When 100 mg/day of vitamin C is consumed, approximately 25% of the vitamin C intake is excreted in the urine (Levine *et al.* 1996; EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products and Allergies 2013). Urinary excretion of ascorbate increases sharply when the plasma vitamin C concentration reaches above around 50 µmol/L, which suggests near-saturation of body pools (Friedman, Sherry, and Ralli 1940; Kallner, Hartmann, and Hornig 1979; Graumlich *et al.* 1997).

6. Optimal vitamin C status in humans

When humans have steady vitamin C intake of 50 mg twice a day, fasting plasma vitamin C concentrations are approximately 45-56 µmol/L, and neutrophil and lymphocyte vitamin C concentrations are 1250 µmol/L and 3100 µmol/L, respectively (Sebastian J Padayatty and Levine 2016). In vitro cellular systems, plasma ascorbate concentrations at 50 µmol/L have been shown to effectively inhibit LDL oxidation (Jialal, Vega, and Grundy 1990). In addition, the antioxidant activity of vitamin C, which inhibits superoxide production by activated human neutrophils and macrophages, increases as the extracellular ascorbate concentration increases from 28 to 284 μ mol/L, with the greatest rise at the concentration range from 28 to 57 µmol/L (Anderson and Lukey 1987). Further, neutralization of hypochlorous acid, a strong oxidant produced by activated phagocytic leukocytes, increases proportionally with increasing ascorbic acid concentrations at plasma concentrations of 22 to 85 µmol/L (Halliwell, Wasil, and Grootveld 1987). European Food Safety Authority has determined the average requirement of dietary vitamin C based on the quantity that allows fasting plasma concentrations of ascorbate at around 50 µmol/L considering metabolic vitamin C losses and maintenance of an adequate body pool (EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products and Allergies 2013). Furthermore, the risks of coronary heart disease, stroke, cardiovascular disease, total cancer, and mortality showed a 24-30% reduction in the relative risk when the concentration of vitamin C increased to 50 µmol/L (Aune et al. 2018). Hence, a fasting serum or plasma vitamin C concentration of 50 umol/L or greater is generally considered optimal vitamin C status in saturating body pools and optimizing health status.

7. Factors associated with vitamin C status

Demographic factors

Men generally have lower vitamin C status and higher prevalence of deficiency than women (McCall *et al.* 2019). This is in part a result of the volume-dilution effect due to the higher fat-free mass in men (Jungert and Neuhäuser-Berthold 2015). Older adults appear to have an increased need for vitamin C than younger subjects due to lower intestinal absorption of vitamin C (Davies *et al.* 1984). A previous meta-analysis supported the increased requirement of vitamin C in the elderly by estimating that the corresponding value of plasma concentrations for a vitamin C intake of 60 mg/day was lower in older adults compared to younger adults (Brubacher, Moser, and Jordan 2000). However, other studies have suggested that the elderly do not show a higher prevalence of vitamin C intake is adequate (Wrieden *et al.* 2000; Newton *et al.* 1983). It has been suggested that low vitamin C intake and comorbidities that increase vitamin C loss from the body contribute to a high prevalence of vitamin C deficiency in elderly people (Salehi *et al.* 2010).

Lifestyle factors

Vitamin C status in the body is primarily determined by dietary intake of vitamin C (Carr and Rowe 2020). Plasma vitamin C concentrations increase in a sigmoidal curve when vitamin C intake increases (Basu 1982; Sauberlich 1975; Irwin and Hutchins 1976). People who take vitamin C-containing supplements have higher average blood levels and a lower prevalence of deficiency than those who do not

take supplements (Carr and Rowe 2020). Epidemiological studies frequently have reported that vitamin C deficiency is prevalent among young adults, even in industrialized countries (L. Cahill, Corey, and El-Sohemy 2009; Schleicher et al. 2009). The poor vitamin C status in the young can be attributed to their lifestyle factors such as smoking, excessive drinking, and unhealthy eating habits that fail to provide a fresh and balanced diet that is rich in vitamin C. In addition, smokers have lower plasma levels of vitamin C than non-smokers with same dietary intake of vitamin C. The metabolic turnover of ascorbate in smokers is estimated about 35 mg/day greater than in nonsmokers, which is attributed to increased oxidative stress and other metabolic differences (Kallner, Hartmann, and Hornig 1979). In the Multinational Monitoring of Trends and Determinants in Cardiovascular Disease cohort, 36% of male smokers and 23% of female smokers showed vitamin C deficiency (Wrieden et al. 2000). In addition, people who have vigorous physical activities also show increased vitamin C utilization in the body because vitamin C is critical for fat metabolism that yields energy (Carr and Rowe 2020; EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products and Allergies 2013).

Single nucleotide polymorphism

Several recent studies of human genetic variation provide new evidence for regulating vitamin C homeostasis. In particular, interest in single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), the most common genetic variation in humans, is growing. Polymorphisms in the gene encoding the sodium-dependent vitamin C transport protein are strongly associated with circulating ascorbic acid levels and have the potential to affect the vitamin C status of tissues (Michels, Hagen, and Frei 2013). Notably, more than 150 SNPs have been identified at the gene locus of solute

carrier family 23 member 1 (SLC23A1), many of which have yet to be thoroughly investigated in large populations to determine global allele frequencies. Five SNPs at the SLC23A1 gene locus were investigated at least twice in a large cohort (Amir Shaghaghi et al. 2014; de Jong et al. 2014; Timpson et al. 2010; Duell et al. 2013; L.E. Cahill and El-Sohemy 2009; Ravindran et al. 2019), and their phenotypic effects are summarized in Table 3. The British Women's Heart and Health Study (BWHHS), which involved more than 3,000 British women, found that rs33972313, rs10063949, and rs6596473 were significantly correlated with circulating vitamin C concentrations (Timpson et al. 2010). Among them, rs33972313 was found to lower blood vitamin C levels by 4.15 per minor allele, which was repeated in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC) Norfolk cohort. In addition, a meta-analysis of five large cohorts, including BWHHS and EPIC-Norfolk, has shown that the rs33972313-minor allele effect of reducing the blood vitamin C concentration remains valid. Conversely, rs10063949 and rs6596473 were found to increase circulating vitamin C concentrations in people carrying the minor allele. Additionally, in a German cohort, the rs6596473-minor allele increased the risk of aggressive periodontitis by 26% (de Jong et al. 2014). However, there was no significant correlation between rs6596473 and the risk of Crohn's disease in a Canadian cohort (Amir Shaghaghi et al. 2014). On the other hand, people with rs10063949-major allele were found to show the 2.5-fold increased risk of Crohn's disease in the same cohort. Despite increasing reports in Western populations, SNP studies in Asians have not been sufficiently conducted to establish the global minor allele and genotype frequencies of SNPs present at the SLC23A1 gene locus, and there are few investigations of the relationship between SNPs and vitamin C-related health outcomes.

Table 3. Phenotypic effects of SNPs in the gene encoding SVCT1 protein in humans

SNP ID	Location on chr5	Global MAF	Allele	Phenotypic effects	References
rs6596473	139374887	0.4899	C/G/A	$2.86 \ \mu M \uparrow$ in circulating vitamin C per minor allele in a British cohort; $1.01 \ \mu M \uparrow$ in plasma vitamin C per minor allele in a Norfolk cohort; 1.26 times risk \uparrow per minor allele in aggressive periodontitis in a German cohort; No association with Crohn's disease risks in a Canadian cohort; No association with gastric cancer risks in a European cohort; No association with cataract risks in an Indian cohort	(Amir Shaghaghi <i>et al.</i> 2014; Timpson <i>et al.</i> 2010; de Jong <i>et al.</i> 2014; Duell <i>et al.</i> 2013; Ravindran <i>et al.</i> 2019)
rs33972313	139379813	0.03581	G/A	4.15 μ M \downarrow in circulating vitamin C per minor allele in a British cohort; 8.31 μ M \downarrow in circulating vitamin C per minor allele in a Norfolk cohort; 5.98 μ M \downarrow in circulating vitamin C per minor allele in a meta-analysis of five cohorts; 2.16 times risk \uparrow per minor allele in cortical cataract in an Indian cohort; No association with Crohn's disease risks in a Canadian cohort; No association with gastric cancer risks in a European cohort	(Timpson et al. 2010; Amir Shaghaghi et al. 2014; Duell et al. 2013)
rs10063949	139383837	0.4421	A/G	 1.91 µM ↑ in circulating vitamin C per minor allele in a British cohort; 2.5 times risk ↑ in Crohn's disease per major allele in a Canadian cohort; No association with plasma vitamin C in a Norfolk cohort. 	(Timpson <i>et al.</i> 2010; Amir Shaghaghi <i>et al.</i> 2014)
rs11950646	139378785	0.4027	A/G	$0.14~\mu M\downarrow$ in plasma vitamin C per minor allele in a European cohort; No association with gastric cancer risks in a European cohort	(L.E. Cahill and El-Sohemy 2009; Duell <i>et al.</i> 2013)
rs4257763	139378470	0.4059	G/A	Highest serum vitamin C levels in homozygous minor allele in non- smoking Caucasian cohort	(L.E. Cahill and El-Sohemy 2009)

SNP, single nucleotide polymorphism; chr, chromosome; MAF, minor allele frequency.

8. Vitamins and gut microbiota

In recent years, it has become evident that gut microbiota plays a vital role in maintaining human health and pathogenesis of various diseases, including neuropsychiatric disorders (Carding et al. 2015). In particular, there is growing interest in the effects of nutrient intake and supplementation on the gut microbiome and related health outcomes (Berding et al. 2021). Several recent epidemiological studies have reported that an imbalance in the gut microbiota and vitamin deficiencies are closely related, which consequently, may directly impact the host's health (Hibberd et al. 2017). For example, in a cross-sectional study that included pregnant women, vitamin D intake was inversely correlated with the alpha diversity of the gut microbiota. In addition, the relative abundance of Proteobacteria, known to induce proinflammatory responses, positively correlated with vitamin D and retinol intake while inversely correlated with vitamin E intake. Further, those with higher vitamin E and fiber intakes had lower relative abundances of Sutterella, which is implicated with autism (Mandal et al. 2016). Another cross-sectional study has observed that lower dietary niacin intake was associated with reduced alpha diversity and the abundance of Bacteroidetes in the obese population (Fangmann et al. 2018). A previous intervention study has reported that supplementation of 100 mg of riboflavin for 14 days increased the number of Faecalibacterium prausnitzii and Roseburia in the feces while decreasing Escherichia coli (L. Liu et al. 2022). A few epidemiological studies have been published, but most previous studies have primarily focused on vitamin D or B-complex supplementation. Therefore, the effects of vitamin C on the gut microbiota have been rarely investigated.

9. Limitations of previous studies

Overall, much remains to be done in order to clarify the relation between vitamin C status and mental health. Furthermore, few clinical trials have been conducted to provide convincing evidence to support or exclude the efficacy of vitamin C for psychological functioning. Available evidence is primarily from investigations of patients with psychiatric disorders. It is pertinent to note that suboptimal vitamin C status rarely presents with distinct clinical symptoms, which makes it liable to overlook the physiological benefits that healthy people can have after reaching optimal vitamin C levels. In addition, most previous intervention trials did not use reliable biomarkers to assess subjects' vitamin C status, which was replaced by an assessment of dietary vitamin C intake. Moreover, the attainment of optimal vitamin C status was not confirmed at the endpoint. Hence, currently available results from clinical trials are highly contradictory. Therefore, to obtain reliable findings that overcome these limitations, it is necessary to define clear criteria for vitamin C status at baseline and track changes in subjects' vitamin C status during the intervention. Collectively, well-designed intervention trials that can explain the causal relationship between vitamin C and mental function in a healthy population are highly needed.

36

III. Study 1

Association between vitamin C status and mental vitality: a cross-sectional study

Parts of this work have been published (Sim et al. 2022).

1. Introduction

Vitamin C, also known as ascorbic acid, is an indispensable nutrient that participates in several biological reactions in the body (Du, Cullen, and Buettner 2012). Moreover, since humans have lost the ability to synthesize ascorbic acid from glucose, sufficient vitamin C must be supplied from dietary food (Nishikimi and Yagi 1991). Thus, dietary intake of vitamin C is considered critical in determining the vitamin C status of the body, such as blood concentrations (Dehghan et al. 2007). However, the response of the vitamin C concentration to a given intake of dietary vitamin C can vary depending on the non-dietary factors, including sex, age, smoking, vigorous physical exercise, and oxidative stressinvolving diseases (Carr and Rowe 2020). More recently, emerging evidence has suggested that a single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP), the common genetic variant found in at least one percent of the population, may also explain the interindividual variation of vitamin C status (Michels, Hagen, and Frei 2013). In particular, the SNP at the solute carrier family 23 member 1 (SLC23A1) gene locus is attracting attention because SLC23A1 encodes the sodium-dependent vitamin C transporter 1 (SVCT1) (Sotiriou et al. 2002). SVCT1 is primarily responsible for regulating intestinal absorption and renal reabsorption of vitamin C, ultimately contributing to whole-body vitamin C homeostasis in humans. Several previous cross-sectional studies have shown that blood vitamin C levels significantly differed depending on the genotype of a certain SNP at the SLC23A1 gene locus, such as rs10063949, rs33972313, and rs6596473 (Amir Shaghaghi et al. 2014; de Jong et al. 2014; Timpson et al. 2010). In addition, rs4257763 SNP, also found in the SLC23A1 gene, have been reported to modify the strength of the correlation between dietary vitamin C and serum ascorbic acid in healthy populations (L.E. Cahill and El-Sohemy 2009). However, relevant studies are still insufficient to establish the solid evidence in respect to the effect of SNPs in the gene encoding SLC23A1 on vitamin C status in humans. Moreover, the association between the common genetic variation at the SLC23A1 gene locus and vitamin C levels has not been investigated in the Korean population.

The concentration of vitamin C is under strict homeostatic regulation throughout the body, and the distribution of vitamin C is generally thought to reflect the functional requirements of corresponding tissues (Sebastian J Padayatty and Levine 2016). Given that the brain has the highest concentration of vitamin C than any other organ, it is clear that vitamin C plays a pivotal role in maintaining brain function and homeostasis (Fiona E Harrison and May 2009b). To be more specific, preclinical experiments have shown that vitamin C in the brain acts as a major antioxidant and free radical scavenger and is involved in the recycling of other brain antioxidants such as vitamin E (Ballaz and Rebec 2019; Ishaq et al. 2013). Vitamin C also participates in neuron maturation, myelin formation, neurotransmitter synthesis, and neuronal signal transmission (Plevin and Galletly 2020; Moretti and Rodrigues 2022). Consistent with the *in vitro* results, animal models with vitamin C depletion or deficiency showed impairment of brain structure and function characterized by cerebral hemorrhage, neurodegeneration, mood disorder, or cognitive decline (Dixit et al. 2015). In addition, a few observations from human studies have suggested a relationship between suboptimal vitamin C status and mental function (Moretti, Fraga, and Rodrigues 2017). For example, it has been reported that individuals with lower plasma vitamin C concentrations had a worse cognitive performance (Pearson et al. 2017).

In addition to cognitive function, several clinical studies have linked poor vitamin C status with mood disorders, such as depression and anxiety (Moritz *et al.* 2020). However, the currently available evidence from human studies is still highly limited because ascorbic acid has been classically thought to be little related to mental health. Furthermore, previous results have mainly reported the association between severe vitamin C deficiency or depletion and clinical symptoms. Therefore, there has been little investigation on whether vitamin C status in healthy populations is also associated with brain functions such as vitality-related psychological domains.

In this context, the first aim of this study was to determine the association between suboptimal serum vitamin C status and a SNP at the SLC23A1 gene locus. The second aim was to determine the association between serum vitamin C concentrations and mental vitality and mood states in a healthy young population.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Participants

The sample size of the cross-sectional study was determined based on the calculation formula (Charan and Biswas 2013) with the prevalence of vitamin C deficiency in young adults previously reported (L. Cahill, Corey, and El-Sohemy 2009), a confidence level of 95%, and a margin of error of 5%. Participants were recruited from Seoul National University from June to August 2018. The inclusion criteria were as follows: young adults aged 20-39 with no acute or chronic disease such as hypertension, diabetes, cardiovascular disease, dyslipidemia, kidney disease, cancer, gastrointestinal disorders, and endocrine disorders. A total of 214 men and women were included in the cross-sectional study. This observational study was performed at the Department of Food and Nutrition at Seoul National University between June and August 2018, and was approved by the Institutional Review Board of Seoul National University (1806/002-009). The study was retrospectively registered at the Clinical Research Information Service on June 1st, 2020 (KCT0005074). All procedures were performed in accordance with the relevant guidelines and regulations. Written informed consent was provided by all participants prior to their inclusion in the study.

2.2. Measurement of general characteristics

All participants attended a laboratory measurement between 0800 and 1000 after a 12-hour fast, avoiding excessive exercise and alcohol consumption during the last 24 hours. General characteristics which might influence serum ascorbic acid concentrations were assessed. During the visit, participants' height (cm) and weight (kg) were measured using an automatic digital scale (BSM330; InBody Co., Ltd., Seoul, Korea). The precision of height and weight measurement was to the nearest 0.1 cm and 0.1 kg, respectively. Body mass index (BMI) was calculated as weight divided by the square of height (kg/m²). Data on smoking status, alcohol consumption, and vitamin C supplement use were collected using a questionnaire. The International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ) determined a score of physical activity in metabolic equivalent of task (MET) minutes per week (P.H. Lee, Macfarlane, et al. 2011). Before visiting the laboratory, all participants were provided with a standardized two-day dietary recording sheet and reference photographs indicating the portion size. They were encouraged to record immediately after consuming food and beverages with reference to the standardized photographs to minimize errors. During the visit, a trained researcher reviewed completeness and accuracy of the dietary records. Vitamin C intake from food sources was estimated from the dietary records using CAN-Pro web ver. 5.0 (Korean Nutrition Society, Republic of Korea).

2.3. Measurement of serum vitamin C concentrations

When participants were at rest, overnight fasting venous blood samples from the antecubital fossa were collected into 4-mL serum separator tubes (BD Biosciences, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA). To minimize the oxidation of vitamin C, whole blood samples were protected from light and centrifuged immediately. The separated sera were immediately transported to a deep freezer of -80°C. Within 24 hours after blood collection, high-performance liquid chromatography was performed using a reagent kit to measure serum vitamin C concentrations (Chromsystems Reagent Kit for the Vitamin C Measurement in sera; Chromsystems Instruments & Chemicals GmbH, Gräfelfing, Germany). In brief, 0.1 mL of serum samples were mixed with 0.1 mL of Precipitation Solution in a reaction vial. After incubation for 10 min at 4°C, the samples were centrifuged for 5 min at 9,000 g. 20 μ L of supernatant was injected into the HPLC system with a UV-vis detector set at 245 nm wavelength. The column temperature was kept at 20-25°C, with a flow rate of 1.5 mL/min. Injection-to-injection time was 5 min. The assay used a single-point calibrator at 1.53 mg/dL. The intra-assay coefficient of variation (CV) was less than 2.5%, and the inter-assay CV was less than 5%.

2.4. SNP selection and genotyping

Two SNPs, s6596473 and rs33972313 at the SCL23A1 gene locus, were selected for genotyping based on a previous meta-analysis reporting that they had a minorallele effect on circulating ascorbic acid concentrations (Timpson et al. 2010). The venous blood samples from the antecubital fossa were collected into EDTA-coated tubes (BD Biosciences, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA). Buffy coats were isolated from whole blood samples by centrifugation and immediately stored at -80°C. Genomic DNA was isolated from a buffy coat using the QIAamp[®] DNA Blood Kit (QIAGEN, Hilden, Germany). Briefly, 200 µL of buffy coat sample was added with 20 µL of QIAGEN Protease and 200 µL of Buffer AL. The mixture was incubated at 56°C for 10 min. After the incubation, 200 µL of 96 % of ethanol was added to the mixture. The mixture was pipetted onto the QIAamp Mini spin column and centrifuged at 14,000 rpm for 1 min. 500 µL of Buffer AW1 was pipetted onto the QIAamp Mini spin column combined with a 2 mL collection tube. The tube was centrifuged at 14,000 rpm for 1 min. 500 µL of Buffer AW2 was pipetted onto the QIAamp Mini spin column in another 2 mL collection tube. The tube was centrifuged at 14,000 rpm for 3 min. Finally, 200 μ L of Buffer AE was pipetted onto the QIAamp Mini spin column in a 1.5 mL microcentrifuge tube. After incubation at room temperature for 1 min, the tube was centrifuged at 14,000 rpm for 1 min to elute the DNA. Extracted DNA was quantified by spectrophotometer NanoDrop ND-2000 (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). Genotyping was performed using TaqMan[®] SNP Genotyping Assay, Human for rs6596473 and rs33972313 (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA) and TaqMan® Genotyping Master Mix (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA).

Locus-specific TaqMan primers and allele-specific TaqMan probes were predesigned and supplied in an assay kit. Sequences of the primers and probes used in the genotyping is shown in **Table 1**. TaqMan[®] probes specific to allele 1 had FAMTM as fluorescent reporter dye at the 5' end, and those specific to allele 2 had VICTM as fluorescent reporter dye at the 5' end. Each had a non-fluorescent quencher with a TaqMan[®] minor groove binder at the 3' end. Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) was performed on 7500 Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA) in 25 µL of reaction volume. A total of 13.75 µL per well of the reaction mixture containing 12.5 µL of 2X TaqMan® Master Mix and 1.25 µL of 20X Assay Working Stock was prepared for each PCR. The reaction mixture was pipetted to each well of the reaction plate. The plate was sealed with adhesive film and then centrifuged briefly to bring the reaction mixture to the bottom of the well and eliminate air bubbles. After removing the adhesive film from the plate, 11.25 μ L of genome DNA (20 ng) or control was added to each well. All the reactions consisted of one cycle at 95°C for 10 min followed by 40 cycles of amplification at 92°C for 15s and 60°C for 1 min.

Table 1	. Seq	uences o	f the	primers	and	probes	used	in	the	genotypin	g
---------	-------	----------	-------	---------	-----	--------	------	----	-----	-----------	---

SNP ID	Position	Alleles	TaqMan primers	TaqMan probes
rs6596473	chr5:138738475	C/G	F: CATTGAGGCTGCCACTTGAC R: TGCCCATTTAGAGGATGCTAGACT	FAM: CCTATGGGCCTGAGACA VIC: CCTATGGGCGTGAGACA
rs33972313	chr5:138743401	A/G	F: AGACCTCCAGTGCCTTCAGT R: GCAGCACGTCTGTCAAGGT	FAM: TCATGACCGTGTGGGCT VIC: CATCATGACCATGTGGCT

SNP, single nucleotide polymorphism; chr, chromosome; F, forward primer; R, reverse primer.

2.5. Assessment of vitality and mood states

Participants' vitality and mood states were assessed using self-reported questionnaires. The levels of attention and fatigue were measured using two items each from the Checklist Individual Strength, which is a widely used multidimensional instrument (Worm-Smeitink *et al.* 2017) ("*When I am doing something, I can keep my thoughts on it*" and "*I find it easy to concentrate*" for attention assessment, with Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.79$; "*I feel tired*" and "*I tired easily*" for fatigue assessment, with Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.84$). Each item was scored with a seven-point Likert scale anchored by "*strongly disagree*" and "*strongly agree*," with higher scores indicating higher levels of fatigue and attention.

The levels of stress, depression, and positive and negative affect were assessed with Stress Response Inventory (SRI), Beck's Depression Inventory (BDI), and Positive Affect and Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS), respectively. The SRI was designed to assess seven stress factors: tension, aggression, somatization, anger, depression, fatigue, and frustration (Koh *et al.* 2001). It consists of 22 items concerning psychological, physiological, and behavioral stress responses (e.g., "*My body trembles*," "*My voice is louder than it usually is*," and "*I have lost my self-confident*"). Each item was scored with a five-point Likert scale anchored by "*strongly disagree*" to "*strongly agree*." The BDI is one of the most widely used instruments for determining the severity of depression; it consists of a 21-question multiple-choice inventory relating to symptoms of depression, such as hopelessness, irritability, feelings of guilt or being punished, fatigue, weight loss, and lack of interest in sex (Beck and Beamesderfer 1974). Each of the 21 questions contained four statements ordered according to the severity of symptoms (none to

very severe) and each statement was assigned a numeric value from zero to three (e.g., "I do not feel sad," "I feel sad," "I am sad all the time and I can't snap out of It," and "I am so sad and unhappy that I can't stand it"). The PANAS is a reliable and well-validated instrument that consists of two 10-item scales to measure both positive (e.g., "attentive," "active," "excited," and "determined") and negative ("hostile," "irritable," "ashamed," and "guilty") affect (Watson, Clark, and Tellegen 1988). Each item is rated on a five-point scale anchored by "no at all" to "very much."

2.6. Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS version 28.0.1.1 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Depending on the general stratification of vitamin C levels based on saturation of body pools and risk of deficiency, participants were categorized as either optimal (\geq 50 µmol/L) or suboptimal (\leq 50 µmol/L) groups. According to the IPAQ criteria, physical activity was categorized as low, moderate, or high. Estimated dietary intake of vitamin C was categorized into tertiles (the lowest, middle, and the highest). Alcohol consumption frequency was categorized as \leq one day a month, 2-4 days a month, and \geq two days a week. Depending on the normality of the data, an unpaired *t*-test or Mann-Whitney U test was performed to compare age, height, weight, BMI, and dietary intake of vitamin C between the optimal and suboptimal groups. A Pearson's Chi-square or Fisher's exact test was performed to compare the sex ratio, the percentage of current smokers and vitamin C supplement users, and the levels of physical activity and dietary intake of vitamin C between the optimal and suboptimal groups. Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium was tested by comparing genotype distributions using a Pearson's Chisquare test. Binary logistic analysis was performed to model the probability of suboptimal serum vitamin C status ($<50 \mu mol/L$) depending on the independent variables, including general characteristics and the genotype of rs6596473. Two different models were used to analyze the association of suboptimal vitamin C concentrations with the genotype of rs6596437: Model 1 did not include covariates, whereas Model 2 included sex, dietary intake of vitamin C, and vitamin C supplement use as covariates. The logistic models calculated the odds ratio (OR) and 95% confidence interval (CI). Simple or multiple linear regression analysis

was performed to assess the association of serum vitamin C concentrations with vitality levels or mood states, using each vitality and mood score as a dependent variable and serum vitamin C concentration as an independent variable. Model 1 did not include covariates, whereas Model 2 included sex, age, BMI, physical activity level, current smoking status, and alcohol use as covariates. From linear regression, the unstandardized coefficient (B), 95% confidence interval of B, standard error (SE), and standardized coefficient (β) were calculated. *P* < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.
3. Results

3.1. General characteristics of participants

A total of 250 volunteers were assessed for eligibility based on the inclusion criteria (Figure 1). Of the 235 eligible subjects, 214 finally participated in the cross-sectional study, excluding 21 who withdrew their participation (Figure 1). Serum concentrations of vitamin C were analyzed in 214 participants. In the entire population, the concentrations of serum vitamin C ranged from 16.6 to 164.2 μ mol/L, with mean and median values of 56.0 μ mol/L and 55.5 μ mol/L, respectively (Figure 2). Serum vitamin C concentrations in male participants ranged from 17.6 to 164.2 μ mol/L, with mean and median values of 51.4 μ mol/L and 48.5 µmol/L, respectively (Figure 2). For female participants, serum vitamin C concentrations ranged from 16.6 to 119.82 µmol/L, and mean and median values were 58.9 µmol/L and 58.6 µmol/L, respectively (Figure 2). According to their serum vitamin C concentrations, participants were categorized as either optimal $(\geq 50 \mu mol/L)$ or suboptimal (<50 $\mu mol/L)$ groups (Table 2). Among 214 participants (84 men and 130 women; 26.2 ± 3.9 y), those whose serum concentrations of vitamin C were below 50 μ mol/L accounted for 38% (n = 81) (Table 2). The sex ratio was significantly different between the optimal and suboptimal groups (p < 0.001) (Table 2). The men in the suboptimal group had a lower height than those in the optimal group (p = 0.003), while no significant difference in height was found between the optimal and suboptimal groups in the female participants (Table 2). The percentage of vitamin C supplement users was higher in the optimal group compared to the suboptimal group (optimal, 41%;

suboptimal, 17%) (p < 0.001) (Table 2). Vitamin C intake from foods was higher in the optimal group than the suboptimal group (optimal, 71.2 ± 63.1; suboptimal, 51.3 ± 32.6) (p = 0.018) (Table 2). No significant difference was found between the two groups in the rest of the general characteristics, including age, weight, BMI, current smoking status, physical activity level, and alcohol consumption frequency (Table 2).



Figure 1. Flowchart of participation throughout the course of the crosssectional study



Figure 2. Distribution of serum vitamin C concentrations in the cross-sectional population

Fasting blood samples were collected from 214 healthy men (n = 84) and women (n = 130) in the resting state. The serum concentrations of vitamin C were determined using high-performance liquid chromatography within 24 hours of the blood collection. The width of the plot is proportional to the density of the values. The median values are shown in solid blue lines. Lower and upper dashed lines indicate the first and the third quartiles, respectively.

Characteristics	Total	Optimal	Suboptimal	Р
Subject, <i>n</i> (%)	214 (100)	133 (62.1)	81 (37.9)	-
Sex, <i>n</i> (%)				< 0.001
Men	84 (39.3)	40 (30.1)	44 (54.3)	
Women	130 (60.7)	93 (69.9)	37 (45.7)	
Age, y	26.2 ± 3.9	26.3 ± 3.7	26.1 (5.1)	0.724
Height, cm	167.0 ± 7.5	166.5 ± 7.6	167.7 (7.3)	0.260
Men	174.1 ± 5.3	175.8 ± 4.8	172.5 ± 5.4	0.003
Women	162.4 ± 4.6	162.5 ± 4.5	162.0 ± 4.9	0.571
Weight, kg	62.5 ± 13.0	61.3 ± 12.0	64.3 ± 14.4	0.177
Men	73.9 ± 11.5	74.4 ± 10.5	73.3 ± 12.5	0.666
Women	55.1 ± 7.5	55.7 ± 7.4	53.5 ± 7.6	0.129
BMI, kg/m ²	22.2 ± 3.3	22.0 ± 2.9	22.6 ± 3.8	0.274
Men	24.3 ± 3.3	24.0 ± 2.7	24.6 ± 3.8	0.430
Women	20.9 ± 2.4	21.1 ± 2.5	20.3 ± 2.3	0.116
Current smoking, <i>n</i> (%)				0.690
No	200 (93.5)	125 (94.0)	75 (92.6)	
Yes	14 (6.5)	8 (6.0)	6 (7.4)	
Physical activity, MET-min/wk	2218 (1706)	2269 (1711)	2133 (1705)	0.572
Low, <i>n</i> (%)	32 (15.0)	21 (15.8)	11 (13.6)	
Moderate, <i>n</i> (%)	114 (53.3)	70 (52.6)	44 (54.3)	0.907
High, <i>n</i> (%)	68 (31.8)	42 (31.6)	26 (32.1)	
Alcohol consumption, n (%)				0.527
≤ 1 day a month	76 (35.5)	51 (38.3)	25 (30.9)	

Table 2. General characteristics of participants

55

2-4 days a month	100 (46.7)	60 (45.1)	40 (49.4)	
≥2 days a week	38 (17.8)	22 (16.5)	16 (19.8)	
Dietary intake of vitamin C, mg/d	63.7 ± 54.4	71.2 ± 63.1	51.3 ± 32.6	0.018
Highest, <i>n</i> (%)	71 (33.2)	29 (34.5)	42 (32.3)	
Middle, <i>n</i> (%)	71 (33.2)	31 (36.9)	40 (30.8)	0.425
Lowest, <i>n</i> (%)	72 (33.6)	24 (28.6)	48 (36.9)	
Vitamin C supplement use, <i>n</i> (%)				< 0.001
No	146 (68.2)	79 (59.4)	67 (82.7)	
Yes	68 (31.8)	54 (40.6)	14 (17.3)	

Values are mean \pm SD or *n* (%). *P*-values were obtained by comparing the optimal and suboptimal groups using an unpaired *t*-test, Mann-Whitney *U* test, Pearson's Chi-square test, or Fisher's exact test. Dietary intake of vitamin C was categorized into tertiles: the lowest tertile (10.5–36.4 mg/d), the middle tertile (36.5–61.4 mg/d), and the highest tertile (61.5–368.32 mg/d). Optimal, participants whose serum vitamin C concentrations were \geq 50 µmol/L; Suboptimal, participants whose serum vitamin C concentrations were \leq 50 µmol/L; MET; metabolic equivalent of task.

3.2. Genotype frequency of SNP rs6596473 at the SLC23A1 gene locus and distribution of serum vitamin C concentrations in each genotype

Two hundred fourteen participants were genotyped for the single nucleotide polymorphisms of rs6596473 and rs33972313 at the SCL23A1 gene locus. For rs33972313, the minor allele frequency was determined at less than 1%; therefore, rs33972313 was excluded from the subsequent analyses.

For rs6596473, the major and minor alleles were C and G, respectively, and the minor G-allele frequency was 0.3461 in the entire population (**Table 3**). The rs6596473-CG heterozygotes accounted for 50% (n = 108) of the total study population, the highest among the three genotypes (Table 3). In the entire population, rs6596473-CC and -GG homozygotes accounted for 37% (n = 79) and 13% (n = 27), respectively (Table 3). In the optimal group, the minor allele frequency was 0.3421, comparable to that of the entire population (Table 3). In the optimal group, CC, CG, and GG for rs6596473 accounted for 41% (n = 54), 50% (n = 67), and 9% (n = 12), respectively (Table 3); and the genotype distributions of the optimal group did not significantly differ from those of the entire population (data not shown). In the suboptimal group, the MAF was 0.4383, which was relatively higher than that of the optimal group. However, the suboptimal group showed no significant difference in genotype distributions compared to the optimal group (data not shown), showing the highest frequency in CG and the lowest frequency in GG (Table 3).

In the rs6596473-CC homozygous carriers, serum vitamin C concentrations ranged from 29.8 to 89.1 µmol/L, with a median of 56.4 µmol/L (Figure 3). Individuals with rs6596473-CG heterozygotes had serum vitamin C

concentrations ranging from 16.6 to 119.8 μ mol/L, with a median of 55.2 μ mol/L (Figure 3). Serum concentrations of vitamin C in the rs6596473-GG homozygous carriers ranged from 29.5 to 164.2 μ mol/L (Figure 3). The median vitamin C concentration in the GG group was 48.8 μ mol/L, which was relatively lower than that in the genotypes CC and CG (Figure 3). However, there was no significant difference in serum concentrations of vitamin C between genotypes (data not shown).

rs6596473	Total (<i>n</i> = 214)	Optimal (<i>n</i> = 133)	Suboptimal (n = 81)
MAF	0.3461	0.3421	0.4383
Genotype, n (%)			
CC	79 (36.9)	54 (40.6)	25 (30.9)
CG	108 (50.5)	67 (50.4)	41 (50.6)
GG	27 (12.6)	12 (9.0)	15 (18.5)

Table 3. Minor allele and genotype frequencies of SNP rs6596473 at theSLC23A1 gene locus

Each frequency of the rs6596473 genotype is presented as n (%). SNP, single nucleotide polymorphism; SLC23A1, solute carrier family 23 member 1; Optimal, participants whose serum vitamin C concentrations were \geq 50 µmol/L; Suboptimal, participants whose serum vitamin C concentrations were <50 µmol/L; MAF, minor allele frequency (G-allele is a minor allele for rs6596473).





Violin plots show the distribution of serum concentrations of vitamin C according to the genotype of rs6596473 at the gene encoding a solute carrier family 23 member 1 (CC, n = 79; CG, n = 108; GG, n = 27). The width of the plot is proportional to the density of the values. The median values are shown in solid lines. Lower and upper dashed lines indicate the first and the third quartiles, respectively.

3.3. Association between suboptimal serum vitamin C concentrations and SNP rs6596473 at the SLC23A1 gene locus

First, the association between suboptimal serum vitamin C concentrations and general characteristics was analyzed (Table 4). As expected, dietary intake of vitamin C and vitamin C supplement use were strongly associated with suboptimal serum vitamin C concentrations. More specifically, individuals with dietary intake of vitamin C in the middle tertile were 2.9 times more likely to have suboptimal serum vitamin C concentrations than those with dietary intake of vitamin C in the highest tertile (OR, 2.888; 95% CI, 1.291–6.461; p = 0.010) (Table 4). Individuals with dietary intake of vitamin C in the lowest tertile were four times more likely to have suboptimal serum vitamin C concentrations than those with dietary intake of vitamin C in the highest tertile (OR, 3.957; 95% CI, 1.773–8.832; p < 0.001) (Table 4). In addition, individuals who did not use vitamin C-containing supplements were 4.4 times more likely to have suboptimal serum vitamin C concentrations than those who regularly took vitamin C supplements (OR, 4.443; 95% CI, 2.099–9.405; p < 0.001) (Table 4). Also, men were 4.6 times more likely than women to have suboptimal concentrations of vitamin C in their sera (OR, 4.586; 95% CI, 2.101–10.01; p < 0.001) (Table 4). Suboptimal serum vitamin C status was not associated with age, BMI, physical activity level, alcohol consumption frequency, and current smoking status (Table 4).

Next, binary logistic analysis was performed to determine whether SNP rs6596473 at the SLC23A1 gene locus was associated with suboptimal serum vitamin C concentrations (**Table 5**). In Model 1, no adjustment was performed. In Model 2, variables in sex, dietary intake of vitamin C, and vitamin C supplement use were designated as covariates based on the finding that they were associated with suboptimal serum vitamin C status. Individuals with rs6596473 heterozygotes (CG) did not differ in the possibility to have suboptimal serum vitamin C concentrations compared to those with rs6596473-major allele homozygotes (CC) both in the unadjusted and adjusted models (Table 5). On the other hand, rs6596473-minor allele homozygous carriers (GG) were 2.7 times more likely to have suboptimal serum vitamin C concentrations than rs6596473-major allele homozygous carriers (CC) in the unadjusted model (Model 1: OR, 2.700; 95% CI, 1.103–6.608; p = 0.030) (Table 5). After adjusting for sex, vitamin C intake levels, and vitamin C supplement use, individuals with rs6596473-GG homozygotes were 2.8 times more likely to have suboptimal serum vitamin C concentrations than those with rs6596473-CC homozygotes (Model 2: OR, 2.780; 95% CI, 1.058– 7.304; p = 0.038) (Table 5).

Variable (unit or no.)	OR	95% CI	Р
Sex			
Women (130)	Reference	Reference	-
Men (84)	4.586	2.101, 10.01	< 0.001
Age (y)	0.986	0.909, 1.071	0.746
BMI (kg/m²)	0.958	0.857, 1.071	0.455
Physical activity			
Low (32)	Reference	Reference	-
Moderate (114)	1.398	0.554, 3.526	0.478
High (68)	1.001	0.359, 2.793	0.997
Alcohol consumption			
≤ 1 day a month (76)	Reference	Reference	-
2-4 days a month (100)	0.984	0.478, 2.026	0.965
\geq 2 days a week (38)	1.063	0.428, 2.645	0.895
Current smoking			
No (200)	Reference	Reference	-
Yes (14)	0.722	0.202, 2.577	0.616
Dietary intake of vitamin C			
Highest (71)	Reference	Reference	-
Middle (71)	2.888	1.291, 6.461	0.010
Lowest (72)	3.957	1.773, 8.832	< 0.001
Vitamin C supplement			
Users (68)	Reference	Reference	-
Nonusers (146)	4.443	2.099, 9.405	< 0.001

 Table 4. Association between suboptimal serum vitamin C concentrations and general characteristics

Statistics were obtained by analyzing the association between suboptimal serum vitamin C concentrations (<50 μ mol/L) and general characteristics using binary logistic analysis. OR, odds ratio; CI, confidence interval.

rs6596473 genotype (<i>n</i>)	OR	95% CI	Р
Model 1			
CC (79)	Reference	Reference	-
CG (108)	1.322	0.716, 2.440	0.372
GG (27)	2.700	1.103, 6.608	0.030
Model 2			
CC (79)	Reference	Reference	-
CG (108)	1.205	0.613, 2.370	0.589
GG (27)	2.780	1.058, 7.304	0.038

Table 5. Association between suboptimal serum vitamin C concentrations andSNP rs6596473 at the SLC23A1 gene locus

Statistics were obtained by analyzing the association between suboptimal serum vitamin C concentrations (<50 µmol/L) and SNP rs6596473 at the SLC23A1 gene locus using binary logistic analysis. Model 1, unadjusted; Model 2, adjusted for sex (men or women), dietary intake of vitamin C (the lowest, middle, or the highest), and vitamin C supplement use (no or yes); SNP, single nucleotide polymorphism; SLC23A1, solute carrier family 23 member 1; OR, odds ratio; and CI, confidence interval.

3.4. Association between serum vitamin C concentrations and mental vitality and mood states

Next, linear regression analysis was performed to determine whether serum concentrations of vitamin C were associated with vitality levels and mood states. Vitality indicators included attention and fatigue. Mood indicators included stress, depression, and positive and negative affect. Simple or multiple linear regression analysis was performed using each score of vitality and mood states as a dependent variable and the serum vitamin C concentration and other covariates as an independent variable. No covariates were included in Model 1, whereas in Model 2, sex, age, BMI, current smoking status, physical activity, and alcohol use were included as covariates. As shown in Table 6, fatigue scores were not significantly correlated with serum concentrations of vitamin C both in the unadjusted and adjusted models. On the other hand, simple linear regression analysis showed that attention scores directly correlated with serum concentrations of vitamin C (Model 1, $\beta = 0.161$ and p = 0.018) (Table 6). Furthermore, after adjusting for the covariates, including sex, age, BMI, current smoking status, physical activity, and alcohol use, serum vitamin C concentrations showed a more robust association with attention scores (Model 2, $\beta = 0.203$ and p = 0.003) (Table 6). On the other hand, as shown in Table 7, stress, depression, and positive and negative affect scores were not associated with serum vitamin C concentrations in both the unadjusted and adjusted models.

	B (SE)	95% CI	β	t	Р
Model 1					
Attention	0.018 (0.008)	0.003, 0.034	0.161	2.374	0.018
Fatigue	-0.008 (0.008)	-0.025, 0.009	-0.066	-0.959	0.339
Model 2					
Attention	0.023 (0.008)	0.008, 0.039	0.203	2.919	0.003
Fatigue	-0.013 (0.009)	-0.030, 0.004	-0.104	-1.502	0.135
Statistics were	obtained using simp	ole or multiple lin	ear regress	ion analys	is. Model
1, unadjusted;	Model 2, adjusted 1	for sex, age (y), I	BMI (kg/m	²), current	smoking
status (no or y	es), physical activit	y level (<median< td=""><td>or ≥media</td><td>n), and alo</td><td>cohol use</td></median<>	or ≥media	n), and alo	cohol use
(no or yes); I	3, unstandardized c	oefficient; SE, st	tandard er	ror; CI, co	onfidence
interval for B;	β , standardized coef	ficient. Adapted f	rom previo	ous publica	tion (Sim
<i>et al.</i> 2022).					

 Table 6. Association between serum vitamin C concentrations and mental

 vitality

	B (SE)	95% CI	β	t	Р
Model 1					
Stress	-0.098 (0.104)	-0.303, 0.108	-0.064	-0.937	0.350
Depression	-0.012 (0.025)	-0.062, 0.037	-0.034	-0.493	0.622
Positive affect	0.035 (0.030)	-0.023, 0.094	0.082	1.193	0.234
Negative affect	-0.018 (0.026)	-0.070, 0.034	-0.048	-0.693	0.489
Model 2					
Stress	-0.187 (0.102)	-0.388, 0.015	-0.123	-1.827	0.069
Depression	-0.041 (0.024)	-0.088, 0.006	-0.112	-1.718	0.087
Positive affect	0.049 (0.029)	-0.009, 0.107	0.114	1.681	0.094
Negative affect	-0.035 (0.026)	-0.086, 0.017	-0.091	-1.326	0.186
Statistics were obtained using simple or multiple linear regression analysis. Model					
1, unadjusted; Model 2, adjusted for sex, age (y), BMI (kg/m ²), current smoking					
status (no or yes), physical activity level (<median alcohol="" and="" or="" td="" use<="" ≥median),=""></median>					
no or yes); B, unstandardized coefficient; SE, standard error; CI, confidence					
interval for B; β , standardized coefficient. Adapted from previous publication (Sim					
et al. 2022).					

Table 7. Association between serum vitamin C concentrations and mood states

4. Discussion

The objectives of this study were to determine *1*) whether a common polymorphism in the vitamin C transporter gene was associated suboptimal serum vitamin C status and *2*) whether vitamin C status was associated with mental vitality levels and mood states. Therefore, serum ascorbic acid concentrations, genotypes of rs6596473 at the SLC23A1 gene locus, mental vitality levels, and mood states were determined in 214 healthy men and women. As a result, homozygous minor allele carriers (GG) for SNP rs6596473 were three times more likely to have suboptimal serum vitamin C concentrations than minor allele non-carriers (CC). Furthermore, analysis of the association between serum vitamin C concentrations and psychological functions showed that serum vitamin C concentrations were directly correlated with attention scores.

Fasting serum vitamin C concentration, a reliable biomarker for whole body pool of vitamin C, is generally stratified to be suboptimal (10-50 µmol/L) or optimal (\geq 50 µmol/L) based on saturation of vitamin C body pools and risk of deficiency ("New Reference Values for Vitamin C Intake" 2015). In addition, plasma vitamin C concentrations above 50 µmol/L have been reported to benefit cardiovascular disease and cancer risk (Gey *et al.* 1993). Thus, participants' vitamin C status was evaluated as either optimal (\geq 50 µmol/L) or suboptimal (<50 µmol/L) according to their serum vitamin C concentrations. Surprisingly, nearly 40% of the current population was assessed to have suboptimal concentrations of vitamin C in their sera. A large body of epidemiological studies has shown that various demographic factors and health aspects modify human vitamin C status, for example, sex, age, BMI, disease states, smoking, and alcohol consumption (Carr and Rowe 2020; Granger and Eck 2018). Specifically, lower plasma ascorbic acid levels are observed in males, the elderly, the obese, people with infection, smokers, and alcoholics, which is attributed to reduced intakes of vitamin C-providing foods, a high level of oxidative stress in the body, or comorbidities. Likewise, dietary intake of vitamin C was a significant determinant of serum vitamin C concentrations in the current study. Notably, men were 4.6 times more likely to have suboptimal serum vitamin C status than women. Consistent with this, previous epidemiological studies have frequently reported that lower vitamin C serum/plasma concentrations and higher rates of deficiency are observed in men compared to women (Langlois, Cooper, and Colapinto 2016; Travica *et al.* 2020). The high fat-free mass in men, which exhibits a volumetric dilution effect, partly explains why men have lower levels of vitamin C than women (Jungert and Neuhäuser-Berthold 2015).

Meanwhile, there is growing evidence that specific single nucleotide polymorphisms in the cellular vitamin C transporter genes may also explain the inter-individual variation in vitamin C status (Niforou, Konstantinidou, and Naska 2020). SVCT1 is highly expressed in kidney and intestinal epithelial cells and actively transports most vitamin C in those organs (Sotiriou *et al.* 2002). Maintaining optimal systemic vitamin C levels depends on the balance between intestinal absorption and renal reabsorption; therefore, genetic variation in the SLC23A1 gene, such as rs6596473, may affect circulating ascorbic acid concentrations and related health outcomes. A few other studies have investigated the effects of rs6596473 on vitamin C status or disease risks (Duell *et al.* 2013; Amir Shaghaghi *et al.* 2014; de Jong *et al.* 2014). Contrary to the current results, the minor allele of rs6596473 is allele-C in other previous genotyping studies (Timpson et al. 2010). Furthermore, the phenotypic effects of rs6596473 remains equivocal. In the multi-ethnocultural nonsmoking individuals aged 20-29, rs6596473 showed no effect on serum ascorbic acid concentrations (L.E. Cahill and El-Sohemy 2009). Similarly, Senthilkumari et al. did not observe a significant difference in plasma vitamin C concentrations between rs6596473 genotypes in the order Indian population (Senthilkumari et al. 2014). However, in the same cohort, minor allele effects on the decrease in aqueous humor ascorbate concentrations were observed; the per allele difference in aqueous humor vitamin C for rs6596473 was -217 µmol/L. In addition, rs6596473-minor allele homozygotes had an 80% increased risk for follicular lymphoma in a large San Francisco cohort, but no association was observed in a German population (Skibola et al. 2008). A metaanalysis of five large cohorts has reported a minor allele effect of rs6596473 on plasma vitamin C concentrations, which showed a mean decrease of 1.01 mmol/L per minor C-allele (Timpson et al. 2010). In the current healthy population aged 20-39, rs6596473-GG homozygotes were three times more likely to have suboptimal vitamin C status than CC homozygotes with no minor allele. Furthermore, this association remained valid despite controlling sex and dietary intake of vitamin C-containing foods or supplements. These observations, for the first time, support the possibility that polymorphisms in the vitamin C transporter gene may explain inter-individual variation in vitamin C status in the Korean population; however, this should be further verified in subsequent epidemiologic studies. Understanding of various nutritional responses depending on genetic variation is expected to contribute to future strategies for personalized nutrition.

Early clinical studies reported increased fatigue, mood disturbances, and decreased arousal and motivation in people with scurvy (Hirschmann and Raugi

1999). The biological functions that vitamin C performs in the brain and alterations in the psychological state caused by vitamin C depletion allow us to infer the association between vitamin C status in the body and mental function in the brain. Indeed, this association has been partly supported by several studies reporting that increased consumption of vegetables and fruits was associated with favorable mental outcomes, such as low levels of fatigue and a feeling of positive emotion (Mujcic and J. Oswald 2016; Rooney, McKinley, and Woodside 2013; Głąbska *et al.* 2020). However, the beneficial effects of fruits and vegetables can be attributed to a variety of nutritional components in addition to vitamin C; therefore, it is necessary to investigate the sole contribution of vitamin C on vitality and mood states.

In this study, there was a clear trend that serum vitamin C concentrations were directly correlated with positive affect scores and were inversely correlated to fatigue and negative mood levels, including stress and depression. Consistent with this, a previous cross-sectional study conducted in young male tertiary students showed inverse correlations of plasma vitamin C concentrations with depression, anger, and confusion levels (Pullar *et al.* 2018). Moreover, individuals with optimal vitamin C concentrations greater than 50 μ mol/L had lower total mood disturbance scores than those with vitamin C levels of less than 50 μ mol/L. Another cohort study of Italian women aged 60-90 found that lower serum ascorbic acid concentrations (<23 μ mol/L) were associated with higher depression levels (Marazzi *et al.* 1990). The current study showed for the first time that serum concentrations of vitamin C were positively correlated with subjective attention levels in a healthy young population. Moreover, such a significant association was stable despite adjusting for various demographic and lifestyle confounding factors,

such as sex, age, BMI, smoking, alcohol consumption, and physical activity. Notably, serum vitamin C concentration was the most vital determinant of the attention level than other confounding variables. Similarly, in a previous cohort that included cognitively intact individuals, there was a direct correlation between plasma vitamin C concentrations and cognitive performance on tasks requiring attentional focus (Travica et al. 2019). Attention is a cognitive process that makes it possible to respond continuously to relevant stimuli (Lindsay 2020). This psychological ability is crucial in a wide range of daily activities, including professional activities at work. As a result, optimal vitamin C status is supposed to enhance a variety of desirable mental functions, such as work performance and goal achievement, thereby promoting enthusiasm for life. A possible explanation for the link between vitamin C status and mental vitality is that vitamin C has a modulating effect on neurotransmitters and hormones that enhance alertness, vigilance, and motivational salience (F. E. Harrison and May 2009a). For example, vitamin C stimulates the production of acetylcholine and increases the number of acetylcholine receptors in the brain (Kuo et al. 1979; Rebec and Pierce 1994). In particular, it is well established that vitamin C is essential for the catecholamine system (Ballaz and Rebec 2019). Specifically, vitamin C contributes to the conversion of dopamine to norepinephrine in the brain by mediating the catalytic action of dopamine- β -hydroxylase (Daubner, Le, and Wang 2011). Furthermore, dopamine signaling increases vitamin C release and bioavailability in neurons (Pierce and Rebec 1990). Besides, plausible biological mechanisms by which vitamin C affects brain functions are well established in the literature. However, most have been obtained from in vitro and animal experiments; therefore, the

question still remains as to whether it is possible to translate preclinical results into humans.

In conclusion, these findings support that genetic variations in the vitamin C transporter gene can be a significant determinant of vitamin C status in a Korean population. Further, vitamin C status is associated with mental vitality, especially attentional ability. Therefore, elaborately designed clinical trials are highly required to elucidate the causal effect of vitamin C on mental vitality in pursuit of extensive investigations of underlying mechanisms.

IV. Study 2

Effects of vitamin C supplementation on mental vitality: a randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled trial

Parts of this work have been published (Sim et al. 2022).

1. Introduction

Vitamin C (L-ascorbic acid or ascorbate) is an essential nutrient that functions as an indispensable electron donor and a cofactor in various biological reactions, such as collagen hydroxylation, carnitine biosynthesis, and tyrosine metabolism (Njus *et al.* 2020). Notably, vitamin C presents its highest concentrations in the brain, and animal model and *in vitro* studies have reported that vitamin C performs critical roles in brain functions (Fiona E Harrison and May 2009b). For example, vitamin C protects neurons from oxidative stress, induces differentiation and maturation of neurons, and regulates the synthesis or release of neuro-modulating factors, including serotonin, catecholamines, and glutamate (Figueroa-Méndez and Rivas-Arancibia 2015; Moretti and Rodrigues 2022). Accordingly, vitamin C is inferred to be essential for maintaining normal mental health.

Humans rely on dietary supply to obtain vitamin C due to the absence of a gene encoding L-gulonolactone oxidase, which is critical for vitamin C synthesis from glucose. Although a daily intake of one to two servings of citrus fruits or vegetables provides adequate amounts of vitamin C, previous reports have shown that suboptimal vitamin C status is prevalent among young adults, even in industrialized countries (L. Cahill, Corey, and El-Sohemy 2009; Langlois, Cooper, and Colapinto 2016; Schleicher *et al.* 2009). The poor vitamin C status in the young may be attributed to external factors such as smoking, excessive alcohol use, and unhealthy eating habits that fail to provide a balanced diet rich in vitamin C (McCall *et al.* 2019). Thus, even healthy young individuals can be at risk of suboptimal vitamin C status, which could disrupt brain function activity. However, compared to the elderly or patients, vitamin C status in the young is liable to be

considered unimportant.

Vitality is defined as a subjective feeling of energy and aliveness, which highlights the psychological aspects (Rozanski and Kubzansky 2005). Vitality decline is the earliest sign of scurvy, a clinical symptom of severe vitamin C deficiency; it manifests in fatigue, decreases in arousal and motivation, and cognitive impairment (Kinsman and Hood 1971). Feeling vital is a key component in healthy psychological functioning, such as self-regulation, work performance, and goal-seeking (Rozanski and Kubzansky 2005). Given that professional and social participation is highest among young people, it is necessary to investigate whether improvement of vitamin C status helps to promote their vitality and work performance. However, the link between vitamin C status and vitality-related psychological and cognitive functions at a young age is equivocal, and their causal relationship has rarely been examined.

The gut microbiota, a collection of intestinal bacteria, archaea, fungi, and viruses, is often referred to as the forgotten organ because gut microorganisms represent the most excellent density and abundance in the human body (Grice and Segre 2012). A growing body of evidence has shown that gut bacterial communities have the potential to sense and modify large amounts of chemical signals derived from the internal or external environment (Thursby and Juge 2017). It is now evident through a vast amount of research both on the animal and human gut microbiome that intestinal bacteria are vitally concerned with various physiological functions of the host, such as nutrient metabolism, immune responses, and disease pathology (Hou *et al.* 2022). Hence, it is unsurprising that maintaining a balance in the gut microbiota is a critical factor in determining health status in humans.

Considering the overarching influence of the gut bacterial communities on human health, the gut-microbiota-brain axis, bidirectional communication between the gut bacteria and the central nervous system, has been recently considered an essential concept for understanding the pathogenesis of mental disorders (Cryan et al. 2019). Disruptions in the gut-microbiota-brain axis are associated with various psychiatric symptoms, such as depression, anxiety, autism, and dementia (Dinan and Cryan 2017). Potential mechanisms by which the gut microbiota affects brain function include alterations in bacterial composition and metabolism, production of microbial metabolites, immune activation, and neuromodulation (de Vos et al. 2022; Makris et al. 2021). For example, it has been extensively reported that significant changes in the bacterial composition and consequent dysbiosis trigger a systemic inflammatory cascade and increase the likelihood that toxic bacterial fragments can reach the central nervous system (Tilg et al. 2020). Furthermore, a growing body of evidence points out that microbial-derived metabolites can remotely exert their effects on various host metabolic reactions, such as immune responses and neuromodulation (Rooks and Garrett 2016; Yang and Cong 2021; Cryan et al. 2019). In other words, multiple mechanisms likely act in concert to mediate the gut-microbiota-brain axis, thereby contributing to homeostasis of the gut, brain, and microbial communities.

Dietary vitamins are essential not only for human brain functions but also for the survival of the gut microbiota and their fundamental biological processes (Uebanso *et al.* 2020; LeBlanc *et al.* 2017). Because vitamins are fully absorbed in the proximal small intestine, dietary vitamins were not previously thought to affect the gut flora (Said 2011). However, there is an increasing observation in human studies that high doses of vitamins may escape complete absorption and reach the distal gut (Fangmann *et al.* 2018; Steinert *et al.* 2016). Furthermore, it has been reported that significant amounts of vitamins that reach the large intestine are taken up by non-vitamin-producing gut microbes, directly affecting the symbiotic relationship between the gut microbiota (Magnúsdóttir *et al.* 2015). Hence, growing attention is being paid to the impacts of vitamin administration on the gut-microbiota-brain axis to determine the efficacy of vitamins as adjuncts for the prevention and treatment of various mood disorders (Mörkl *et al.* 2018; Berding *et al.* 2021). However, most previous studies have primarily focused on vitamin D or B-complex supplementation; therefore, the effects of vitamin C on the gut-microbiota-brain axis are not fully understood.

The aim of this study was to determine the causal relationship between vitamin C status and mental vitality by assessing the effects of vitamin C supplementation on mental function using a randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled trial. Further, the underlying mechanisms by which vitamin C promotes mental vitality through the gut-microbiota-brain axis were investigated by assessing the changes in the gut bacterial community, proinflammatory cytokine, and neurotransmitter profiles.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Participants

Participants were recruited from September to October 2019 from Seoul National University. Men and women who met the following criteria volunteered for participation: 1) 20-39 years of age; 2) no medical history of acute or chronic diseases such as hypertension, diabetes, cardiovascular disease, dyslipidemia, kidney disease, cancer, gastrointestinal disorders, and endocrine disorders; and 3) no use of vitamin C-containing supplements within a month. Next, an assessment of serum vitamin C concentration was carried out to screen volunteers with suboptimal vitamin C status, which was defined as a blood concentration of less than 50 µmol/L. Eligible volunteers attended a screening visit between 0800 and 1000. During the screening, all participants completed anthropometric measurements (body height and weight), followed by blood sample collection. Height and weight were measured using the automatic scale (BSM330; InBody Co., Ltd., Seoul, Korea). Fasting venous blood samples from the antecubital fossa were collected into 4-mL serum separator tubes (BD Biosciences, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA) to determine the fasting vitamin C concentration. All measurements of vitamin C concentration were performed within 24 hours of the blood collection using a high-performance liquid chromatography kit (Chromsystems Instruments & Chemicals GmbH, Gräfelfing, Germany; intra-assay coefficient of variation [CV] <2.5%, inter-assay CV <5%) under the manufacturer's protocol.

The sample size of the intervention study was calculated as fifty based on the attention scores derived from the previous cross-sectional study with $\alpha = 0.05$

and a power of 80%. Finally, a total of 50 individuals (28 men and 22 women) who had shown a vitamin C concentration of less than 50 μ mol/L were included in the vitamin C supplementation trial.

This intervention study was conducted in the Department of Food and Nutrition at Seoul National University between September and December 2019, and was approved by the IRB of Seoul National University (1909/002-011) and was registered at the CRIS on September 4th, 2019 (KCT0004276). All steps were performed in accordance with the relevant guidelines and regulations. Written informed consent was obtained from all participants before their inclusion in the study.

2.2. Study design

This study was a four-week, randomized, double-blind, parallel, placebo-controlled trial. A total of 50 participants were randomly assigned to either a vitamin C supplementation group (500 mg of vitamin C twice a day for 4 weeks) (n = 25) or a placebo supplementation group (n = 25), and the random assignment was stratified by sex using a pseudo-random number generator (http://www.randomizer.org). All participants, experimental staff and investigators involved in the random assignment, measurement of outcomes, and data analysis were blinded to the allocation until all analyses were complete. Participants in both the vitamin C and placebo groups were advised to maintain their physical activities and usual diet, including fruits and vegetables, and to avoid consuming any other dietary products fortified with vitamin C. To monitor their dietary intake, participants were asked to complete a two-day dietary record at the baseline and the endpoint, respectively. The dietary intake was analyzed using CAN-Pro 5.0 (Web ver., Korean Nutrition Society, Korea).

A total of two visits were carried out: the day before the supplementation started (baseline; week 0) and the day after the supplementation was completed (endpoint; week four). All participants attended laboratory measurements during the morning hours (i.e., between 0800 and 1000) after a 12-hour fast, avoiding excessive exercise and alcohol consumption during the previous 24 hours. During each visit, all participants completed anthropometric measurements (body height and weight), vitality and mood assessment, and blood collection. Stroop test was performed only at the week 4 visit. Height and weight were measured using the automatic scale (BSM330; InBody Co., Ltd., Seoul, Korea). Data on smoking status and dietary supplement use were collected using a questionnaire, and physical activity was determined using the International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ). A schematic diagram of participants' schedules during each visit is shown in **Figure 1**.



Figure 1. Schematic diagram of participants' schedules during the visit

The schematic diagram depicts laboratory schedules at the (A) baseline (week 0) and (B) endpoint (week 4). Anthropometric measurements included body height and weight. Vitality and mood assessment consisted of measurements of fatigue, subjective attention, work engagement, self-control, stress, depression, positive and negative affect, and anxiety.

2.3. Intervention

The supplementation was carried out with 2 different drink conditions: *1)* 100 mL of the vitamin C drink contained 50 kcal of energy, 11 g of sugar, 1.2 mg of vitamin B₂, 30 mg of sodium, and 500 mg of vitamin C; and *2)* 100 mL of the placebo drink had the identical nutritional content as the vitamin C drink, except for the vitamin C (0 mg). Participants were provided with either a vitamin C drink or a placebo for four weeks. Each drink was packaged in a pouch of 100-mL, and participants were instructed to daily consume the two pouches with a four-hour interval to maximize the intestinal absorption of the vitamin C. The colors and flavors of the two types of drink were identical to blind the participants to their allocation. A label was attached to each pouch, but it included only the participant's code and the date of manufacturing. The participants were instructed to record their daily consumption of the drinks, and the records were reviewed weekly to check and encourage their compliance with the trial. All of the experimental drinks were produced and supplied by Kwang Dong Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.

2.4. Sample collection

Blood samples were collected during the participants' visits. Fasting venous blood samples from the antecubital fossa was collected into 8-mL BD Vacutainer[®] SST[™] II Advance Plus Blood Collection Tubes (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA, USA) and 4-mL EDTA-coated tubes in the resting state. Sera and buffy coats were separated from the whole blood samples via centrifugation for later biochemical analysis and single nucleotide polymorphism genotyping, respectively. Preparation of sera and buffy coats was performed without delay, and the separated samples were aliquoted into 1.5-mL ep tubes (Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany) and immediately stored at -80°C for later analysis. In addition, participants collected their stool samples prior to their visit. Fresh stools were collected in a sterilized plastic tube containing DNA stabilizing preservative reagent (Norgen Biotek, Thorold, ON, Canada) and delivered to the laboratory within two days of collection. Aliquots of 200 mg of stool samples were immediately stored at -80°C for later gut microbiota analysis.
2.5. Mental vitality assessment

2.5.1. Subjective mental vitality

Fatigue, subjective attention, work engagement (vigor, dedication and absorption), and self-control resources were assessed as indicators of vitality using validated self-reported questionnaires. Fatigue and subjective attention were measured using two items each from the Checklist Individual Strength, which allowed participants to rate the subjective belief regarding their fatigue and attentional ability (Vercoulen *et al.* 1994) ("*I feel tired*" and "*I tired easily*" for fatigue assessment, with Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.84$; "*When I am doing something, I can keep my thoughts on it*" and "*I find it easy to concentrate*" for attention assessment, with Cronbach's $\alpha =$ 0.79). Each item was scored with a seven-point Likert scale anchored by "*strongly disagree*" and "*strongly agree*," with higher scores indicating higher levels of fatigue and attention.

Work engagement and self-control were assessed using the Utrecht Work Engagement Scale and State Ego Depletion Scale, respectively. Work engagement is defined as a positive and fulfilling state of mind toward work, and it can also be applied to the academic activity of a student (Seppälä *et al.* 2009). The scale includes a total of 17 items categorized into 1 of 3 constituting aspects of work engagement: vigor, dedication, and absorption. Vigor is defined as a high level of energy and mental resilience while working, which contributes to being willing to work hard and investing perseverance in one's work even in the face of difficulties. Being dedicated in work means passion, inspiration, pride, and a spirit of challenge. Absorption is a state in which one feels that time goes by quickly and that it is not easy to get out of work by concentrating on work and having fun. The ability of self-control is a trait that can be depleted and replenished, which is associated with psychological well-being and better achievement at school or workplace (Tangney, Baumeister, and Boone 2004). In this study, five items of the State Ego Depletion Scale were used (e.g., *"I feel like my willpower is gone"*), and reverse-scored to assess self-control resources (Barnes, Miller, and Bostock 2017). All assessment was individually conducted in a separate and quiet room under the supervision of the investigator.

2.5.2. Cognitive performance

The Stroop color-word is a neuropsychological test to evaluate the ability to suppress cognitive interference that occurs when the processing of a specific stimulus interferes with the simultaneous processing of a second stimulus attribute, known as the Stroop effect (MacLeod 1991). The Stroop color-word test is extensively used to measure cognitive functions such as attention, cognitive flexibility, and information processing speed. A mental arithmetic test was conducted just before the Stroop test to assess sustained attention under cognitive fatigue and mental stress (Ushiyama *et al.* 1991). The arithmetic expression included two Arabic numerals and one operator, for example, "five figures + five figures," "five figures." A total of 20 questions were presented, and a maximum of one minute was given to calculate each question. Subsequently, a computer-assisted Stroop color-word test was performed based on a previous study (Zalonis *et al.* 2009). In an incongruent condition, the words were colored in one of four different colors of ink (blue, red, yellow, and green), and each word was not

colored in the respective color (e.g., the word BLUE was not colored in blue ink). Participants were asked to match the written color names of the words independently of the color of the ink by pressing the colored keys (blue, red, yellow, and green) as quickly and accurately as possible. The Stroop color-word test consisted of 128-word items in the four trials, which included 32 items each. Stroop test performance was assessed by calculating the sum or average reaction times for the correct responses out of the 128 items (Amato *et al.* 2006). All cognitive tests were programmed in the open-source software Psychopy2 (version 1.81, Peirce, 2007), and the correctness and reaction time of responses to the Stroop task were recorded by the program. Each participant completed the assessment under the supervision of a well-trained investigator in a separate and quiet room. After providing sufficient guidance on the cognitive assessment, the investigator did not intervene throughout the examination once it began. A schematic diagram of the cognitive test is shown in **Figure 2**.



Figure 2. Schematic illustration of the cognitive test

The Stroop color-word test was performed to measure cognitive functions including attention, cognitive flexibility, and information processing speed. A mental arithmetic test was conducted just before the Stroop test to induce cognitive fatigue and mental stress. (A) The arithmetic expression included two Arabic numerals and one operator, for example, "five figures + five figures," "five figures – five figures," "three figures × double figures," and "four figures ÷ three figures." A total of 20 questions were presented, and a maximum of one minute was given to calculate each question. (B) After completing the mental arithmetic tasks, Stroop color-word test was performed immediately. The words were colored in one of four different colors of ink (blue, red, yellow, and green), and each word was not colored in the respective color (e.g., the word BLUE was not colored in blue ink). Participants were asked to match the written color names of the words independently of the color of the ink by pressing the colored keys (blue, red, yellow, and green) as quickly and accurately as possible. The Stroop color-word

test consisted of 128-word items in the four trials, which included 32 items each. Stroop test performance was assessed by calculating the sum or average reaction times for the correct responses out of the 128 items.

2.6. Mood state assessment

The levels of stress, depression, positive and negative affect, and state anxiety were determined with Stress Response Inventory (SRI), Beck's Depression Inventory (BDI), Positive Affect and Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS), and State-Trait Anxiety Inventory-X-1 (STAI-X-1), respectively. The SRI was designed to assess seven stress factors: tension, aggression, somatization, anger, depression, fatigue, and frustration (Koh et al. 2001). It consists of 22 items concerning psychological, physiological, and behavioral stress responses (e.g., "My body trembles," "My voice is louder than it usually is," and "I have lost my self-confident"). Each item was scored with a five-point Likert scale anchored by "strongly disagree" to "strongly agree." The BDI is one of the most widely used instruments for determining the severity of depression; it consists of a 21-question multiple-choice inventory relating to symptoms of depression, such as hopelessness, irritability, feelings of guilt or being punished, fatigue, weight loss, and lack of interest in sex (Beck and Beamesderfer 1974). Each of the 21 questions includes four statements ordered according to the severity of the symptom (from absent to very severe) and each statement was assigned a numeric value from zero to three (e.g., "I do not feel sad," "I feel sad," "I am sad all the time and I can't snap out of It," and "I am so sad and unhappy that I can't stand it"). The PANAS is a reliable and wellvalidated instrument that consists of two 10-item scales to measure both positive (e.g., "attentive," "active," "excited," and "determined") and negative ("hostile," "irritable," "ashamed," and "guilty") affect (Watson, Clark, and Tellegen 1988). Each item is rated on a five-point scale anchored by "no at all" to "very much." State anxiety is defined as temporary conditions of fear, nervousness, discomfort,

and physiological activation of the autonomic nervous system (Julian 2011). State anxiety was assessed using the STAI-X-1 that consists of 20 items on a 4-point Likert Scale.

2.7. Gut microbiota analysis

Bacterial genomic DNA extraction

Total bacterial DNA was isolated from the stool specimens using the QIAamp® Fast DNA Stool Mini Kit (QIAGEN, Hilden, Germany) according to the kit protocol. Briefly, 200 mg of fecal material was homogenized with sterilized steel beads with a diameter of 5mm in ASL buffer using TissueLyser (QIAGEN, Hilden, Germany) at 30 Hz for 5 min. Then, the suspension was heated at 95°C to lyse gram-positive bacterial cells. After the incubation, purified DNA was eluted and quantified by spectrophotometer NanoDrop ND-2000 (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA).

16S rRNA gene amplification and sequencing

The V3-V4 regions of 16S ribosomal ribonucleic acid (rRNA), a marker gene of bacteria, was selectively amplified using polymerase chain reaction (PCR). In brief, PCR was performed using BioFACT[™] F-Star Taq DNA Polymerase (BioFACT[™], Seoul, Korea). In brief, 50 µL of PCR reaction mix contained 20 ng of DNA template, 5 µL of 10X taq buffer, 1 µL of 10mM dNTP mix, 2 µL of forward and reverse barcoded primers, and 0.25 µL of DNA polymerase. PCR reaction mix was amplified using a GeneAmp® PCR system 9700 (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA). The PCR program was set as follows: an initial hold at 94°C for 5 min, then 28 cycles of denaturation at 95°C for 30 s, annealing at 60°C for 30 s, and extension at 72°C for 30 s, followed by a final extension for 10 min at 72°C and holding at 4°C. The PCR product was confirmed using 1% agarose gel electrophoresis and visualized under a Gel Doc system

(BioRad, Hercules, CA, USA). The amplified products were purified with PureLink Quick Gel Extraction and PCR Purification Combo Kit (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) and quantified by the Qubit 2.0 fluorometer (Introvigen, Carlsbad, CA, USA). The size of the library was assessed by BioAnalyzer (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA, USA). Finally, the amplicons were sequenced using an Illumina MiSeq sequencing system (Illumina, San Diego, CA, USA).

Bioinformatic analysis of sequencing data

The sequencing data were analyzed using QIIME2 (version 2021.8). First, microbial sequences were denoised to remove the low-quality sequences and chimeras using the DADA2 plugin. Denoised sequences were clustered into Operational Taxonomic Units (OTUs). Then OUT representative sequences were aligned to the SILVA rRNA database (version 132) at 99% sequence identity with scikit-learn Naïve Bayes-based machine learning classifier. A phylogenetic tree was generated using MAFFT and FastTree method for diversity analysis. Alpha diversity, including Observed features, Faith's phylogenetic diversity, and the Shannon index, was estimated to evaluate the richness and evenness of individual microbial communities. Bray-Curtis dissimilarity, an indicator of beta diversity, was estimated to quantify the compositional dissimilarity of gut microbiota structure, and was compared between groups using permutational multivariate analysis of variance (PERMANOVA).

2.8. Serum biochemical analysis

2.8.1. Vitamin C

Fasting blood samples were collected from all participants at rest. To minimize the oxidation of vitamin C, whole blood samples were protected from light and centrifuged immediately. The separated serum was immediately transferred to a - 80°C freezer. Serum vitamin C concentration was measured within 24 hours after blood collection. High-performance liquid chromatography was performed using a Chromsystems Reagent Kit (Chromsystems Instruments & Chemicals GmbH, Gräfelfing, Germany) to determine vitamin C concentration in sera. Briefly, 0.1 mL of serum sample was mixed with 0.1 mL of precipitation solution in a reaction vial. After incubation at 4°C for 10 min, samples were centrifuged at 9,000 g for 5 min. Then, 20 μ L of supernatant was injected into an HPLC system with a UV-vis detector set at a wavelength of 245 nm. The column temperature was maintained at 20-25°C with a flow rate of 1.5 mL/min. The time from injection to injection was 5 minutes. The analysis used a single-point calibrator of 1.53 mg/dL. The intraanalysis coefficient of variation (CV) was less than 2.5%, and the inter-analysis CV was less than 5%.

2.8.2. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor

Serum concentrations of brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) were determined using solid-phase sandwich enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) with Human/Mouse BDNF DuoSet ELISA (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, Minnesota, USA). In brief, each well of a 96-well microplate was coated with 100

uL of Capture Antibody, which was diluted to the working concentration in PBS. The plate was sealed and incubated overnight at room temperature. After aspirating each well, the 96-well microplate was washed with Wash Buffer three times. Then, 300 µL of Reagent Diluent was added into each well, and incubation was carried out at room temperature for 1 h. After completing plate preparation, 100 µL of serum sample or standards in Reagent Diluent were added into each well of the 96well microplate. Next, the plate was covered with an adhesive strip and incubated at room temperature for 2 h, followed by three times the aspiration and wash step. Next, 100 µL of Detection Antibody in Reagent Diluent was pipetted into each well, and then the plate was incubated again. After completing the aspiration and wash step, 100 µL of the working dilution of Streptavidin-HRP was added into each well, and the plate was incubated for 20 min at room temperature with direct avoidance light, followed by the aspiration and wash step. Then, 50 µL of Substrate Solution was pipetted into each well, and incubation was performed for 20 min at room temperature, being protected from direct light. After the incubation, 50 μ L of Stop Solution was added into each well, followed by immediate determination of the optical density of each well using a microplate reader set to 450 nm.

2.8.3. Lipopolysaccharide-binding protein

For quantitative detection of lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-binding protein (LBP) in sera, a Human LBP Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay kit (Abcam, Waltham, MA, USA) was used based on standard sandwich ELISA technology. Briefly, 100 μ L of standard or serum sample was added to appropriate wells of a 96-well microplate, and incubation was carried out at 37°C for 90 min. After the incubation, the plate content was completely discarded. Then, 100 μ L of biotinylated Antibody was added into each well, and the plate was incubated at 37° C for 60 min, followed by three times of washing steps with 300 µL of 0.01M PBS. Then, 100°C of ABC working solution was added to each well, and another incubation was performed at 37° C for 30 minutes. After five times of wash with 300 µL of 0.01M PBS, 90 µL of TMB was added to each well. Final incubation was performed at 37° C for 30 min in the dark, followed by the addition of 100 µL-TMB solutions. The optical density of each well was immediately determined using a microplate reader set to 450 nm.

2.8.4. Spermidine

The serum concentration of spermidine was determined using the All Species Spermidine ELISA Kit (LSBio, Seattle, WA, USA) based on the competition ELISA principle. Briefly, 50 μ L of each standard, blank, and sample were pipetted into the appropriate wells of a 96-well microplate and immediately added 50 μ L of Detection Reagent A working solution to each well. The plate was then incubated at 37° C. for 1 h. After the first incubation, liquid from each well was aspirated and washed three times with 350 μ L of Wash Buffer each. Next, 100 μ L of Detection Reagent B working solution was added to each well, and another incubation was performed at 37° C for 30 min. After completing three wash steps, 90 μ L of TMB substrate solution was added to each well and the plate was incubated at 37°C for 20 min while being protected from light. Finally, upon optimal color development was achieved, 50 μ L of Stop Solution was added to each well and the optical density of each well was immediately determined using a microplate reader set to 450 nm.

2.8.5. Cytokines

A total of 10 cytokines were quantified in serum samples: interferon γ (IFN- γ), interleukin (IL) 1 β (IL-1β), IL-2, IL-4, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, IL-12p70, IL-13 and tumor necrosis factor α (TNF- α). For the simultaneous detection of 10 cytokines, the Proinflammatory Panel 1 (human) Kit (Mesoscale Discovery, Rockville, MD, USA) was used based on Mesoscale Discovery (MSD) electrochemiluminescence system. Briefly, 25 μ L of assay diluent was added to each well, and the plate was incubated for 30 s at room temperature. Each 25 µL of sample, standard, and control were added to appropriate wells, and another incubation was carried out for 2 h at room temperature. After the incubation, liquid from each well was aspirated and washed three times using 200 μ L of PBS and with 0.05 % TWEEN 20. 25 μ L of Detection Antibody was added to each well, and the plate was incubated for 1 h at room temperature, followed by three times wash steps. Finally, 150 μ L of MSD Read Buffer was added to each well, and the MSD plate was placed on the MSD Sector Imager 2400 plate reader. The Electrochemiluminescence signal of each well was detected by photodetectors and analyzed using the Discovery Workbench 3.0 software (Mesoscale Discovery, Rockville, MD, USA).

2.8.6. Neurotransmitters

Serum concentrations of L-DOPA, dopamine, norepinephrine, epinephrine, and serotonin were determined based on ultra-high-performance liquidchromatography-mass spectrometry (UPLC-MS) using a Xevo[®] TQ-XS Triple Quadrupole Mass Spectrometry instrument (Waters, Milford, MA, USA) combined with an ACQUITY UPLC[®] I-Class PLUS system (Waters, Milford, MA, USA). Briefly, separation was performed at 25°C on an Imtakt Scherzo SM-C18 column (2.1 × 100 mm with 3.0-µm particles) (Imtakt USA, Portland, OR, USA) using 0.2% formic acid in water (solvent A) and methanol (solvent B). The flow rate was maintained at 0.2 mL/min. The linear gradient was as follows: 98% A for 0 min, 98% A for 3 min, 10% A for 8 min, 10% A for 10 min, 98% A for 11 min, and 98% A for 13 min. For mass spectrometry analysis, the mass spectrometer was operated with electrospray ionization in positive ion mode, and the mass range was set to m/z 50-1500. Mass accuracy was maintained using an automated Calibrant Delivery System (AB Sciex, Concord, Canada) connected to the second inlet of the DuoSpray source. All MS data, including retention time, m/z, and ion intensity, were extracted with Markerview software (AB Sciex, Concord, Canada) incorporated within the instrument.

2.9. rs6596473 genotyping

Based on previous cross-sectional findings that the homozygous minor allele of the single nucleotide polymorphism rs6596473 was associated with serum vitamin C status, genotyping of rs6596473 was performed to determine whether there was a significant difference in genotype distribution between the vitamin C and placebo groups. Genomic DNA was isolated from a buffy coat using the QIAamp[®] DNA Blood Kit (OIAGEN, Hilden, Germany). Briefly, 200 µL of buffy coat sample was added with 20 µL of QIAGEN Protease and 200 µL of Buffer AL. The mixture was incubated at 56°C for 10 min. After the incubation, 200 µL of 96 % of ethanol was added to the mixture. The mixture was pipetted onto the OIAamp Mini spin column and centrifuged at 14,000 rpm for 1 min. 500 µL of Buffer AW1 was pipetted onto the QIAamp Mini spin column combined with a 2 mL collection tube. The tube was centrifuged at 14,000 rpm for 1 min. 500 µL of Buffer AW2 was pipetted onto the QIAamp Mini spin column in another 2 mL collection tube. The tube was centrifuged at 14,000 rpm for 3 min. Finally, 200 µL of Buffer AE was pipetted onto the QIAamp Mini spin column in a 1.5 mL microcentrifuge tube. After incubation at room temperature for 1 min, the tube was centrifuged at 14,000 rpm for 1 min to elute the DNA. Extracted DNA was quantified by spectrophotometer NanoDrop ND-2000 (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). Genotyping was performed using TaqMan[®] SNP Genotyping Assay Human for rs6596473 (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA) and TaqMan[®] Genotyping Master Mix (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA). Locus-specific TaqMan primers and allele-specific TaqMan probes were predesigned and supplied in an assay kit. TaqMan[®] probes specific to allele 1 had FAM[™] as fluorescent reporter

dye at the 5' end, and those specific to allele 2 had VICTM as fluorescent reporter dye at the 5' end. Each had a non-fluorescent quencher with a TaqMan[®] minor groove binder at the 3' end. Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) was performed on 7500 Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA) in 25 μ L of reaction volume. A total of 13.75 μ L per well of the reaction mixture containing 12.5 μ L of 2X TaqMan[®] Master Mix and 1.25 μ L of 20X Assay Working Stock was prepared for each PCR. The reaction mixture was pipetted to each well of the reaction plate. The plate was sealed with adhesive film and then centrifuged briefly to bring the reaction mixture to the bottom of the well and eliminate air bubbles. After removing the adhesive film from the plate, 11.25 μ L of genome DNA (20 ng) or control was added to each well. The PCR program consisted of one cycle at 95°C for 10 min followed by 40 cycles of amplification at 92°C for 15s and 60°C for 1 min.

2.10. Statistical analysis

Per-protocol analysis was performed including only participants who had completed the whole treatment protocol and whose compliance was above 80%. Between-group differences in baseline characteristics were analyzed using an unpaired *t*-test for continuous variables and a Pearson's chi-square test or Fisher's exact test for categorical variables. Within-group and between-group differences in dietary intake were analyzed using a paired *t*-test and unpaired *t*-test, respectively. A paired *t*-test or Wilcoxon's signed rank test was used for the analysis of the within-group difference between the week 0 and week four measures in scores of mental vitality and mood states and concentrations of LBP, spermidine, cytokines, and neurotransmitters. For analysis of the between-group differences in mental vitality and mood indices, a repeated-measures ANOVA with Bonferroni correction was used to determine the *p*-value of time-by-group interaction, with time (week 0 versus week 4) as the within-groups factor and treatment (vitamin C versus placebo) as the between-groups factor. The Stroop color-word test performance between the groups was compared using an unpaired *t*-test, and the correlation with the endpoint vitamin C concentration was determined using Pearson's correlation analysis. Differential abundance analysis of the gut microbiota was performed using DESeq2. The estimated *p*-values of time-by-group interaction were corrected to control for the false discovery rate (FDR) for multiple tests according to the Benjamini and Hochberg procedure. PICRUSt2 software and the reference genome database Metacyc were used to predict the functional abundance of gut bacterial communities from 16S rRNA sequence data. For differential abundance analysis of the predicted bacterial metabolic function, p-values of time-by-group interaction

were estimated using linear mixed-effect modeling, with time-by-group as a fixed effect and subject as a random effect. The estimated *p*-values were corrected based on the FDR to control multiple tests. Linear mixed-effect modeling was used to analyze the between-group differences in the serum concentrations of cytokines and neurotransmitters. Correlation coefficients were obtained using Pearson's or Spearman correlation analysis. Statistical analyses using linear mixed-effect modeling were performed using the Statistical Package for R studio version 2022.07.0, and all other statistical analyses were performed using SPSS version 28.0.1.1 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

3. Results

3.1. General characteristics of participants at baseline

A total of 155 volunteers were assessed for eligibility based on the inclusion criteria (**Figure 3**). As a result, 91 subjects were screened to determine their serum vitamin C concentration. Finally, 50 participants with serum vitamin C concentrations lower than 50 μ mol/L were included in the intervention study and randomly assigned to either the vitamin C supplementation group (n = 25) or the placebo group (n = 25) (Figure 3). A total of four participants were excluded from the final analysis due to the withdrawal of participation or low adherence to treatment (Figure 3). The baseline characteristics of the participants are summarized in **Table 1**. There were no significant differences between the vitamin C group and placebo groups in all baseline characteristics, including sex ratio, age, BMI, physical activity and proportions of occupations, current smokers, dietary supplement users, and genotype of rs6596473 (Table 1).



Figure 3. Flowchart of participation throughout the course of the intervention

trial

Adapted from previous publication (Sim et al. 2022).

	Placebo (<i>n</i> = 22)			Vi	Vitamin C vs. Placebo		
	Total	Men	Women	Total	Men	Women	Pa
No. of subjects	22	12	10	24	14	10	0.79
Age (y)	23.7 (1.9)	24.0 (2.0)	23.3 (1.8)	24.6 (3.5)	24.9 (3.6)	24.1 (3.5)	0.27
BMI (kg/m ²)	22.3 (3.3)	23.5 (2.0)	20.8 (4.1)	22.6 (3.0)	24.2 (2.6)	20.3 (1.9)	0.74
Physical activity (MET-min/week)	1889 (1379)	2022 (1354)	1730 (1465)	2057 (1369)	2219 (1205)	1831 (1612)	0.68
Occupation (n)							0.89
Undergraduate student	17	9	8	17	10	7	
Graduate student	3	2	1	3	2	1	
Employee	2	1	1	4	2	2	
Current smoker (<i>n</i>)	3	2	1	1	1	0	0.60
Dietary supplement user (n)	2	2	0	3	3	0	>0.99
Protein	1	1	0	2	2	0	
Vitamin D	1	1	0	1	1	0	

Table 1. General characteristics of participants at baseline

Genotype of rs6596473 ^b (n)							0.80
CC	6	2	4	8	3	5	
CG	14	8	6	13	9	4	
GG	2	0	2	3	2	1	

Values are mean (SD) or categorical total.

^a P-values were obtained by comparing the vitamin C group with the placebo group using an unpaired t-test, Pearson's Chi-square test, or Fisher's exact test.

^b rs6596473 is a single nucleotide polymorphism in the gene encoding a solute carrier family 23 member 1.

Adapted from previous publication (Sim et al. 2022).

3.2. Dietary intake

Dietary intakes of energy and nutrients at each baseline and endpoint were assessed using two-day dietary records (**Table 2**). At baseline, average energy intake was 1763.4 and 1725.3 kcal/d in the placebo and vitamin C groups, respectively; and there was no statistical difference between groups. For dietary intake of macronutrients, the placebo group had 227.8, 68.8, and 57.6 g/d of carbohydrates, proteins, and fats, respectively. The intakes of carbohydrate, protein, and fat in the vitamin C group were 221, 66.9, and 60.3 g/d, respectively. There was no significant difference between groups in the intakes of carbohydrates, proteins, and fats. In addition, dietary intake of fiber was 17.2 and 15.5 g/d in the placebo and vitamin C groups, respectively, and the intake of the vitamin C group did not differ from that of the placebo group at baseline. At baseline, dietary intake of vitamin C groups was found in each change in dietary intakes of energy and nutrients, including vitamin C.

	Placebo ($n = 22$)			V	Vitan vs. Pla	Vitamin C vs. Placebo		
	Week 0	Week 4	Change	Week 0	Week 4	Change	P ^a	P ^b
Energy (kcal/d)	1763.4 (505.0)	1784.3 (351.2)	20.9 (506.3)	1725.3 (444.3)	1802.1 (503.1)	76.8 (611.0)	0.78	0.73
Carbohydrate (g/d)	227.8 (72.6)	222.1 (53.5)	-5.7 (78.6)	221.0 (61.3)	221.9 (61.6)	0.9 (98.5)	0.73	0.80
Protein (g/d)	68.8 (23.9)	72.0 (22.3)	3.2 (27.0)	66.9 (17.8)	73.2 (27.3)	6.3 (31.5)	0.75	0.72
Fat (g/d)	57.6 (21.0)	60.4 (21.2)	2.8 (27.8)	60.3 (25.5)	62.6 (28.7)	2.3 (33.1)	0.69	0.95
Fiber (g/d)	17.2 (7.5)	14.4 (5.4)	-2.8 (9.2)	15.5 (5.8)	15.9 (7.1)	0.5 (8.9)	0.46	0.22
Vitamin C (mg/d)	52.5 (57.8)	39.0 (29.6)	-13.5 (66.2)	41.3 (43.8)	34.1 (26.8)	-7.2 (56.8)	0.34	0.73

Table 2. Dietary intakes of energy and nutrients

Values are presented as mean (SD).

^a*P*-values were obtained by comparing each baseline intake between the placebo and vitamin C groups using an unpaired *t*-test.

^b*P*-values were obtained by comparing each intake change (week 4 – week 0) between the groups using an unpaired *t*-test.

Adapted from previous publication (Sim et al. 2022).

3.3. Serum vitamin C concentration

At baseline, the vitamin C group did not differ from the placebo group in serum vitamin C concentrations (**Figure 4**). At the endpoint, however, only the vitamin C group showed a dramatic increase in serum vitamin C concentrations; the average serum vitamin C concentration in the vitamin C group more than doubled after the intervention (week 0, 42.5 \pm 11.7 µmol/L; week 4, 87.7 \pm 14.7 µmol/L; *p* < 0.0001) (Figure 4). In addition, all participants in the vitamin C group had over 50 µmol/L of serum concentrations. On the other hand, serum vitamin C concentrations in the placebo group decreased by 30% (week 0, 40.2 \pm 17.2 µmol/L; week 4, 30.3 \pm 11.8 µmol/L; *p* < 0.01) (Figure 4). These findings suggest that four weeks of vitamin C supplementation successfully improved vitamin C status.





Fasting blood samples were collected from participants at rest. The serum concentrations of vitamin C were determined using high-performance liquid chromatography within 24 hours of the blood collection. Comparison of serum vitamin C concentration between the week 0 and week 4 measures within each group was performed using a paired *t*-test (**p<0.01 and ****p<0.001). Mean values are presented as black dashed lines. Adapted from previous publication (Sim *et al.* 2022).

3.4. Mental vitality

Levels of fatigue, subjective attention, work engagement (vigor, dedication, and absorption), and self-control resources were assessed as indicators of mental vitality (**Table 3**). At baseline, the vitamin C group did not differ from the placebo group in all the mental vitality scores (Table 3). However, the vitamin C group showed a greater increase in subjective attention scores than the placebo group (placebo, $\Delta = 0.3 \pm 2.5$; vitamin C, $\Delta = 1.9 \pm 2.7$; p = 0.03) (Table 3). In addition, vitamin C supplementation significantly increased work absorption compared to placebo supplementation (placebo, $\Delta = 0.4 \pm 9.7$; vitamin C, $\Delta = 5.8 \pm 10.2$; p = 0.03) (Table 3). Also, compared to the placebo group, the vitamin C group showed marginal improvement in fatigue (placebo, $\Delta = -0.05 \pm 2.6$; vitamin C, $\Delta = -1.5 \pm 2.5$; p = 0.06) and comprehensive work engagement (placebo, $\Delta = 0.4 \pm 9.7$; vitamin C, $\Delta = 5.8 \pm 10.2$; p = 0.07) (Table 3). On the other hand, there was no significant treatment effect on self-control resources (Table 3).

The Stroop color-word test, combined with the mental arithmetic tasks, was performed at week four to evaluate sustained attention, cognitive flexibility, and information processing speed under cognitive fatigue and stress. The number of correct responses did not significantly differ between the placebo and vitamin C groups (placebo group, $n = 126.3 \pm 1.0$; vitamin C group, $n = 125.8 \pm 2.5$) (data not shown). In terms of aggregated reaction time taken to find the correct answer, however, the vitamin C group showed a significantly shorter reaction time than the placebo group (p = 0.04) (Figure 5A). In addition, there was an inverse correlation between the endpoint serum concentration of vitamin C and the reaction time in the Stroop test (r = -0.28, p = 0.05) (Figure 5B). These findings suggest that

participants in the vitamin C group successfully avoided distraction under a high level of mental stress, which is attributed to improvement in the vitamin C status of the body.

Concentrations of BDNF, a neurotrophic factor implicated with cognitive function in the brain, was determined in sera. At baseline, there was no significant difference between the vitamin C and placebo groups (data not shown). No significant change in the serum BDNF concentrations was observed within each group (**Figure 6**). In addition, no significant time-by-group interaction was found (Figure 6).

	Placebo (<i>n</i> = 22)			V	Vitamin C vs. Placebo			
	Week 0	Week 4	Change	Week 0	Week 4	Change ^a	P^{b}	P ^c
Fatigue	8.9 (2.1)	8.9 (1.9)	-0.05 (2.6)	9.3 (2.4)	7.8 (2.7)	-1.5 (2.5)**	0.41	0.06
Attention	7.7 (2.1)	8.0 (2.0)	0.3 (2.5)	7.1 (1.8)	9.0 (2.4)	1.9 (2.7)**	0.34	0.03
Work engagement	74.3 (13.9)	74.7 (14.1)	0.4 (9.7)	68.7 (14.9)	74.4 (16.1)	5.8 (10.2) [*]	0.62	0.07
Vigor	25.4 (5.4)	27.0 (5.7)	1.5 (4.0)	23.2 (5.7)	25.8 (6.0)	2.5 (4.2)**	0.30	0.41
Dedication	24.5 (5.3)	23.9 (5.4)	-0.6 (4.1)	23.0 (6.8)	24.1 (6.6)	1.0 (4.0)	0.96	0.16
Absorption	24.3 (5.1)	23.8 (5.9)	-0.5 (4.1)	22.4 (4.9)	24.6 (5.5)	2.2 (4.0)*	0.27	0.03
Self-control resources	16.1 (4.1)	17.5 (4.4)	1.4 (4.8)	16.5 (4.3)	18.5 (5.3)	2.0 (4.7)*	0.68	0.72

Table 3. Effects of vitamin C supplementation on subjective vitality

Values are presented as mean (SD).

^a Week 0 and week 4 measures differed significantly within the vitamin C group (p < 0.05, p < 0.01; paired *t*-test or Wilcoxon's signed rank test). ^b *P*-values were obtained by comparing each baseline measure between the placebo and vitamin C groups using an unpaired *t*-test or Mann-Whitney *U* test.

^c*P*-values were obtained by estimating time-by-group interactions using a repeated-measures ANOVA and Bonferroni correction.

Adapted from previous publication (Sim et al. 2022).



Figure 5. Performance difference in the Stroop test between the vitamin C and placebo groups

The Stroop color-word test was performed to measure cognitive function, such as attention and cognitive flexibility. A mental arithmetic test was conducted just before the Stroop test to assess sustained attention under cognitive fatigue and mental stress. In the Stroop color-word test, the words were colored in one of four different colors of ink (blue, red, yellow, and green), and each word was not colored in the respective color (e.g., the word BLUE was not colored in blue ink). Participants were asked to match the corresponding color of the word as quickly and accurately as possible. Cognitive performance in the Stroop test was assessed by calculating the sum of reaction times taken to report correct answers out of 128 items. Shorter reaction times indicate better cognitive performance on the Stroop tasks. (A) *P*-value was obtained using an unpaired *t*-test. Each dot indicates individual's reaction time in the Stroop test. (B) Correlation coefficient and *p*-value were obtained using Pearson's correlation analysis. The correlation plot is shown with a regression line and 95% confidence interval. Adapted from previous publication (Sim *et al.* 2022).



Figure 6. Changes in serum concentrations of BDNF

Statistical difference between the week 0 and week 4 measures within each group was tested using a paired *t*-test. For analysis of the vitamin C supplementation effect on the BDNF concentration, estimation of a time-by-group interaction was performed using a repeated-measures ANOVA. BDNF, brain-derived neurotrophic factor. Adapted from previous publication (Sim *et al.* 2022).

3.5. Mood state

The levels of stress, depression, positive and negative affect, and state anxiety were assessed using self-reported questionnaires. At baseline, the vitamin C group did not differ from the placebo group in all measures of mood states. After four weeks of intervention, the vitamin C group showed a significant decrease in stress scores at the endpoint ($\Delta = -4.7 \pm 10.4$; p < 0.05), whereas the placebo group did show a significant change ($\Delta = -3.5 \pm 10.5$; p > 0.05) (**Table 4**). However, there was no significant treatment effect of vitamin C on stress (Table 4). Both the placebo and vitamin C groups showed a significant decrease in depression scores at week 4 (placebo, $\Delta = -3.3 \pm 5.2$; vitamin C, $\Delta = -3.1 \pm 4.2$; both p < 0.01), without significant between-group difference in score changes (Table 4). For the levels of positive and negative affect and state anxiety, no significant effect of vitamin C was observed (Table 4).

	Placebo ($n = 22$)			V	Vitamin C vs. Placebo			
	Week 0	Week 4	Change ^a	Week 0	Week 4	Change ^a	P^{b}	P°
Stress	18.8 (11.5)	15.3 (9.4)	-3.5 (10.5)	18.1 (11.3)	13.4 (12.2)	-4.7 (10.4)*	0.82	0.71
Depression	6.9 (3.9)	3.5 (3.4)	-3.3 (5.2)**	8.1 (6.2)	5.0 (5.1)	-3.1 (4.2)**	0.41	0.86
Positive affect	18.2 (8.3)	18.7 (9.2)	0.5 (6.6)	18.4 (7.5)	20.7 (9.3)	2.3 (6.2)	0.93	0.35
Negative affect	10.0 (7.5)	8.8 (7.4)	-1.2 (4.8)	10.2 (8.5)	10.3 (8.2)	0.0 (5.9)	0.93	0.43
State anxiety	38.9 (10.5)	36.2 (8.4)	-2.6 (10.4)	43.3 (10.6)	38.1 (10.8)	-5.2 (14.3)	0.16	0.49

Table 4. Effects of vitamin C supplementation on mood states

Values are presented as mean (SD).

^a Week 0 and week 4 measures differed significantly within each group ($p^* < 0.05$, $p^* < 0.01$; paired *t*-test).

^b*P*-values were obtained by comparing each baseline measure between the placebo and vitamin C groups using an unpaired *t*-test.

^c*P*-values were obtained by estimating time-by-group interactions using a repeated-measures ANOVA and Bonferroni correction.

Adapted from previous publication (Sim et al. 2022).

3.6. Gut microbiota

3.6.1. Rarefaction curves of species richness

Gut microbiome profiling was performed to determine whether changes in the intestinal bacterial communities had driven the mental vitality improvement in the vitamin C group. Bacterial genomic DNAs were extracted from stool samples collected at week 0 (baseline) and week four (endpoint) and sequenced using the 16S rRNA sequencing technology. A total of 4,270,913 feature counts were obtained, with an average of 53,386 per sample. Rarefaction curves were constructed based on observed features, Faith's phylogenetic diversity, and the Shannon index to evaluate whether the samples were sequenced enough to represent species richness. As shown in **Figure 7**, each rarefaction curve converged towards a horizontal asymptote, indicating that sequencing depth was sufficient to get a true estimate of alpha diversity.



Figure 7. Rarefaction curves of alpha diversity indices of gut bacterial communities

Rarefaction curves were constructed based on (A) observed features, (B) Faith's phylogenetic diversity, and (C) Shannon index to evaluate whether the samples were sequenced enough to represent species richness.
3.6.2. Gut microbial diversity

To examine the effects of vitamin C supplementation on the gut microbial alpha diversity, observed features, Faith's phylogenetic diversity, and the Shannon index were calculated (**Figure 8**). There were no significant differences between the week 0 and week four measures within each group for all indices (Figure 8). As well, no significant time (week 0 versus week 4) \times group (vitamin C versus placebo) interactions were discovered for every index (Figure 8). Next, Bray-Curtis dissimilarity was used to quantify the compositional dissimilarity of gut microbiota structure across the groups (**Figure 9**). The PERMANOVA of Bray-Curtis dissimilarity showed that vitamin C supplementation did not significantly alter the beta diversity compared to placebo supplementation (Figure 9).



Figure 8. Changes in alpha diversity indices of gut microbiota

Each change in (A) Observed features, (B) Faith's phylogenetic diversity, and (C) Shannon index is shown as a box and whisker plot. Within each box, horizontal lines indicate median values. Boxes extend from the 25th to the 75th percentile of the distribution of values. Vertical extending lines indicate the most extreme values within 1.5 interquartile range of the 25th and 75th percentile.



Figure 9. Bray-Curtis dissimilarity of gut microbiota

Gut microbiota profiles were analyzed at week 0 and week 4. Each circle indicates the gut microbiota profile from each individual. Each axis represents percentage of data explained by each coordinate dimension.

3.6.3. Relative abundance of gut microbiota

The relative abundance of specific bacterial taxa was compared between the placebo and vitamin C groups at the phylum and genus levels. As shown in **Figure 10**, the most abundant phylum was Bacteroidetes which were followed by Firmicutes, Proteobacteria, and Actinobacteria. In the relative abundance of Bacteroidetes and Firmicutes, the vitamin C group showed an increasing trend in Bacteroidetes while decreasing in Firmicutes (**Figure 11**A and 11B). On the other hand, the relative abundance of the two dominant phyla in the placebo group remained stable during the intervention period (Figure 11A and 11B). Despite the different pattern of change, no significant time-by-group interactions were discovered in the relative abundance of both Bacteroides and Firmicutes and the Firmicutes to Bacteroidetes ratio (Figure 11).

Next, the relative abundance of gut microbiota was analyzed at the genus level. At week 0, there was no significant difference between the vitamin C and placebo groups in the relative abundance of *Bacillaceae*, *Bifidobacterium*, *Anaerotruncus*, and *Desulfovibrio* (Figure 12). However, significant time-bygroup interactions were discovered in these four bacterial genera (Figure 12). Compared to placebo supplementation, vitamin C supplementation significantly increased the relative abundance of *Bacillaceae* (p = 0.002), *Bifidobacterium* (p =0.01), and *Anaerotruncus* (p = 0.02), classified by Gram-positive bacteria (Figure 13). On the other hand, the relative abundance of *Desulfovibrio*, a genus of Gramnegative, was significantly reduced in the vitamin C group compared to the placebo group (p = 0.01) (Figure 13).

126



Figure 10. Changes in the relative abundance of gut microbiota at the phylum level

Changes in the relative abundances of gut bacterial phyla are presented with the stacked bar chart. The stacked bar represents the percentage of each phylum.





Changes in the relative abundance of the phylum (A) Bacteroidetes and (B) Firmicutes, and (C) the Firmicutes to Bacteroidetes ratio are shown. Data are presented as mean and SEM. F/B ratio, Firmicutes to Bacteroidetes ratio.



Figure 12. Changes in the relative abundance of gut microbiota at the genus level

Interaction plots show changes in the relative abundance of bacterial genera with significant time-by-group interactions based on DESeq2. Indicated *p*-values were obtained by comparing the week 0 measures between the vitamin C and placebo groups based on DESeq2. Data are presented as mean and SEM.

Bacillaceae

Bifidobacterium





The bar graphs show the changes in relative abundance of bacterial genera significantly affected by vitamin C supplementation. Indicated *p*-values were obtained by estimating time-by-group interactions based on DESeq2. Data are presented as mean and SEM.

3.6.4. Functional analysis of gut microbiota

Next, the functional contents of the gut microbiota were inferred based on the 16S rRNA gene sequence data and a reference genome database. The interaction plots in Figure 14 show the changes between week 0 and week four in the relative abundance of the following six microbial metabolic pathways in each group: polyamine biosynthesis I; polyamine biosynthesis II; arginine and polyamine biosynthesis; L-tyrosine biosynthesis; L-phenylalanine biosynthesis; and Entner-Doudoroff pathway. At week 0, there were no significant differences between the groups in the predicted relative abundance of the six pathways (Figure 14). However, vitamin C supplementation significantly reduced the relative abundance microbial polyamine biosynthesis pathways compared to placebo of supplementation (p = 0.06, p = 0.007 and p = 0.03) (Figure 15A). In addition, bacterial aromatic amino acid biosynthesis was significantly decreased in the vitamin C group compared to the placebo group (both p = 0.01) (Figure 15B). For the Entner-Doudoroff pathway, known that certain Gram-negative bacteria use for glucose catabolism under aerobic conditions, vitamin C supplementation significantly decreased the predicted relative abundance compared to placebo supplementation (p = 0.03) (Figure 15C).





Figure 14. Changes in the predicted relative abundance of microbial metabolic pathways

Functional analysis based on the 16S rRNA gene sequence data and a reference genome database predicted the relative abundance of bacterial metabolic pathways. Interaction plots show changes in the predicted relative abundance of following bacterial pathways with significant time-by-group interactions based on a linear mixed-effect modeling: (A) polyamine biosynthesis, (B) aromatic amino acid biosynthesis, and (C) Entner-Doudoroff pathway. Indicated *p*-values were obtained by comparing the baseline measures between the vitamin C and placebo groups using a Mann-Whitney *U* test. Data are presented as mean and SEM.





Functional analysis based on the 16S rRNA gene sequence data and a reference genome database predicted the relative abundance of bacterial metabolic pathways. Indicated *p*-values were obtained by estimating time-by-group interactions in the relative abundance of (A) polyamine biosynthesis, (B) aromatic amino acid biosynthesis, and (C) Entner-Doudoroff pathway using a linear mixed-effect modeling. The width of the violin plot is proportional to the density of the values. The lowest and highest dashed lines inside the plot represent the first and third quartiles, respectively. The median is shown as a solid line inside the plot.

3.6.5. Gut microbial-derived molecule and metabolite

In order to verify the results of the functional analysis of gut microbiota, the concentrations of LBP and spermidine were measured in participants' sera.

The concentrations of serum LBP that binds to LPS, a molecule found in the outer membrane of Gram-negative bacteria, were determined considering the observation that vitamin C supplementation had decreased the predicted relative abundance of the Entner-Doudoroff pathway mostly discovered in Gram-negative bacteria. As shown in **Figure 16**A, there was a significant direct correlation between changes in serum LBP concentrations and changes in the relative abundance of the microbial Entner-Doudoroff pathway (r = 0.521; p < 0.001). At week 0, there was no significant difference between the placebo and vitamin C groups in baseline measures of serum LBP (Figure 16B). However, the placebo group showed a significant increase in LBP concentrations at week four compared to week 0 (p = 0.009), whereas the vitamin C group did not show a significant change in LBP concentrations (Figure 16B). Consequently, there was a significant time-by-group interaction in the concentration change of serum LBP (p = 0.006) (Figure 16C).

The concentration of spermidine, one of the most common bacteriaproducing polyamines, was measured in the serum samples based on the observation that vitamin C supplementation was predicted to decrease the relative abundance of microbial polyamine biosynthesis. As presented in **Figure 17**A, there was a significant direct correlation between changes in serum spermidine concentrations and changes in the relative abundance of microbial arginine and polyamine biosynthesis (r = 0.459; p < 0.01), which indicated that intestinal

135

microbiota-derived polyamines were absorbed in the systemic circulation. At week 0, there was no significant difference between the placebo and vitamin C groups in baseline measures of serum spermidine (Figure 17B). However, during the intervention period, two groups showed opposite patterns of change in spermidine concentrations: the placebo group showed a great increase at week four compared to week 0 (p = 0.05), whereas the vitamin C group showed a trend of decrease (p = 0.07) (Figure 17B). Consequently, there was a significant time-by-group interaction in the concentration change of serum spermidine (p = 0.014) (Figure 17C).



Figure 16. Effects of vitamin C supplementation on serum concentrations of LBP

(A) The correlation coefficient between changes (week 4 – week 0) in serum LBP concentrations and fold changes in the predicted relative abundance of the ED pathway was estimated using Spearman correlation analysis (***p < 0.001). Each circle represents the individual's measure (V, vitamin C group; P, placebo group). (B) Between-group difference in the week 0 measures was tested using an unpaired *t*-test. Comparison between the week 0 and week 4 measures within each group was performed using a paired *t*-test. Data are presented as mean

and SEM. (C) *P*-value was obtained by estimating a time-by-group interaction in the serum LBP change (week 4 – week 0) using a linear mixed-effect modeling. Data are presented as mean and SEM. LBP, lipopolysaccharide-binding protein; ED pathway, Entner-Doudoroff pathway; FC, fold change.



Figure 17. Effects of vitamin C supplementation on serum concentrations of spermidine

(A) The correlation coefficient between changes (week 4 – week 0) in serum spermidine concentrations and fold changes in the predicted relative abundance of the polyamine biosynthesis pathway was estimated using Spearman correlation analysis (**p < 0.01). Each circle represents the individual's measure (V, vitamin C group; P, placebo group). (B) Between-group difference in the week 0 measures was tested using an unpaired *t*-test. Comparison between the week 0 and week 4 measures within each group was performed using a paired *t*-test. Data

are presented as mean and SEM. (C) *P*-value was obtained by estimating a time-by-group interaction in the serum spermidine change (week 4 – week 0) using a linear mixed-effect modeling. Data are presented as mean and SEM. FC, fold change.

3.6.6. Relationship between gut microbiota and mental vitality

To identify whether mental vitality levels were associated with gut microbiota profiles, Spearman correlation analysis was performed between the changes in bacterial genera or predicted functional pathways and the changes in self-reported mental vitality or experimentally measured cognitive performance. Bacillaceae, which was increased by vitamin C supplementation, directly correlated with subjective attention while inversely correlated with fatigue (Figure 18). Anaerotruncus, increased in the vitamin C group, directly correlated with subjective attention, work dedication, and comprehensive work engagement scores (Figure 18). On the other hand, Desulfovibrio, reduced by vitamin C supplementation, was inversely correlated with cognitive performance in the Stroop test (Figure 18). In addition, changes in the predicted microbial metabolic functions also showed multiple correlations with mental vitality measures: bacterial polyamine and aromatic amino acid biosynthesis, which were decreased in the vitamin C group, inversely correlated with work absorption and dedication; and bacterial Entner-Doudoroff pathway and polyamine biosynthesis, reduced by vitamin C supplementation, inversely correlated with cognitive performance in the Stroop test (Figure 18). These findings suggest that vitamin C-induced alteration in the gut microbiota profiles is intimately related to mental vitality improvement.



Figure 18. Relationship between gut microbiota profiles and mental vitality indices

The circos plot depicts a correlation network between changes in gut microbiota profiles and mental vitality indices. Changes in gut microbiota profiles include specific genera and predicted microbial metabolic functions with significant time-by-group interactions (p < 0.05; DESeq2 or linear mixed-effect modeling). Mental vitality indices include work engagement (work dedication and absorption), subjective attention, fatigue, and reaction time in the Stroop color-word test. The levels of work engagement, subjective attention, and fatigue were measured using validated self-reported questionnaires. In the Stroop color-word test, the words

were colored in one of four different colors of ink (blue, red, yellow, and green), and each word was not colored in the respective color (e.g., the word BLUE was not colored in blue ink). Participants were asked to match the corresponding color of the word as quickly and accurately as possible. Reaction time in the Stroop test refers to the average time to complete the Stroop task: shorter reaction times indicate better cognitive performance. The connecting lines in the center indicate direct (red) or inverse (blue) correlations. The thickness of the connecting lines is proportional to the absolute value of the Spearman coefficient. The correlation network only shows the statistically significant Spearman coefficients (p < 0.05). Arg, arginine; PA, polyamine; ED pathway, Entner-Doudoroff pathway; L-Phe, Lphenylalanine; L-Tyr, L-tyrosine.

3.7. Cytokines

3.7.1. Changes in serum concentrations of cytokines

Based on the observation that vitamin C supplementation reduced circulating microbial-derived LPS, measurement of systemic inflammatory cytokines was performed. Thus, following proinflammatory cytokines were simultaneously measured in sera: IFN- γ , IL-1 β , IL-2, IL-4, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, IL-12p70, IL-13 and TNF- α . Of the 10 cytokines, the measured values of IL-1 β , IL-2, IL-4, IL-12p70, and IL-13 were below the lower quality limit (LLOQ) in most samples; therefore, those five cytokines were excluded from all subsequent analyses.

At week 0, there were no significant differences between the placebo and vitamin C groups in baseline measures of IL-6, IL-8, IL-10 and IFN- γ (Figure 19). However, the placebo group showed a higher baseline concentration of TNF- α compared to the vitamin C group (p < 0.001) (Figure 19). The placebo group presented significant increases in serum concentrations of IL-6, IL-10 and IFN- γ at week four compared to week 0 (all p < 0.05) (Figure 19). On the other hand, the vitamin C group showed significant decreases at week four in IL-8 and TNF- α concentrations compared to baseline measures (all p < 0.05) (Figure 19). Analyzing of time-by-group interaction for the concentration change from baseline, the decrease in serum IL-8 was slightly larger in the vitamin group than in the placebo group (p = 0.08) (Figure 20). Moreover, vitamin C supplementation greatly decreased the concentrations of IL-6, IL-10 and TNF- α compared to placebo supplementation (all p < 0.05) (Figure 20).



Figure 19. Changes in serum concentrations of cytokines

The bar graphs show the concentrations of serum IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, IFN- γ and TNF- α . Comparison the week 0 measures between the vitamin C and placebo groups was performed using a Mann-Whitney *U* test. Comparison between the week 0 and week 4 measures within each group was performed using a Wilcoxon's signed rank test. Data are presented as mean and SEM. IL, interleukin; IFN, interferon; TNF, tumor necrosis factor.



Figure 20. Effects of vitamin C supplementation on serum concentrations of cytokines

The bar graphs show concentration changes (week 4 – week 0) in serum IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, IFN- γ and TNF- α . Indicated *p*-values were obtained by estimating time-bygroup interactions in the concentration change using a linear mixed-effect modeling. Data are presented as mean and SEM. IL, interleukin; IFN, interferon; TNF, tumor necrosis factor.

3.7.2. Relationship between changes in cytokine levels and cognitive performance

Next, correlation analysis was performed to determine whether each change from baseline in serum concentrations of IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, IFN- γ and TNF- α correlated with reaction time in the Stroop test conducted at week four. As a result, the placebo group showed significant direct correlations between changes in serum IL-8 and IL-10 and reaction time in the Stroop test (IL-8, r = 0.47 and p = 0.04; IL-10, r = 0.45 and p = 0.05) (**Figure 21**). On the other hand, in the vitamin C group, there was no significant direct correlation between cognitive performance and changes in cytokine concentrations (Figure 21). These findings indicate that poor cognitive performance was associated with increased concentrations of serum cytokines. Further, the decrease in systemic cytokine levels driven by vitamin C supplementation is intimately linked with better performance in the cognitive test.



Figure 21. Relationship between changes in cytokine levels and cognitive performance

The correlation coefficient between changes (week 4 – week 0) in serum IL-8 or IL-10 and cognitive performance in the Stroop color-word test was estimated using Spearman correlation analysis. The Stroop color-word test was performed to measure cognitive functions such as attention, cognitive flexibility, and information processing speed. In the Stroop color-word test, the words were colored in one of four different colors of ink (blue, red, yellow, and green), and each word was not colored in the respective color (e.g., the word BLUE was not colored in blue ink). Participants were asked to match the corresponding color of the word as quickly and accurately as possible. Shorter reaction times indicate 148

better Stroop task performance. Each dot represents an individual measure. Shadows enclosing the lines represent the 95% confidence interval. IL, interleukin.

3.8. Neurotransmitters

3.8.1. Changes in serum concentrations of neurotransmitters

Serum concentrations of neurotransmitters were measured to determine whether any changes in neurotransmitter profiles had mediated the vitamin C-induced improvement in mental vitality. Following neurotransmitters were measured in sera using UHPLC-MS: L-DOPA, dopamine, norepinephrine, epinephrine, and serotonin. Of the five neurotransmitters, dopamine and epinephrine were not detected in most samples; therefore, these two neurotransmitters were excluded from all subsequent analyses.

For serum concentrations of L-DOPA, norepinephrine, and serotonin, there were no significant differences between the placebo and vitamin C groups in baseline measures (**Figure 22**). During the intervention period, the placebo group showed a decreasing trend in the L-DOPA concentration, whereas the vitamin C group showed an increasing trend, but there was no significant time-by-group interaction in L-DOPA concentrations (**Figure 23**A) For norepinephrine and serotonin, there were also no significant time-by-group interactions in concentration changes (Figure 23B and 23C).

150



Figure 22. Changes in serum concentrations of neurotransmitters

The bar graphs show the concentrations of serum (A) L-DOPA, (B) norepinephrine, and (C) serotonin. Comparison the week 0 measures between the vitamin C and placebo groups was performed using a Mann-Whitney U test. Comparison between the week 0 and week 4 measures within each group was performed using a Wilcoxon's signed rank test. Data are presented as mean and SEM.



Figure 23. Effects of vitamin C supplementation on serum concentrations of neurotransmitters

Concentration changes (week 4 – week 0) in serum (A) L-DOPA, (B) norepinephrine, and (C) serotonin are shown. Indicated *p*-values were obtained by estimating time-by-group interactions using a linear mixed-effect modeling. The width of the violin plot is proportional to the density of the values. The lowest and highest dashed lines inside the plot represent the first and third quartiles, respectively. The median is shown as a solid line inside the plot.

3.8.2. Relationship between changes in neurotransmitter levels and work engagement

Next, correlation analysis was performed to determine whether each change from baseline in serum concentrations of L-DOPA, norepinephrine, and serotonin correlated with changes in work engagement indices. There were no significant correlations between work engagement indices and norepinephrine or serotonin concentrations in both the placebo or vitamin c groups (**Figure 24**). On the other hand, an increase in L-DOPA concentrations directly correlated with an increase in work engagement only in the vitamin C group: in particular, robust positive correlations were observed in work dedication, absorption, and comprehensive engagement (all p < 0.05) (Figure 24). These findings suggest that the enhancement of attention and motivation toward work or study, induced by vitamin C supplementation, is related to the normal functioning of dopamine, which is synthesized from L-DOPA in the brain.



Figure 24. Relationship between changes in neurotransmitter levels and work engagement

The heatmap depicts the correlation coefficients between changes (week 4 – week 0) in serum concentrations of neurotransmitters (L-DOPA, norepinephrine, and serotonin) and changes in self-reported work engagement. Work engagement, defined as a positive and fulfilling state of mind toward work or study, consists of three dimensions: vigor, dedication, and absorption. The comprehensive work engagement score was calculated as the sum of work vigor, dedication, and absorption scores. Correlation coefficients are indicated by color keys (green, inversely correlated; red, directly correlated), and the strength of color is proportional to the absolute value of the coefficient (*p < 0.05 and **p < 0.01; Pearson's or Spearman correlation analysis). NE, norepinephrine; 5-HT, serotonin.

4. Discussion

A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial was conducted to determine the effect of vitamin C on neuropsychological functioning and to investigate how vitamin C improves mental vitality via the gut-microbiota-brain axis. A four-week intervention trial was performed in healthy young subjects with below-saturation levels of serum vitamin C. Daily supplementation with 1000 mg of vitamin C increased subjective attention more than placebo supplementation. Notably, vitamin C group showed a significant increase in self-rated attention levels compared to the placebo group. In addition, vitamin C supplementation significantly increased motivation and concentration on work or study more than placebo supplementation, contributing to longer attention spans during cognitive tasks. Along with this, the abundance of LPS-producing gut bacteria, which induce a signaling cascade of proinflammatory cytokine release, was significantly reduced in the vitamin C group and was associated with changes in mental vitality indices. These findings provide insight into the beneficial effects of vitamin C on mental vitality mediated by gut microbial changes.

Today, the prevalence of scurvy, a vitamin C deficiency disease, is rare worldwide (Ceglie *et al.* 2019). Therefore, clinical evidence is urgently needed to support that maintaining adequate vitamin C status is essential for optimal health outcomes, not just preventing scurvy. However, few human studies have investigated the clinical significance of optimal vitamin C status. In addition, previous clinical trials reporting health effects of vitamin C supplementation have some critical limitations and are therefore of low quality to provide conclusive evidence. In this regard, Lykkesfeldt and Poulsen pointed out that most available vitamin C supplementation studies did not use vitamin C as a single agent and the population vitamin C status at entry was not clear, leaving the reliability of the study findings controversial (Lykkesfeldt and Poulsen 2010). In addition, it was noted that endpoint markers for vitamin C status, such as plasma vitamin C concentrations, were not determined in most clinical trials. The current intervention study, designed to overcome these limitations, provides a notable perspective on the role of vitamin C in mental function. In particular, this study reported the effects of vitamin C supplementation on various psychological measures such as subjective attention, work engagement, and self-regulation ability, which had not been previously reported. Work engagement indicates one's interest and enthusiasm in work and job and is associated with favorable emotional, physical, and cognitive outcomes (Bakker, Albrecht, and Leiter 2011). Those with higher work engagement are reported to be energetic, proud, and optimistic and effectively immerse themselves in work. Current findings suggest that improved vitamin C status increases individuals' willingness to put more effort into work activities and intellectual commitment. In addition, vitamin C supplementation increased participants' self-rating of attention more than placebo supplementation, which may have contributed to promoting feelings of focus and engagement during the task (Schaufeli and Bakker 2004). Motivation is one of the critical psychological domains that determine mental energy. It is associated with success and achievement at school or the workplace (Muraven 2010). In addition, participants supplemented with vitamin C experienced an increase in self-regulatory resource levels compared to their baseline states, whereas the placebo group did not. In a mouse model genetically modified to be incapable of synthesizing ascorbic acid, vitamin C-deficient mice exhibited hedonistic eating despite no energy deficit (Fiona E. Harrison 2013), suggesting that inadequate vitamin C status could lead to a loss of ability to control one's behavior and emotions. Motivation and selfregulation contribute to goal-directed behaviors by helping one overcome difficulties and take on challenges (Tangney, Baumeister, and Boone 2004). In the present study, optimal vitamin C status helped subjects maintain concentration for long periods, even in states of high cognitive fatigue. These findings indicate that vitamin C enhances mental resilience under mental stress, leading to goal pursuit and accomplishment. Although there is little evidence of the effect of optimal vitamin C status on attentional abilities, a previous cross-sectional study reporting serum vitamin C concentrations directly correlated with performance on the Stroop test partially supports the current findings (Travica et al. 2019). BDNF, an essential regulator of neuronal survival and synaptic plasticity, is a reliable biomarker for changes in cognitive domains (Lima Giacobbo et al. 2019). In vitro experiments and animal studies have shown that vitamin C induces the expression and production of BDNF (Grant, Barber, and Griffiths 2005; Delrobaei et al. 2019). However, there was no change in serum BDNF concentrations in the current vitamin C supplementation group. These results indicate that vitamin C-induced superior attention might have been attributed to increased mental vitality rather than cognitive enhancement. Current findings support that optimal vitamin C status could energize one's daily life by promoting non-cognitive factors, such as motivational strategies and self-regulatory resources. However, further clinical studies in general populations with varied demographic factors are needed to support these findings.

Notably, only individuals supplemented with vitamin C had a direct correlation between elevated L-DOPA concentration and increased work

motivation. However, such a positive correlation was not discovered in those who received a placebo supplement. Dopaminergic signaling is deeply concerned with both emotional arousal and successful executive control (Puglisi-Allegra and Ventura 2012; Dang et al. 2016; Logue and Gould 2014). Since L-DOPA is a precursor of dopamine, it is plausible that there was any interference with normal dopamine functioning in the placebo group (Cools 2006). Several in vivo studies strongly suggest that vitamin C is directly involved in dopamine synthesis, synaptic release and uptake (L. Lee et al. 2001; Wagner, Jarvis, and Carelli 1985; Rebec and Pierce 1994). For example, previous animal studies have reported that vitamin C deficiency induces abnormalities in the dopaminergic system, manifested by decreased social behavior (Fiona E. Harrison 2013; Ward et al. 2013). The current results indicate that optimal vitamin C status promoted motivational function by increasing the availability of L-DOPA, not affecting its concentration. High circulating vitamin C, which saturates vitamin C levels in most tissues, including the brain, might have contributed to L-DOPA conversion or synaptic dopamine transmission (Rebec and Pierce 1994; Myken et al. 2022). In addition, the disturbance of dopaminergic action observed in the current placebo group might have been partly due to increased circulating polyamines derived from the gut microbiota. The gut microbiome may contribute to some extent to the polyamine pool in the human body (Tofalo, Cocchi, and Suzzi 2019). In particular, agmatine, a kind of bacterial polyamine, is known to cross the blood-brain barrier and serve as a precursor of putrescine in neurons (Reis and Regunathan 2000; Sánchez-Jiménez et al. 2013). There has been reported that intraperitoneal or intracerebral injection of spermidine significantly affected the polyamine metabolism and levels in the mouse hypothalamus and disrupted blood-brain barrier integrity, which
supports the possibility that gut bacteria-derived spermidine may exert a significant effect on the brain function (D. Jiang et al. 2021; Glantz et al. 1996). There has been no report of the physiological role of increased polyamine in a healthy population. However, in schizophrenia, which is associated with dopamine system dysfunction, high levels of polyamines are frequently observed in the blood and brain of patients (Turecki 2013; Baroli et al. 2020; Fiori and Turecki 2008). In neurons, S-adenosyl methionine (SAM) is essential for adenosylmethionine decarboxylase 1, a rate-limiting enzyme of polyamine biosynthesis, to convert putrescine to spermidine (Turecki 2013). Once decarboxylated, SAM is irreversibly committed to the polyamine synthesis pathways. Since SAM is also involved in various pathways that regulate amine pools in the brain, including dopamine, it has been hypothesized that high levels of cerebral polyamines in psychiatric disorders may disrupt the dopamine availability (Baroli et al. 2020; Sánchez-Jiménez et al. 2013). Moreover, excess polyamine levels in the brain can be detrimental to the normal function of neurotransmitters since cytosolic polyamines in the neurons are responsible for modulating neuronal excitability (Limon et al. 2016). Even small changes in polyamine concentrations can significantly modulate excitatory synaptic inputs and neuronal activity (Fiori and Turecki 2008). Accordingly, it has been proposed that excess cytosolic polyamines in psychiatric disorders may induce a polyamine efflux to the extracellular space, thereby making excitatory receptors more sensitive (Limon et al. 2016). Polyamine-driven hyperexcitation could lead to neuronal remodeling, resulting in abnormalities and hypofunction of neurotransmitters. However, there have been no reports on whether increased exogenous polyamines affect brain function in a healthy population, so further studies are needed to understand the detailed action.

Several genera were differentially abundant between the vitamin C and placebo groups. Above all, vitamin C significantly reduced the abundance of Desulfovibrio that produces LPS, a pathogen-associated molecular pattern. Desulfovibrio, a noxious genus for some cases, has been associated with the incidence and severity of a variety of inflammatory diseases, including ulcerative colitis, colorectal cancer, systemic sclerosis, and irritable bowel syndrome (Rowan et al. 2010). In addition, vitamin C reduced the abundance of Gram-negative bacteria that use the Entner-Doudoroff pathway, such as Pseudomonas, Escherichia coli, and Azotobacter, also known to produce LPS (King et al. 2009; Olins and Warner 1967; Conway 1992; Raetz and Whitfield 2002). It is well established that LPS induces the release of proinflammatory cytokines by binding to a receptor complex consisting of a cluster of differentiation 14, toll-like receptor 4, and myeloid differentiation factor 2 on the cell surface of monocytes, dendritic cells, and macrophages (Poltorak et al. 1998). A large body of evidence from preclinical experiments has shown the direct causal relationship between LPSinduced neuroinflammation and consequent cognitive impairment (Catorce and Gevorkian 2016). Translocation of gut bacterial components into the circulation leads to a high chance for peripheral cytokines to cross the blood-brain barrier and activate microglia in the brain, inducing neuroinflammation and neuronal damage (Kacimi, Giffard, and Yenari 2011). Stimulated microglia accumulate inflammatory factors and neurotoxic reactive astroglia in specific brain regions crucial in cognitive function (Singh, Jiang, and Gupta 2007; Harry 2013; S. Lee, Kim, et al. 2011; S. Lee et al. 2012). In humans, sustained stimulation by endotoxins, such as LPS, has been suggested as a risk factor for low-grade systemic inflammation that interferes with healthy mental functioning (Cai et al.

2017; Demircan et al. 2016; Gialluisi et al. 2020; Dyer et al. 2020). In particular, low-grade inflammation has been shown to induce a decrease in striatal dopamine levels (Treadway, Cooper, and Miller 2019). This is because the energy availability of the dopamine system is recalibrated to compensate for the increased metabolic demands of chronic low-grade inflammation, impairing attention and motivation and reducing effort expenditure for reward (Straub 2017). In a mouse model intentionally injected with LPS, intracerebroventricular injection of vitamin C alleviated LPS-induced activation of microglia and production of proinflammatory cytokines (X.Y. Zhang et al. 2018). Thus, the improved mental vitality in the current study might have been attributed to both colonic and systemically absorbed vitamin C. Colonic vitamin C induces gut bacterial balance, reducing the likelihood of microbial-derived proinflammatory agents being absorbed into the body. On the other hand, absorbed vitamin C travels through the circulatory system to the brain, where it may exert a more direct anti-inflammatory effect. These results indicate that sufficient amounts of vitamin C, exceeding the vitamin C-absorption capacity in the small intestine, induces the symbiosis of the colonic microbiome by inhibiting the flourish of endotoxin-producing bacteria in the gut and allows cerebral vitamin C levels to be saturated, promoting healthy psychological functioning.

This study has several limitations. First, this study used a 2-day dietary record to determine whether there were differences in diet between the vitamin C and placebo groups. However, dietary records are limited in measuring participants' usual dietary intake unless several independent days are observed. Second, some participants had serum vitamin C concentrations higher than 50 µmol/L at week 0 despite having values below 50 µmol/L at screening. Considering that circulating

vitamin C levels represent a relatively recent intake of vitamin C, this may be because their usual dietary intakes were not maintained during the run-in period despite sufficient instructions from the investigators. Third, the current sample size was not large enough to determine whether vitamin C supplementation had different effects on mental function depending on the participants' general characteristics, such as sex and genetic variation at the SLC23A1 gene locus. Therefore, further studies involving a larger number of samples are required to detect different health outcomes of vitamin C supplementation according to intrinsic factors of individuals. Another limitation is that it was difficult to determine the detailed physiological actions of vitamin C in the brain due to ethical concerns in human studies. To overcome this, advanced technique, such as functional magnetic resonance imaging, is needed in future clinical studies to understand brain activity and neurological mechanisms induced by vitamin C. In addition, dose-response assessment is necessary to provide a broad understanding of the efficacy of vitamin C administration.

Despite some limitations, this study is the first to provide insight into the role of optimal vitamin C status in the improvement of mental vitality mediated through the gut-microbiota-brain axis in young adults. Sufficient vitamin C intake, which allows optimal levels of ascorbic acid, promotes gut microbiota balance and expected dopamine function, increasing enthusiasm and motivation for work and contributing to superior performance on cognitive tasks that require prolonged attention. Current findings suggest that optimal vitamin C status may help promote brain and gut health in young populations.

V. Summary and Conclusion

Study 1, a population-based cross-sectional study of healthy young adults, found that individuals with homozygotes for the rs6596473-minor allele were three times more likely to have suboptimal serum vitamin C concentrations of less than 50 μ mol/L than those with homozygotes for the rs6596473-major allele. With regard to mental vitality and mood states, serum concentrations of vitamin C directly correlated with attention levels, whereas there was no significant correlation with levels of fatigue, stress, depression, and positive and negative affect.

In Study 2, a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled vitamin C supplementation trial was conducted in otherwise healthy young individuals with suboptimal serum vitamin C concentrations of less than 50 µmol/L. Daily supplementation with 1000 mg of vitamin C for 4 weeks increased vitamin C concentrations to an average of 88 µmol/L. Notably, vitamin C supplementation promoted subjective attention and participants' interest and enthusiasm for work compared to the placebo group. Moreover, participants supplemented with vitamin C were significantly faster and more accurate than those supplemented with placebo at responding to cognitive tasks requiring sustained attention under mental stress caused by a mental arithmetic test. The effects of vitamin C supplementation on gut-microbiota-brain function were examined to gain insight into the underlying mechanisms by which vitamin C promotes mental vitality. Vitamin C supplementation significantly increased the relative abundance of *Bacillaceae*, Bifidobacterium, and Anaerotruncus while decreased Desulfovibrio compared to placebo supplementation. Remarkably, changes in the abundance of *Bacillaceae* and Anaerotruncus were directly correlated with subjective attention, work engagement, and cognitive abilities. Conversely, changes in the abundance of Desulfovibrio were inversely correlated with cognitive abilities. In addition, the

analysis of functional abundances of gut microbiota showed that vitamin C supplementation reduced lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and polyamine-producing bacteria compared to the placebo, which was reflected in decreased serum concentrations of LPS-binding protein and spermidine. Furthermore, the abundance of bacterial polyamine biosynthesis and the Entner-Doudoroff pathway, which were decreased in the vitamin C group, inversely correlated with work absorption and cognitive abilities. Along with the decrease in circulating LPS levels, the vitamin C group showed decreased IL-6, IL-10, and TNF- α concentrations compared to the placebo. Notably, increases in IL-8 and IL-10 in the placebo group were responsible for poor performance on cognitive tasks. In contrast, vitamin C supplementation successfully inhibited these disruptions by reducing the release of proinflammatory cytokines. In addition, participants supplemented with vitamin C had a direct correlation between changes in L-DOPA concentrations and changes in work motivation, indicating a role for vitamin C in supporting expected dopamine function.

Taken together, vitamin C status is closely related to mental function. In particular, vitamin C promotes interest and enthusiasm for work and contributes to prolonged attention during cognitive tasks. The enhancement of mental vitality induced by sufficient vitamin C intake is attributed to normal dopamine function and the reduced abundance of LPS-producing gut bacteria associated with chronic inflammation. Current findings provide insight into the role of vitamin C in mental vitality using extensive data from a cross-sectional study and a randomized controlled trial. These findings suggest that maintaining optimal vitamin C status energizes a daily life, possibly contributing to mental well-being and preventing mental illness in young populations.

References

- Acuña, Aníbal I, Magdalena Esparza, Carlos Kramm, Felipe A Beltrán, Alejandra V Parra, Carlos Cepeda, Carlos A Toro, René L Vidal, Claudio Hetz, and Ilona I Concha.
 2013. "A failure in energy metabolism and antioxidant uptake precede symptoms of Huntington's disease in mice." *Nature communications* 4 (1): 1-13.
- Agus, D. B., S. S. Gambhir, W. M. Pardridge, C. Spielholz, J. Baselga, J. C. Vera, and D. W. Golde. 1997. "Vitamin C crosses the blood-brain barrier in the oxidized form through the glucose transporters." *The journal of clinical investigation* 100 (11): 2842-8.
- Amato, M. P., E. Portaccio, B. Goretti, V. Zipoli, L. Ricchiuti, M. F. De Caro, F. Patti, R. Vecchio, S. Sorbi, and M. Trojano. 2006. "The Rao's Brief Repeatable Battery and Stroop Test: normative values with age, education and gender corrections in an Italian population." *Multiple sclerosis journal* 12 (6): 787-93.
- Amir Shaghaghi, M., C. N. Bernstein, A. Serrano León, H. El-Gabalawy, and P. Eck. 2014. "Polymorphisms in the sodium-dependent ascorbate transporter gene SLC23A1 are associated with susceptibility to Crohn disease." *The American journal of clinical nutrition* 99 (2): 378-83.
- Amr, M., A. El-Mogy, T. Shams, K. Vieira, and S. E. Lakhan. 2013. "Efficacy of vitamin C as an adjunct to fluoxetine therapy in pediatric major depressive disorder: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled pilot study." *Nutrition journal* 12: 31.
- Anderson, R, and PT Lukey. 1987. "A biological role for ascorbate in the selective neutralization of extracellular phagocyte-derived oxidants." *Annals of the New York academy of sciences* 498 (1): 229-247.
- Arroll, Megan Anne, Lorraine Wilder, and James Neil. 2014. "Nutritional interventions for the adjunctive treatment of schizophrenia: a brief review." *Nutrition journal* 13 (1): 1-9.
- Aune, Dagfinn, NaNa Keum, Edward Giovannucci, Lars T Fadnes, Paolo Boffetta, Darren C Greenwood, Serena Tonstad, Lars J Vatten, Elio Riboli, and Teresa Norat. 2018.
 "Dietary intake and blood concentrations of antioxidants and the risk of cardiovascular disease, total cancer, and all-cause mortality: a systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of prospective studies." *The American journal of clinical nutrition* 108 (5): 1069-1091.
- Bagga, V., S. B. Dunnett, and R. A. Fricker-Gates. 2008. "Ascorbic acid increases the number of dopamine neurons in vitro and in transplants to the 6-OHDA-lesioned rat brain." *Cell transplant* 17 (7): 763-73.
- Bajpai, Ashutosh, Akhilesh Kumar Verma, Mona Srivastava, and Ragini Srivastava. 2014.
 "Oxidative stress and major depression." *Journal of clinical and diagnostic research* 8 (12): CC04.
- Bakker, Arnold B., Simon L. Albrecht, and Michael P. Leiter. 2011. "Key questions regarding work engagement." *European journal of work and organizational psychology* 20 (1): 4-28.

- Ballaz, Santiago J, and George V Rebec. 2019. "Neurobiology of vitamin C: Expanding the focus from antioxidant to endogenous neuromodulator." *Pharmacological research* 146: 104321.
- Barnes, C. M., J. A. Miller, and S. Bostock. 2017. "Helping employees sleep well: Effects of cognitive behavioral therapy for insomnia on work outcomes." *Journal of applied psychology* 102 (1): 104-113.
- Baroli, G., J. R. Sanchez, E. Agostinelli, P. Mariottini, and M. Cervelli. 2020. "Polyamines: The possible missing link between mental disorders and epilepsy (Review)." *International journal of molecular medicine* 45 (1): 3-9.
- Basu, TK. 1982. "Vitamin C reserves and requirements in health and disease." *Vitamin C in health and disease*: 61-92.
- Beck, Aaron T, and Alice Beamesderfer. 1974. Assessment of depression: the depression inventory. S. Karger.
- Bémeur, C., L. Ste-Marie, P. Desjardins, L. Vachon, R. F. Butterworth, A. S. Hazell, and J. Montgomery. 2005. "Dehydroascorbic acid normalizes several markers of oxidative stress and inflammation in acute hyperglycemic focal cerebral ischemia in the rat." *Neurochemistry international* 46 (5): 399-407.
- Berding, Kirsten, Klara Vlckova, Wolfgang Marx, Harriet Schellekens, Catherine Stanton, Gerard Clarke, Felice Jacka, Timothy G Dinan, and John F Cryan. 2021. "Diet and the microbiota–gut–brain Axis: Sowing the seeds of good mental health." *Advances in nutrition* 12 (4): 1239-1285.
- Berger, Thomas M, Maria Cristina Polidori, Alya Dabbagh, Patricia J Evans, Barry Halliwell, Jason D Morrow, L Jackson Roberts, and Balz Frei. 1997. "Antioxidant activity of vitamin C in iron-overloaded human plasma." *Journal of biological chemistry* 272 (25): 15656-15660.
- Bhattacharyya, Dipita, and Anirban Bhunia. 2021. "Gut-Brain axis in Parkinson's disease etiology: The role of lipopolysaccharide." *Chemistry and physics of lipids* 235: 105029.
- Binfaré, Ricardo W, Angelo O Rosa, Kelly R Lobato, Adair RS Santos, and Ana Lúcia S Rodrigues. 2009. "Ascorbic acid administration produces an antidepressant-like effect: evidence for the involvement of monoaminergic neurotransmission." *Progress in neuro-psychopharmacology & biological psychiatry* 33 (3): 530-540.
- Brody, Stuart. 2002. "High-dose ascorbic acid increases intercourse frequency and improves mood: a randomized controlled clinical trial." *Biological psychiatry* 52 (4): 371-374.
- Brody, Stuart, Ragnar Preut, Kerstin Schommer, and Thomas H Schürmeyer. 2002. "A randomized controlled trial of high dose ascorbic acid for reduction of blood pressure, cortisol, and subjective responses to psychological stress." *Psychopharmacology* 159 (3): 319-324.
- Brubacher, D., U. Moser, and P. Jordan. 2000. "Vitamin C concentrations in plasma as a function of intake: a meta-analysis." *International journal for vitamin and nutrition research* 70 (5): 226-37.
- Buettner, Garry R, and Beth Anne Jurkiewicz. 1996. "Catalytic metals, ascorbate and free radicals: combinations to avoid." *Radiation research* 145 (5): 532-541.
- Cahill, L. E., and A. El-Sohemy. 2009. "Vitamin C transporter gene polymorphisms, dietary vitamin C and serum ascorbic acid." *Journal of nutrigenetics and nutrigenomics* 2 (6): 292-301.

- Cahill, Leah, Paul N Corey, and Ahmed El-Sohemy. 2009. "Vitamin C deficiency in a population of young Canadian adults." *American journal of epidemiology* 170 (4): 464-471.
- Cai, Liqiang, Luoyi Xu, Lili Wei, and Wei Chen. 2017. "Relationship of mean platelet volume to MDD: a retrospective study." *Shanghai archives of psychiatry* 29 (1): 21.
- Cameron, Ewan, and Allan Campbell. 1974. "The orthomolecular treatment of cancer II. Clinical trial of high-dose ascorbic acid supplements in advanced human cancer." *Chemico-biological interactions* 9 (4): 285-315.
- Carding, Simon, Kristin Verbeke, Daniel T Vipond, Bernard M Corfe, and Lauren J Owen. 2015. "Dysbiosis of the gut microbiota in disease." *Microbial ecology in health and disease* 26 (1): 26191.
- Carr, Anitra C, Stephanie M Bozonet, Juliet M Pullar, and Margreet CM Vissers. 2013."Mood improvement in young adult males following supplementation with gold kiwifruit, a high-vitamin C food." *Journal of nutritional science* 2.
- Carr, Anitra C, Juliet M Pullar, Stephanie M Bozonet, and Margreet CM Vissers. 2016.
 "Marginal ascorbate status (hypovitaminosis C) results in an attenuated response to vitamin C supplementation." *Nutrients* 8 (6): 341.
- Carr, Anitra C, and Sam Rowe. 2020. "Factors affecting vitamin C status and prevalence of deficiency: A global health perspective." *Nutrients* 12 (7): 1963.
- Catorce, M. N., and G. Gevorkian. 2016. "LPS-induced Murine Neuroinflammation Model: Main Features and Suitability for Pre-clinical Assessment of Nutraceuticals." *Current neuropharmacology* 14 (2): 155-64.
- Ceglie, Giulia, Giulia Macchiarulo, Maria Rosaria Marchili, Alessandra Marchesi, Lelia Rotondi Aufiero, Chiara Di Camillo, and Alberto Villani. 2019. "Scurvy: still a threat in the well-fed first world?" *Archives of disease in childhood* 104 (4): 381-383.
- Charan, Jaykaran, and Tamoghna Biswas. 2013. "How to calculate sample size for different study designs in medical research?" *Indian journal of psychological medicine* 35 (2): 121-126.
- Chen, L., D. M. He, and Y. Zhang. 2009. "The differentiation of human placenta-derived mesenchymal stem cells into dopaminergic cells in vitro." *Cellular & molecular biology letters* 14 (3): 528-36.
- Choi, D. W. 1992. "Excitotoxic cell death." Journal of neurobiology 23 (9): 1261-76.
- Comstock, George W, and Knud J Helsing. 1977. "Symptoms of depression in two communities." *Psychological medicine* 6 (4): 551-563.
- Conner, T. S., B. D. Fletcher, J. J. Haszard, J. M. Pullar, E. Spencer, L. A. Mainvil, and M. C. M. Vissers. 2020. "KiwiC for Vitality: Results of a Randomized Placebo-Controlled Trial Testing the Effects of Kiwifruit or Vitamin C Tablets on Vitality in Adults with Low Vitamin C Levels." *Nutrients* 12 (9).
- Conway, Tyrrell. 1992. "The Entner-Doudoroff pathway: history, physiology and molecular biology." *FEMS microbiology reviews* 9 (1): 1-27.
- Cook, James D, Selena S Watson, Karen M Simpson, David A Lipschitz, and Barry S Skikne. 1984. "The effect of high ascorbic acid supplementation on body iron stores." *Blood* 64 (4): 712-726.

- Cools, R. 2006. "Dopaminergic modulation of cognitive function-implications for L-DOPA treatment in Parkinson's disease." *Neuroscience & biobehavioral reviews* 30 (1): 1-23.
- Covarrubias-Pinto, A., A. I. Acuña, G. Boncompain, E. Papic, P. V. Burgos, F. Perez, and M. A. Castro. 2018. "Ascorbic acid increases SVCT2 localization at the plasma membrane by accelerating its trafficking from early secretory compartments and through the endocytic-recycling pathway." *Free radical biology and medicine* 120: 181-191.
- Cryan, John F, and Timothy G Dinan. 2012. "Mind-altering microorganisms: the impact of the gut microbiota on brain and behaviour." *Nature reviews neuroscience* 13 (10): 701-712.
- Cryan, John F, Kenneth J O'Riordan, Caitlin SM Cowan, Kiran V Sandhu, Thomaz FS Bastiaanssen, Marcus Boehme, Martin G Codagnone, Sofia Cussotto, Christine Fulling, and Anna V Golubeva. 2019. "The microbiota-gut-brain axis." *Physiological reviews*.
- Dang, J., S. Xiao, Y. Liu, Y. Jiang, and L. Mao. 2016. "Individual differences in dopamine level modulate the ego depletion effect." *International journal of psychophysiology* 99: 121-4.
- Das, Promi, Parizad Babaei, and Jens Nielsen. 2019. "Metagenomic analysis of microbemediated vitamin metabolism in the human gut microbiome." BMC genomics 20 (1): 1-11.
- Daubner, S. C., T. Le, and S. Wang. 2011. "Tyrosine hydroxylase and regulation of dopamine synthesis." Archives of biochemistry and biophysics 508 (1): 1-12.
- Davies, HE, JE Davies, RE Hughes, and Eleri Jones. 1984. "Studies on the absorption of Lxyloascorbic acid (vitamin C) in young and elderly subjects." *Human nutrition. Clinical nutrition* 38 (6): 469-471.
- de Almeida, A. A., R. B. de Carvalho, O. A. Silva, D. P. de Sousa, and R. M. de Freitas. 2014. "Potential antioxidant and anxiolytic effects of (+)-limonene epoxide in mice after marble-burying test." *Pharmacology biochemistry and behavior* 118: 69-78.
- de Jong, T. M., A. Jochens, Y. Jockel-Schneider, I. Harks, H. Dommisch, C. Graetz, F. Flachsbart, I. Staufenbiel, J. Eberhard, M. Folwaczny, B. Noack, J. Meyle, P. Eickholz, C. Gieger, H. Grallert, W. Lieb, A. Franke, A. Nebel, S. Schreiber, C. Doerfer, S. Jepsen, C. Bruckmann, U. van der Velden, B. G. Loos, and A. S. Schaefer. 2014. "SLC23A1 polymorphism rs6596473 in the vitamin C transporter SVCT1 is associated with aggressive periodontitis." *Journal of clinical periodontology* 41 (6): 531-40.
- de Oliveira, I. J., V. V. de Souza, V. Motta, and S. L. Da-Silva. 2015. "Effects of Oral Vitamin C Supplementation on Anxiety in Students: A Double-Blind, Randomized, Placebo-Controlled Trial." *Pakistan journal of biological sciences* 18 (1): 11-8.
- de Vos, W. M., H. Tilg, M. Van Hul, and P. D. Cani. 2022. "Gut microbiome and health: mechanistic insights." *Gut* 71 (5): 1020-1032.
- Dehghan, M., N. Akhtar-Danesh, C. R. McMillan, and L. Thabane. 2007. "Is plasma vitamin C an appropriate biomarker of vitamin C intake? A systematic review and meta-analysis." *Nutrition journal* 6: 41.

- Delrobaei, F., I. Fatemi, A. Shamsizadeh, and M. Allahtavakoli. 2019. "Ascorbic acid attenuates cognitive impairment and brain oxidative stress in ovariectomized mice." *Pharmacological reports* 71 (1): 133-138.
- Demircan, Fatih, Nevzat Gözel, Faruk Kılınç, Ramazan Ulu, and Murat Atmaca. 2016. "The impact of red blood cell distribution width and neutrophil/lymphocyte ratio on the diagnosis of major depressive disorder." *Neurology and therapy* 5 (1): 27-33.
- Dinan, T. G., and J. F. Cryan. 2017. "The Microbiome-Gut-Brain Axis in Health and Disease." Gastroenterology clinics of North America 46 (1): 77-89.
- Dixit, S., A. Bernardo, J. M. Walker, J. A. Kennard, G. Y. Kim, E. S. Kessler, and F. E. Harrison. 2015. "Vitamin C deficiency in the brain impairs cognition, increases amyloid accumulation and deposition, and oxidative stress in APP/PSEN1 and normally aging mice." ACS chemical neuroscience 6 (4): 570-81.
- Du, Juan, Joseph J Cullen, and Garry R Buettner. 2012. "Ascorbic acid: chemistry, biology and the treatment of cancer." *Biochimica et biophysica acta - reviews on cancer* 1826 (2): 443-457.
- Duell, E. J., L. Lujan-Barroso, C. Llivina, X. Muñoz, M. Jenab, M. C. Boutron-Ruault, F. Clavel-Chapelon, A. Racine, H. Boeing, B. Buijsse, F. Canzian, T. Johnson, C. Dalgård, K. Overvad, A. Tjønneland, A. Olsen, S. C. Sánchez, E. Sánchez-Cantalejo, J. M. Huerta, E. Ardanaz, M. Dorronsoro, K. T. Khaw, R. C. Travis, A. Trichopoulou, D. Trichopoulos, S. Rafnsson, D. Palli, C. Sacerdote, R. Tumino, S. Panico, S. Grioni, H. B. Bueno-de-Mesquita, M. M. Ros, M. E. Numans, P. H. Peeters, D. Johansen, B. Lindkvist, M. Johansson, I. Johansson, G. Skeie, E. Weiderpass, T. Duarte-Salles, R. Stenling, E. Riboli, N. Sala, and C. A. González. 2013. "Vitamin C transporter gene (SLC23A1 and SLC23A2) polymorphisms, plasma vitamin C levels, and gastric cancer risk in the EPIC cohort." *Genes & nutrition* 8 (6): 549-60.
- Dyer, Adam H, Louise McKenna, Isabella Batten, Karen Jones, Matthew Widdowson, Jean Dunne, Niall Conlon, Richard Reilly, Conor P Woods, and Desmond O'Neill. 2020. "Peripheral inflammation and cognitive performance in middle-aged adults with and without type 2 diabetes: results from the ENBIND study." *Frontiers in* aging neuroscience 12: 605878.
- EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition, and Allergies. 2013. "Scientific opinion on dietary reference values for vitamin C." *EFSA journal* 11 (11): 3418.
- Eipper, B. A., and R. E. Mains. 1991. "The role of ascorbate in the biosynthesis of neuroendocrine peptides." *The American journal of clinical nutrition* 54 (6 Suppl): 1153s-1156s.
- Fangmann, D., E. M. Theismann, K. Türk, D. M. Schulte, I. Relling, K. Hartmann, J. K. Keppler, J. R. Knipp, A. Rehman, F. A. Heinsen, A. Franke, L. Lenk, S. Freitag-Wolf, E. Appel, S. Gorb, C. Brenner, D. Seegert, G. H. Waetzig, P. Rosenstiel, S. Schreiber, K. Schwarz, and M. Laudes. 2018. "Targeted Microbiome Intervention by Microencapsulated Delayed-Release Niacin Beneficially Affects Insulin Sensitivity in Humans." *Diabetes care* 41 (3): 398-405.
- Figueroa-Méndez, Rodrigo, and Selva Rivas-Arancibia. 2015. "Vitamin C in health and disease: its role in the metabolism of cells and redox state in the brain." *Frontiers in physiology* 6: 397.

- Fiori, L. M., and G. Turecki. 2008. "Implication of the polyamine system in mental disorders." *Journal of psychiatry & neuroscience* 33 (2): 102-10.
- Fraga, D. B., A. P. Costa, G. Olescowicz, A. Camargo, F. L. Pazini, E. Freitas A, M. Moretti, S. Brocardo P, and S. Rodrigues AL. 2020. "Ascorbic acid presents rapid behavioral and hippocampal synaptic plasticity effects." *Progress in neuropsychopharmacology & biological psychiatry* 96: 109757.
- Fraga, D. B., G. Olescowicz, M. Moretti, A. Siteneski, M. K. Tavares, D. Azevedo, A. R. S. Colla, and A. L. S. Rodrigues. 2018. "Anxiolytic effects of ascorbic acid and ketamine in mice." *Journal of psychiatric research* 100: 16-23.
- Frei, Balz, Ines Birlouez-Aragon, and Jens Lykkesfeldt. 2012. "Authors' perspective: What is the optimum intake of vitamin C in humans?" *Critical reviews in food science and nutrition* 52 (9): 815-829.
- Friedman, Gerald J, Sol Sherry, and Elaine P Ralli. 1940. "The mechanism of the excretion of vitamin C by the human kidney at low and normal plasma levels of ascorbic acid." *The journal of clinical investigation* 19 (5): 685-689.
- Gariballa, S. 2014. "Poor vitamin C status is associated with increased depression symptoms following acute illness in older people." *International journal for vitamin and nutrition research* 84 (1-2): 12-7.
- Gautam, M., M. Agrawal, M. Gautam, P. Sharma, A. S. Gautam, and S. Gautam. 2012.
 "Role of antioxidants in generalised anxiety disorder and depression." *Indian journal of psychiatry* 54 (3): 244-7.
- Gehrig, J. L., S. Venkatesh, H. W. Chang, M. C. Hibberd, V. L. Kung, J. Cheng, R. Y. Chen, S. Subramanian, C. A. Cowardin, M. F. Meier, D. O'Donnell, M. Talcott, L. D. Spears, C. F. Semenkovich, B. Henrissat, R. J. Giannone, R. L. Hettich, O. Ilkayeva, M. Muehlbauer, C. B. Newgard, C. Sawyer, R. D. Head, D. A. Rodionov, A. A. Arzamasov, S. A. Leyn, A. L. Osterman, M. I. Hossain, M. Islam, N. Choudhury, S. A. Sarker, S. Huq, I. Mahmud, I. Mostafa, M. Mahfuz, M. J. Barratt, T. Ahmed, and J. I. Gordon. 2019. "Effects of microbiota-directed foods in gnotobiotic animals and undernourished children." *Science* 365 (6449).
- Gentile, Christopher L, and Tiffany L Weir. 2018. "The gut microbiota at the intersection of diet and human health." *Science* 362 (6416): 776-780.
- Gey, K. F., U. K. Moser, P. Jordan, H. B. Stähelin, M. Eichholzer, and E. Lüdin. 1993. "Increased risk of cardiovascular disease at suboptimal plasma concentrations of essential antioxidants: an epidemiological update with special attention to carotene and vitamin C." *The American journal of clinical nutrition* 57 (5 Suppl): 787s-797s.
- Gialluisi, A, M Bonaccio, A Di Castelnuovo, S Costanzo, A De Curtis, M Sarchiapone, C Cerletti, MB Donati, G de Gaetano, and L Iacoviello. 2020. "Lifestyle and biological factors influence the relationship between mental health and low-grade inflammation." *Brain, behavior, and immunity* 85: 4-13.
- Głąbska, Dominika, Dominika Guzek, Barbara Groele, and Krystyna Gutkowska. 2020. "Fruit and vegetable intake and mental health in adults: a systematic review." *Nutrients* 12 (1): 115.
- Glantz, L., J. L. Nates, V. Trembovler, R. Bass, and E. Shohami. 1996. "Polyamines induce blood-brain barrier disruption and edema formation in the rat." *Journal of basic* and clinical physiology and pharmacology 7 (1): 1-10.

- Goyal, Sarita, MC Gupta, and Savita Verma. 2016. "Effect of different doses of ascorbic acid on depression in mice." *Annals of health and health sciences* 3 (1): 5-9.
- Granger, M., and P. Eck. 2018. "Dietary Vitamin C in Human Health." Advances in food and nutrition research 83: 281-310.
- Grant, M. M., V. S. Barber, and H. R. Griffiths. 2005. "The presence of ascorbate induces expression of brain derived neurotrophic factor in SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells after peroxide insult, which is associated with increased survival." *Proteomics* 5 (2): 534-40.
- Graumlich, James F, Thomas M Ludden, Cathy Conry-Cantilena, Louis R Cantilena, Yaohui Wang, and Mark Levine. 1997. "Pharmacokinetic model of ascorbic acid in healthy male volunteers during depletion and repletion." *Pharmaceutical research* 14 (9): 1133-1139.
- Grice, E. A., and J. A. Segre. 2012. "The human microbiome: our second genome." *Annual* review of genomics and human genetics 13: 151-70.
- Grillon, Christian. 2008. "Models and mechanisms of anxiety: evidence from startle studies." *Psychopharmacology* 199 (3): 421-437.
- Halliwell, Barry, Mohammed Wasil, and Martin Grootveld. 1987. "Biologically significant scavenging of the myeloperoxidase-derived oxidant hypochlorous acid by ascorbic acid: Implications for antioxidant protection in the inflamed rheumatoid joint." *FEBS letters* 213 (1): 15-17.
- Hansen, Stine Normann, Anne Marie V Schou-Pedersen, Jens Lykkesfeldt, and Pernille Tveden-Nyborg. 2018. "Spatial memory dysfunction induced by vitamin C deficiency is associated with changes in monoaminergic neurotransmitters and aberrant synapse formation." *Antioxidants* 7 (7): 82.
- Harrison, F. E., and J. M. May. 2009a. "Vitamin C function in the brain: vital role of the ascorbate transporter SVCT2." *Free radical biology and medicine* 46 (6): 719-30.
- Harrison, Fiona E. 2012. "A critical review of vitamin C for the prevention of age-related cognitive decline and Alzheimer's disease." *Journal of Alzheimer's disease* 29 (4): 711.
- Harrison, Fiona E, and James M May. 2009b. "Vitamin C function in the brain: vital role of the ascorbate transporter SVCT2." *Free radical biology and medicine* 46 (6): 719-730.
- Harrison, Fiona E. 2013. "Behavioural and neurochemical effects of scurvy in gulo knockout mice." *Journal for maritime research* 15 (1): 107-114.
- Harry, G. J. 2013. "Microglia during development and aging." *Pharmacology & therapeutics* 139 (3): 313-26.
- Hashem, H. E., M. D. El-Din Safwat, and S. Algaidi. 2012. "The effect of monosodium glutamate on the cerebellar cortex of male albino rats and the protective role of vitamin C (histological and immunohistochemical study)." *Journal of molecular histology* 43 (2): 179-86.
- He, X. B., M. Kim, S. Y. Kim, S. H. Yi, Y. H. Rhee, T. Kim, E. H. Lee, C. H. Park, S. Dixit, F. E. Harrison, and S. H. Lee. 2015. "Vitamin C facilitates dopamine neuron differentiation in fetal midbrain through TET1- and JMJD3-dependent epigenetic control manner." *Stem cells* 33 (4): 1320-32.
- Heiser, P., O. Sommer, A. J. Schmidt, H. W. Clement, A. Hoinkes, U. T. Hopt, E. Schulz, J. C. Krieg, and E. Dobschütz. 2010. "Effects of antipsychotics and vitamin C on

the formation of reactive oxygen species." *Journal of psychopharmacology* 24 (10): 1499-504.

- Hibberd, M. C., M. Wu, D. A. Rodionov, X. Li, J. Cheng, N. W. Griffin, M. J. Barratt, R. J. Giannone, R. L. Hettich, A. L. Osterman, and J. I. Gordon. 2017. "The effects of micronutrient deficiencies on bacterial species from the human gut microbiota." *Science translational medicine* 9 (390).
- Hirschmann, JV, and Gregory J Raugi. 1999. "Adult scurvy." Journal of the American academy of dermatology 41 (6): 895-910.
- Hodges, Robert E, Eugene M Baker, James Hood, HOWERDE E SAUBERLICH, and Steven C March. 1969. "Experimental scurvy in man." *The American journal of clinical nutrition* 22 (5): 535-548.
- Hoffer, A. 1973. "Vitamin C and infertility." Lancet 302 (7838): 1146.
- Hou, Kaijian, Zhuo-Xun Wu, Xuan-Yu Chen, Jing-Quan Wang, Dongya Zhang, Chuanxing Xiao, Dan Zhu, Jagadish B. Koya, Liuya Wei, Jilin Li, and Zhe-Sheng Chen. 2022. "Microbiota in health and diseases." *Signal transduction and targeted therapy* 7 (1): 135.
- Huang, M., W. Liu, Q. Li, and C. F. Wu. 2002. "Endogenous released ascorbic acid suppresses ethanol-induced hydroxyl radical production in rat striatum." *Brain research* 944 (1-2): 90-6.
- Hughes, Robert N, Courtney L Lowther, and Marion van Nobelen. 2011. "Prolonged treatment with vitamins C and E separately and together decreases anxiety-related open-field behavior and acoustic startle in hooded rats." *Pharmacology biochemistry and behavior* 97 (3): 494-499.
- Irwin, M Isabel, and Bobbie K Hutchins. 1976. "A conspectus of research on vitamin C requirements of man." *Journal of nutrition* 106 (6): 821-879.
- Ishaq, G. M., Y. Saidu, L. S. Bilbis, S. A. Muhammad, N. Jinjir, and B. B. Shehu. 2013. "Effects of α-tocopherol and ascorbic acid in the severity and management of traumatic brain injury in albino rats." *Journal of neurosciences in rural practice* 4 (3): 292-7.
- Iwata, N., M. Okazaki, M. Xuan, S. Kamiuchi, H. Matsuzaki, and Y. Hibino. 2014. "Orally administrated ascorbic acid suppresses neuronal damage and modifies expression of SVCT2 and GLUT1 in the brain of diabetic rats with cerebral ischemiareperfusion." *Nutrients* 6 (4): 1554-77.
- Jacob, Robert A, Frederick S Planalto, and Robert E Agee. 1992. "Cellular ascorbate depletion in healthy men." *The journal of nutrition* 122 (5): 1111-1118.
- Javitt, Daniel C. 2012. "Twenty-five years of glutamate in schizophrenia: are we there yet?" Schizophrenia bulletin 38 (5): 911-913.
- Jialal, Ishwarlal, Gloria Lena Vega, and Scott M Grundy. 1990. "Physiologic levels of ascorbate inhibit the oxidative modification of low density lipoprotein." *Atherosclerosis* 82 (3): 185-191.
- Jiang, D., G. Mo, Y. Jiang, and B. Kang. 2021. "Exogenous spermidine affects polyamine metabolism in the mouse hypothalamus." Open life sciences 16 (1): 39-45.
- Jiang, H., F. E. Harrison, K. Jain, S. Benjamin, J. M. May, J. P. Graves, D. C. Zeldin, J. R. Falck, B. D. Hammock, and J. C. McGiff. 2012. "Vitamin C activation of the biosynthesis of epoxyeicosatrienoic acids." *Advances in bioscience and biotechnology* 3 (3): 204-218.

- Julian, L. J. 2011. "Measures of anxiety: State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI), Beck Anxiety Inventory (BAI), and Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale-Anxiety (HADS-A)." Arthritis care & research 63 Suppl 11 (0 11): S467-72.
- Jungert, A., and M. Neuhäuser-Berthold. 2015. "The lower vitamin C plasma concentrations in elderly men compared with elderly women can partly be attributed to a volumetric dilution effect due to differences in fat-free mass." *British journal of nutrition* 113 (5): 859-64.
- Kacimi, R., R. G. Giffard, and M. A. Yenari. 2011. "Endotoxin-activated microglia injure brain derived endothelial cells via NF-κB, JAK-STAT and JNK stress kinase pathways." *Journal of inflammation* 8: 7.
- Kallner, Anders, Dieter Hartmann, and Dietrich Hornig. 1979. "Steady-state turnover and body pool of ascorbic acid in man." *The American journal of clinical nutrition* 32 (3): 530-539.
- Kennedy, David O, Rachel Veasey, Anthony Watson, Fiona Dodd, Emma Jones, Silvia Maggini, and Crystal F Haskell. 2010. "Effects of high-dose B vitamin complex with vitamin C and minerals on subjective mood and performance in healthy males." *Psychopharmacology* 211 (1): 55-68.
- Kim, T. H., J. Y. Choi, H. H. Lee, and Y. Park. 2015. "Associations between Dietary Pattern and Depression in Korean Adolescent Girls." *Journal of pediatric and* adolescent gynecology 28 (6): 533-7.
- King, J. D., D. Kocíncová, E. L. Westman, and J. S. Lam. 2009. "Review: Lipopolysaccharide biosynthesis in Pseudomonas aeruginosa." *Innate immune* 15 (5): 261-312.
- Kinsman, R. A., and J. Hood. 1971. "Some behavioral effects of ascorbic acid deficiency." *The American journal of clinical nutrition* 24 (4): 455-64.
- Koh, Kyung Bong, Joong Kyu Park, Chan Hyung Kim, and Sunghee Cho. 2001. "Development of the stress response inventory and its application in clinical practice." *Psychosomatic medicine* 63 (4): 668-678.
- Kratzing, C. C., J. D. Kelly, and J. E. Kratzing. 1985. "Ascorbic acid in fetal rat brain." *Journal of neurochemistry* 44 (5): 1623-4.
- Krinsky, Norman I, GR Beecher, RF Burk, AC Chan, JJ Erdman, RA Jacob, I Jialal, LN Kolonel, JR Marshall, and PR Taylor Mayne. 2000. "Dietary reference intakes for vitamin C, vitamin E, selenium, and carotenoids." *Institute of medicine* 19: 95-185.
- Kuo, C. H., F. Hata, H. Yoshida, A. Yamatodani, and H. Wada. 1979. "Effect of ascorbic acid on release of acetylcholine from synaptic vesicles prepared from different species of animals and release of noradrenaline from synaptic vesicles of rat brain." *Life Science* 24 (10): 911-5.
- Langlois, K., M. Cooper, and C. K. Colapinto. 2016. "Vitamin C status of Canadian adults: Findings from the 2012/2013 Canadian Health Measures Survey." *Health reports* 27 (5): 3-10.
- Laudicina, Donald C, and Lawrence J Marnett. 1990. "Enhancement of hydroperoxidedependent lipid peroxidation in rat liver microsomes by ascorbic acid." Archives of biochemistry and biophysics 278 (1): 73-80.
- LeBlanc, J. G., F. Chain, R. Martín, L. G. Bermúdez-Humarán, S. Courau, and P. Langella. 2017. "Beneficial effects on host energy metabolism of short-chain fatty acids and vitamins produced by commensal and probiotic bacteria." *Microbial cell factories* 16 (1): 79.

- Lee, L., S. A. Kang, H. O. Lee, B. H. Lee, I. K. Jung, J. E. Lee, and Y. S. Hoe. 2001. "Effect of supplementation of vitamin E and vitamin C on brain acetylcholinesterase activity and neurotransmitter levels in rats treated with scopolamine, an inducer of dementia." *Journal of nutritional science and vitaminology* 47 (5): 323-8.
- Lee, Paul H, Duncan J Macfarlane, Tai Hing Lam, and Sunita M Stewart. 2011. "Validity of the international physical activity questionnaire short form (IPAQ-SF): A systematic review." *International journal of behavioral nutrition and physical activity* 8 (1): 1-11.
- Lee, S. H., N. Lumelsky, L. Studer, J. M. Auerbach, and R. D. McKay. 2000. "Efficient generation of midbrain and hindbrain neurons from mouse embryonic stem cells." *Nature biotechnology* 18 (6): 675-9.
- Lee, S., J. H. Kim, J. H. Kim, J. W. Seo, H. S. Han, W. H. Lee, K. Mori, K. Nakao, J. Barasch, and K. Suk. 2011. "Lipocalin-2 Is a chemokine inducer in the central nervous system: role of chemokine ligand 10 (CXCL10) in lipocalin-2-induced cell migration." *Journal of biological chemistry* 286 (51): 43855-43870.
- Lee, S., W. H. Lee, M. S. Lee, K. Mori, and K. Suk. 2012. "Regulation by lipocalin-2 of neuronal cell death, migration, and morphology." *Journal of neuroscience research* 90 (3): 540-50.
- Levine, Mark, Cathy Conry-Cantilena, Yaohui Wang, Richard W Welch, Philip W Washko, Kuldeep R Dhariwal, Jae B Park, Alexander Lazarev, James F Graumlich, and Jean King. 1996. "Vitamin C pharmacokinetics in healthy volunteers: evidence for a recommended dietary allowance." *Proceedings of the national academy of sciences* 93 (8): 3704-3709.
- Levine, Mark, Yaohui Wang, Sebastian J Padayatty, and Jason Morrow. 2001. "A new recommended dietary allowance of vitamin C for healthy young women." *Proceedings of the national academy of sciences* 98 (17): 9842-9846.
- Lima Giacobbo, B., J. Doorduin, H. C. Klein, Rajo Dierckx, E. Bromberg, and E. F. J. de Vries. 2019. "Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor in Brain Disorders: Focus on Neuroinflammation." *Molecular neurobiology* 56 (5): 3295-3312.
- Limon, A., F. Mamdani, B. E. Hjelm, M. P. Vawter, and A. Sequeira. 2016. "Targets of polyamine dysregulation in major depression and suicide: Activity-dependent feedback, excitability, and neurotransmission." *Neuroscience & biobehavioral reviews* 66: 80-91.
- Lindsay, G. W. 2020. "Attention in Psychology, Neuroscience, and Machine Learning." *Frontiers in computational neuroscience* 14: 29.
- Liu, L., M. Sadaghian Sadabad, G. Gabarrini, P. Lisotto, J. Z. H. von Martels, H. R. Wardill, G. Dijkstra, R. E. Steinert, and H. J. M. Harmsen. 2022. "Riboflavin Supplementation Promotes Butyrate Production in the Absence of Gross Compositional Changes in the Gut Microbiota." *Antioxidants & redox signaling*.
- Liu, Y., Y. Hou, G. Wang, X. Zheng, and H. Hao. 2020. "Gut Microbial Metabolites of Aromatic Amino Acids as Signals in Host-Microbe Interplay." *Trends in endocrinology & metabolism* 31 (11): 818-834.
- Lloyd-Price, Jason, Anup Mahurkar, Gholamali Rahnavard, Jonathan Crabtree, Joshua Orvis, A Brantley Hall, Arthur Brady, Heather H Creasy, Carrie McCracken, and Michelle G Giglio. 2017. "Strains, functions and dynamics in the expanded Human Microbiome Project." *Nature* 550 (7674): 61-66.

- Logue, S. F., and T. J. Gould. 2014. "The neural and genetic basis of executive function: attention, cognitive flexibility, and response inhibition." *Pharmacology biochemistry and behavior* 123: 45-54.
- Lykkesfeldt, J., and H. E. Poulsen. 2010. "Is vitamin C supplementation beneficial? Lessons learned from randomised controlled trials." *British journal of nutrition* 103 (9): 1251-9.
- MacLeod, C. M. 1991. "Half a century of research on the Stroop effect: an integrative review." *Psychological bulletin* 109 (2): 163-203.
- Magnúsdóttir, S., D. Ravcheev, V. de Crécy-Lagard, and I. Thiele. 2015. "Systematic genome assessment of B-vitamin biosynthesis suggests co-operation among gut microbes." *Frontiers in genetics* 6: 148.
- Makris, A. P., M. Karianaki, K. I. Tsamis, and S. A. Paschou. 2021. "The role of the gutbrain axis in depression: endocrine, neural, and immune pathways." *Hormones* (Athens) 20 (1): 1-12.
- Mandal, S., K. M. Godfrey, D. McDonald, W. V. Treuren, J. V. Bjørnholt, T. Midtvedt, B. Moen, K. Rudi, R. Knight, A. L. Brantsæter, S. D. Peddada, and M. Eggesbø. 2016. "Fat and vitamin intakes during pregnancy have stronger relations with a pro-inflammatory maternal microbiota than does carbohydrate intake." *Microbiome* 4 (1): 55.
- Marazzi, MC, S Mancinelli, L Palombi, L Martinoli, E D'Alessandro de Luca, E Buonomo, and F Riccardi. 1990. "Vitamin C and nutritional status of institutionalized and noninstitutionalized elderly women in Rome." *International journal for vitamin* and nutrition research 60 (4): 351-359.
- May, J. M. 1999. "Is ascorbic acid an antioxidant for the plasma membrane?" FASEB journal 13 (9): 995-1006.
- May, James M, Zhi-chao Qu, and M Elizabeth Meredith. 2012. "Mechanisms of ascorbic acid stimulation of norepinephrine synthesis in neuronal cells." *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* 426 (1): 148-152.
- Mayer, Emeran A, Kirsten Tillisch, and Arpana Gupta. 2015. "Gut/brain axis and the microbiota." *The journal of clinical investigation* 125 (3): 926-938.
- Mazloom, Z., M. Ekramzadeh, and N. Hejazi. 2013. "Efficacy of supplementary vitamins C and E on anxiety, depression and stress in type 2 diabetic patients: a randomized, single-blind, placebo-controlled trial." *Pakistan journal of biological sciences* 16 (22): 1597-600.
- McCall, S. J., A. B. Clark, R. N. Luben, N. J. Wareham, K. T. Khaw, and P. K. Myint. 2019. "Plasma Vitamin C Levels: Risk Factors for Deficiency and Association with Self-Reported Functional Health in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer-Norfolk." *Nutrients* 11 (7).
- Michels, Alexander J, Tory M Hagen, and Balz Frei. 2013. "Human genetic variation influences vitamin C homeostasis by altering vitamin C transport and antioxidant enzyme function." *Annual review of nutrition* 33: 45.
- Mitmesser, S. H., Q. Ye, M. Evans, and M. Combs. 2016. "Determination of plasma and leukocyte vitamin C concentrations in a randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled trial with Ester-C(®)." Springerplus 5 (1): 1161.
- Miyata, H., Y. Toyoda, T. Takada, T. Hiragi, Y. Kubota, R. Shigesawa, R. Koyama, Y. Ikegaya, and H. Suzuki. 2022. "Identification of an exporter that regulates vitamin C supply from blood to the brain." *iScience* 25 (1): 103642.

- Morera-Fumero, Armando L, Estefania Diaz-Mesa, Pedro Abreu-Gonzalez, Lourdes Fernandez-Lopez, and Maria del Rosario Cejas-Mendez. 2017. "Low levels of serum total antioxidant capacity and presence at admission and absence at discharge of a day/night change as a marker of acute paranoid schizophrenia relapse." *Psychiatry research* 249: 200-205.
- Moretti, M., J. Budni, A. E. Freitas, V. B. Neis, C. M. Ribeiro, G. de Oliveira Balen, D. K. Rieger, R. B. Leal, and A. L. Rodrigues. 2015a. "TNF-α-induced depressive-like phenotype and p38(MAPK) activation are abolished by ascorbic acid treatment." *European neuropsychopharmacology* 25 (6): 902-12.
- Moretti, M., J. Budni, C. M. Ribeiro, D. K. Rieger, R. B. Leal, and A. L. S. Rodrigues. 2016. "Subchronic administration of ascorbic acid elicits antidepressant-like effect and modulates cell survival signaling pathways in mice." *The journal of nutritional biochemistry* 38: 50-56.
- Moretti, M., and A. L. S. Rodrigues. 2022. "Functional role of ascorbic acid in the central nervous system: a focus on neurogenic and synaptogenic processes." *Nutritional neuroscience* 25 (11): 2431-2441.
- Moretti, M., I. Werle, P. B. da Rosa, V. B. Neis, N. Platt, S. V. S. Souza, and A. L. S. Rodrigues. 2019. "A single coadministration of subeffective doses of ascorbic acid and ketamine reverses the depressive-like behavior induced by chronic unpredictable stress in mice." *Pharmacology biochemistry and behavior* 187: 172800.
- Moretti, Morgana, Josiane Budni, Andiara Espíndola Freitas, Vivian Binder Neis, Camille Mertins Ribeiro, Grasiela de Oliveira Balen, Débora Kurrle Rieger, Rodrigo Bainy Leal, and Ana Lúcia S Rodrigues. 2015b. "TNF-α-induced depressive-like phenotype and p38MAPK activation are abolished by ascorbic acid treatment." *European neuropsychopharmacology* 25 (6): 902-912.
- Moretti, Morgana, Daiane Bittencourt Fraga, and Ana Lúcia S Rodrigues. 2017. "Preventive and therapeutic potential of ascorbic acid in neurodegenerative diseases." *CNS neuroscience & therapeutics* 23 (12): 921-929.
- Moritz, Bettina, Ariana E Schmitz, Ana Lúcia S Rodrigues, Alcir L Dafre, and Mauricio P Cunha. 2020. "The role of vitamin C in stress-related disorders." *The journal of nutritional biochemistry* 85: 108459.
- Mörkl, S., J. Wagner-Skacel, T. Lahousen, S. Lackner, S. J. Holasek, S. A. Bengesser, A. Painold, A. K. Holl, and E. Reininghaus. 2018. "The Role of Nutrition and the Gut-Brain Axis in Psychiatry: A Review of the Literature." *Neuropsychobiology*: 1-9.
- Mujcic, Redzo, and Andrew J. Oswald. 2016. "Evolution of well-being and happiness after increases in consumption of fruit and vegetables." *American journal of public health* 106 (8): 1504-1510.
- Muraven, M. 2010. "Building Self-Control Strength: Practicing Self-Control Leads to Improved Self-Control Performance." *Journal of experimental social psychology* 46 (2): 465-468.
- Myken, Anders N, Bjørn H Ebdrup, Mikkel E Sørensen, Brian V Broberg, Martin W Skjerbæk, Birte Y Glenthøj, Jens Lykkesfeldt, and Mette Ø Nielsen. 2022. "Lower vitamin C levels are associated with less improvement in negative symptoms in initially antipsychotic-naïve patients with first-episode psychosis." *International journal of neuropsychopharmacology*.

- Nam, S. M., M. Seo, J. S. Seo, H. Rhim, S. S. Nahm, I. H. Cho, B. J. Chang, H. J. Kim, S. H. Choi, and S. Y. Nah. 2019. "Ascorbic Acid Mitigates D-galactose-Induced Brain Aging by Increasing Hippocampal Neurogenesis and Improving Memory Function." *Nutrients* 11 (1).
- Narayanan, S. N., R. S. Kumar, J. Paval, and S. Nayak. 2010. "Effect of ascorbic acid on the monosodium glutamate-induced neurobehavioral changes in periadolescent rats." *Bratislavske lekarske listy* 111 (5): 247-52.
- Nelson, M. T., P. M. Joksovic, P. Su, H. W. Kang, A. Van Deusen, J. P. Baumgart, L. S. David, T. P. Snutch, P. Q. Barrett, J. H. Lee, C. F. Zorumski, E. Perez-Reyes, and S. M. Todorovic. 2007. "Molecular mechanisms of subtype-specific inhibition of neuronal T-type calcium channels by ascorbate." *Journal of neuroscience* 27 (46): 12577-83.
- "New Reference Values for Vitamin C Intake." 2015. Annals of nutrition and metabolism 67 (1): 13-20.
- Newton, HM, DB Morgan, CJ Schorah, and RP Hullin. 1983. "Relation between intake and plasma concentration of vitamin C in elderly women." *British medical journal* 287 (6403): 1429.
- Niemoller, T. D., and N. G. Bazan. 2010. "Docosahexaenoic acid neurolipidomics." *Prostaglandins & other lipid mediators* 91 (3-4): 85-9.
- Niforou, Aikaterini, Valentini Konstantinidou, and Androniki Naska. 2020. "Genetic variants shaping inter-individual differences in response to dietary intakes—a narrative review of the case of vitamins." *Frontiers in nutrition*: 280.
- Nishikimi, Morimitsu, and Kunio Yagi. 1991. "Molecular basis for the deficiency in humans of gulonolactone oxidase, a key enzyme for ascorbic acid biosynthesis." *The American journal of clinical nutrition* 54 (6): 1203S-1208S.
- Njus, D., P. M. Kelley, Y. J. Tu, and H. B. Schlegel. 2020. "Ascorbic acid: The chemistry underlying its antioxidant properties." *Free radical biology and medicine* 159: 37-43.
- Olajide, O. J., E. O. Yawson, I. T. Gbadamosi, T. T. Arogundade, E. Lambe, K. Obasi, I. T. Lawal, A. Ibrahim, and K. Y. Ogunrinola. 2017. "Ascorbic acid ameliorates behavioural deficits and neuropathological alterations in rat model of Alzheimer's disease." *Environmental toxicology and pharmacology* 50: 200-211.
- Olins, A. L., and R. C. Warner. 1967. "Physicochemical studies on a lipopolysaccharide from the cell wall of Azotobacter vinelandii." *Journal of biological chemistry* 242 (21): 4994-5001.
- Padayatty, S. J., A. Katz, Y. Wang, P. Eck, O. Kwon, J. H. Lee, S. Chen, C. Corpe, A. Dutta, S. K. Dutta, and M. Levine. 2003. "Vitamin C as an antioxidant: evaluation of its role in disease prevention." *Journal of the American college of nutrition* 22 (1): 18-35.
- Padayatty, Sebastian J, and Mark Levine. 2016. "Vitamin C: the known and the unknown and Goldilocks." *Oral diseases* 22 (6): 463-493.
- Pearson, J. F., J. M. Pullar, R. Wilson, J. K. Spittlehouse, M. C. M. Vissers, P. M. L. Skidmore, J. Willis, V. A. Cameron, and A. C. Carr. 2017. "Vitamin C Status Correlates with Markers of Metabolic and Cognitive Health in 50-Year-Olds: Findings of the CHALICE Cohort Study." *Nutrients* 9 (8).

- Pham, Van T, Susanne Dold, Ateequr Rehman, Julia K Bird, and Robert E Steinert. 2021. "Vitamins, the gut microbiome and gastrointestinal health in humans." *Nutrition research* 95: 35-53.
- Pham, Van T, Sophie Fehlbaum, Nicole Seifert, Nathalie Richard, Maaike J Bruins, Wilbert Sybesma, Ateequr Rehman, and Robert E Steinert. 2021. "Effects of colontargeted vitamins on the composition and metabolic activity of the human gut microbiome–a pilot study." *Gut microbes* 13 (1): 1875774.
- Pierce, R. C., D. W. Miller, D. B. Reising, and G. V. Rebec. 1992. "Unilateral neostriatal kainate, but not 6-OHDA, lesions block dopamine agonist-induced ascorbate release in the neostriatum of freely moving rats." *Brain research* 597 (1): 138-43.
- Pierce, R. C., and G. V. Rebec. 1990. "Stimulation of both D1 and D2 dopamine receptors increases behavioral activation and ascorbate release in the neostriatum of freely moving rats." *European journal of pharmacology* 191 (3): 295-302.
- Plevin, David, and Cherrie Galletly. 2020. "The neuropsychiatric effects of vitamin C deficiency: a systematic review." *BMC psychiatry* 20 (1): 1-9.
- Poltorak, A., X. He, I. Smirnova, M. Y. Liu, C. Van Huffel, X. Du, D. Birdwell, E. Alejos, M. Silva, C. Galanos, M. Freudenberg, P. Ricciardi-Castagnoli, B. Layton, and B. Beutler. 1998. "Defective LPS signaling in C3H/HeJ and C57BL/10ScCr mice: mutations in Tlr4 gene." *Science* 282 (5396): 2085-8.
- Prohan, M., R. Amani, S. Nematpour, N. Jomehzadeh, and M. H. Haghighizadeh. 2014. "Total antioxidant capacity of diet and serum, dietary antioxidant vitamins intake, and serum hs-CRP levels in relation to depression scales in university male students." *Redox report* 19 (3): 133-9.
- Puglisi-Allegra, S., and R. Ventura. 2012. "Prefrontal/accumbal catecholamine system processes high motivational salience." *Frontiers in behavioral neuroscience* 6: 31.
- Pullar, Juliet M, Anitra C Carr, Stephanie M Bozonet, and Margreet CM Vissers. 2018. "High vitamin C status is associated with elevated mood in male tertiary students." *Antioxidants* 7 (7): 91.
- Puty, B., C. Maximino, A. Brasil, W. L. da Silva, A. Gouveia, Jr., K. R. Oliveira, J. Batista Ede, M. E. Crespo-Lopez, F. A. Rocha, and A. M. Herculano. 2014. "Ascorbic acid protects against anxiogenic-like effect induced by methylmercury in zebrafish: action on the serotonergic system." *Zebrafish* 11 (4): 365-70.
- Qiu, S., L. Li, E. J. Weeber, and J. M. May. 2007. "Ascorbate transport by primary cultured neurons and its role in neuronal function and protection against excitotoxicity." *Journal of neuroscience research* 85 (5): 1046-56.
- Raeis-Abdollahi, E., F. Nabavizadeh, L. Tajik, and H. R. Sadeghipour. 2019. "Effects of prenatal exposure to chrysotile asbestos on hippocampal neurogenesis and longterm behavioral changes in adult male rat offspring." *Behavioural brain research* 371: 111962.
- Raetz, Christian R. H., and Chris Whitfield. 2002. "Lipopolysaccharide endotoxins." *Annual review of biochemistry* 71: 635-700.
- Ravindran, R. D., P. Sundaresan, T. Krishnan, P. Vashist, G. Maraini, V. Saravanan, U. Chakravarthy, L. Smeeth, D. Nitsch, I. S. Young, and A. E. Fletcher. 2019. "Genetic variants in a sodium-dependent vitamin C transporter gene and agerelated cataract." *British journal of ophthalmology* 103 (9): 1223-1227.

- Rebec, G. V., and R. C. Pierce. 1994. "A vitamin as neuromodulator: ascorbate release into the extracellular fluid of the brain regulates dopaminergic and glutamatergic transmission." *Progress in neurobiology* 43 (6): 537-65.
- Reis, D. J., and S. Regunathan. 2000. "Is agmatine a novel neurotransmitter in brain?" *Trends in pharmacological sciences* 21 (5): 187-93.
- Rooks, Michelle G, and Wendy S Garrett. 2016. "Gut microbiota, metabolites and host immunity." *Nature reviews immunology* 16 (6): 341-352.
- Rooney, Ciara, Michelle C McKinley, and Jayne V Woodside. 2013. "The potential role of fruit and vegetables in aspects of psychological well-being: a review of the literature and future directions." *Proceedings of the nutrition society* 72 (4): 420-432.
- Rosa, Priscila B, Vivian B Neis, Camille M Ribeiro, Morgana Moretti, and Ana Lúcia S Rodrigues. 2016. "Antidepressant-like effects of ascorbic acid and ketamine involve modulation of GABAA and GABAB receptors." *Pharmacological reports* 68 (5): 996-1001.
- Rowan, Fiachra, Neil G Docherty, Madeline Murphy, Brendan Murphy, John Calvin Coffey, and P Ronan O'Connell. 2010. "Desulfovibrio bacterial species are increased in ulcerative colitis." *Diseases of the colon & rectum* 53 (11): 1530-1536.
- Rozanski, A., and L. D. Kubzansky. 2005. "Psychologic functioning and physical health: a paradigm of flexibility." *Psychosomatic medicine* 67 Suppl 1: S47-53.
- Sahraian, Ali, Ahmad Ghanizadeh, and Fereshteh Kazemeini. 2015. "Vitamin C as an adjuvant for treating major depressive disorder and suicidal behavior, a randomized placebo-controlled clinical trial." *Trials* 16 (1): 1-8.
- Said, Hamid M. 2011. "Intestinal absorption of water-soluble vitamins in health and disease." *Biochemical Journal* 437 (3): 357-372.
- Salehi, L., H. Eftekhar, K. Mohammad, S. S. Tavafian, A. Jazayery, and A. Montazeri. 2010. "Consumption of fruit and vegetables among elderly people: a cross sectional study from Iran." *Nutrition journal* 9: 2.
- Sánchez-Jiménez, F., M. V. Ruiz-Pérez, J. L. Urdiales, and M. A. Medina. 2013. "Pharmacological potential of biogenic amine-polyamine interactions beyond neurotransmission." *British journal of pharmacology* 170 (1): 4-16.
- Sandstrom, M. I., and G. V. Rebec. 2007. "Extracellular ascorbate modulates glutamate dynamics: role of behavioral activation." *BMC neuroscience* 8: 32.
- Sauberlich, HE. 1975. "Human requirements and needs. Vitamin C status: methods and findings." *Annals of the New York academy of sciences* 258: 438-450.
- Schaufeli, Wilmar B., and Arnold B. Bakker. 2004. "Job Demands, Job Resources, and Their Relationship with Burnout and Engagement: A Multi-Sample Study." *Journal of organizational behavior* 25 (3): 293-315.
- Schleicher, Rosemary L, Margaret D Carroll, Earl S Ford, and David A Lacher. 2009.
 "Serum vitamin C and the prevalence of vitamin C deficiency in the United States: 2003–2004 National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES)." *The American journal of clinical nutrition* 90 (5): 1252-1263.
- Seitz, Gabriele, Sabine Gebhardt, James F Beck, Waltraud Böhm, Holger N Lode, Dietrich Niethammer, and Gernot Bruchelt. 1998. "Ascorbic acid stimulates DOPA synthesis and tyrosine hydroxylase gene expression in the human neuroblastoma cell line SK-N-SH." *Neuroscience letters* 244 (1): 33-36.

- Senthilkumari, Srinivasan, Badri Talwar, Kuppamuthu Dharmalingam, Ravilla D Ravindran, Ramamurthy Jayanthi, Periasamy Sundaresan, Charu Saravanan, Ian S Young, Alan D Dangour, and Astrid E Fletcher. 2014. "Polymorphisms in sodiumdependent vitamin C transporter genes and plasma, aqueous humor and lens nucleus ascorbate concentrations in an ascorbate depleted setting." *Experimental eye research* 124: 24-30.
- Seppälä, Piia, Saija Mauno, Taru Feldt, Jari Hakanen, Ulla Kinnunen, Asko Tolvanen, and Wilmar Schaufeli. 2009. "The Construct Validity of the Utrecht Work Engagement Scale: Multisample and Longitudinal Evidence." *Journal of happiness studies* 10 (4): 459-481.
- Shivavedi, N., G. N. V. Charan Tej, K. Neogi, and P. K. Nayak. 2019. "Ascorbic acid therapy: A potential strategy against comorbid depression-like behavior in streptozotocin-nicotinamide-induced diabetic rats." *Biomedicine & pharmacotherapy* 109: 351-359.
- Shivavedi, N., M. Kumar, Gnvc Tej, and P. K. Nayak. 2017. "Metformin and ascorbic acid combination therapy ameliorates type 2 diabetes mellitus and comorbid depression in rats." *Brain research* 1674: 1-9.
- Sim, Minju, Sehwa Hong, Sungwoong Jung, Jin-Soo Kim, Young-Tae Goo, Woo Young Chun, and Dong-Mi Shin. 2022. "Vitamin C supplementation promotes mental vitality in healthy young adults: results from a cross-sectional analysis and a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial." *European journal of nutrition* 61 (1): 447-459.
- Singh, A. K., Y. Jiang, and S. Gupta. 2007. "Effects of bacterial toxins on endothelial tight junction in vitro: a mechanism-based investigation." *Toxicology mechanisms and methods* 17 (6): 331-47.
- Sivrioglu, E. Y., S. Kirli, D. Sipahioglu, B. Gursoy, and E. Sarandöl. 2007. "The impact of omega-3 fatty acids, vitamins E and C supplementation on treatment outcome and side effects in schizophrenia patients treated with haloperidol: an open-label pilot study." *Progress in neuro-psychopharmacology & biological psychiatry* 31 (7): 1493-9.
- Skibola, Christine F, Paige M Bracci, Eran Halperin, Alexandra Nieters, Alan Hubbard, Randi A Paynter, Danica R Skibola, Luz Agana, Nikolaus Becker, and Patrick Tressler. 2008. "Polymorphisms in the estrogen receptor 1 and vitamin C and matrix metalloproteinase gene families are associated with susceptibility to lymphoma." *PLoS one* 3 (7): e2816.
- Sotiriou, S., S. Gispert, J. Cheng, Y. Wang, A. Chen, S. Hoogstraten-Miller, G. F. Miller, O. Kwon, M. Levine, S. H. Guttentag, and R. L. Nussbaum. 2002. "Ascorbic-acid transporter Slc23a1 is essential for vitamin C transport into the brain and for perinatal survival." *Nature medicine* 8 (5): 514-7.
- Steinert, R. E., M. Sadaghian Sadabad, H. J. Harmsen, and P. Weber. 2016. "The prebiotic concept and human health: a changing landscape with riboflavin as a novel prebiotic candidate?" *European journal of clinical nutrition* 70 (12): 1348-1353.
- Straub, Rainer H. 2017. "The brain and immune system prompt energy shortage in chronic inflammation and ageing." *Nature reviews rheumatology* 13 (12): 743-751.
- Tangney, J. P., R. F. Baumeister, and A. L. Boone. 2004. "High self-control predicts good adjustment, less pathology, better grades, and interpersonal success." *Journal of personality* 72 (2): 271-324.

- Thursby, E., and N. Juge. 2017. "Introduction to the human gut microbiota." *Biochemical journal* 474 (11): 1823-1836.
- Tilg, Herbert, Niv Zmora, Timon E Adolph, and Eran Elinav. 2020. "The intestinal microbiota fuelling metabolic inflammation." *Nature reviews immunology* 20 (1): 40-54.
- Timpson, N. J., N. G. Forouhi, M. J. Brion, R. M. Harbord, D. G. Cook, P. Johnson, A. McConnachie, R. W. Morris, S. Rodriguez, J. Luan, S. Ebrahim, S. Padmanabhan, G. Watt, K. R. Bruckdorfer, N. J. Wareham, P. H. Whincup, S. Chanock, N. Sattar, D. A. Lawlor, and G. Davey Smith. 2010. "Genetic variation at the SLC23A1 locus is associated with circulating concentrations of L-ascorbic acid (vitamin C): evidence from 5 independent studies with >15,000 participants." *The American journal of clinical nutrition* 92 (2): 375-82.
- Tofalo, R., S. Cocchi, and G. Suzzi. 2019. "Polyamines and Gut Microbiota." *Frontiers in nutrition* 6: 16.
- Travica, N., K. Ried, I. Hudson, A. Sali, A. Scholey, and A. Pipingas. 2020. "Gender Differences in Plasma Vitamin C Concentrations and Cognitive Function: A Pilot Cross-Sectional Study in Healthy Adults." *Current developments in nutrition* 4 (4): nzaa038.
- Travica, N., K. Ried, A. Sali, I. Hudson, A. Scholey, and A. Pipingas. 2019. "Plasma Vitamin C Concentrations and Cognitive Function: A Cross-Sectional Study." *Frontiers in aging neuroscience* 11: 72.
- Treadway, Michael T, Jessica A Cooper, and Andrew H Miller. 2019. "Can't or won't? Immunometabolic constraints on dopaminergic drive." *Trends in cognitive sciences* 23 (5): 435-448.
- Tsao, CS, and SL Salimi. 1984. "Effect of large intake of ascorbic acid on urinary and plasma oxalic acid levels." *International journal for vitamin and nutrition research.* 54 (2-3): 245-249.
- Turecki, G. 2013. "Polyamines and suicide risk." Molecular psychiatry 18 (12): 1242-3.
- Tveden-Nyborg, Pernille. 2021. "Vitamin C Deficiency in the Young Brain—Findings from Experimental Animal Models." *Nutrients* 13 (5): 1685.
- Uebanso, Takashi, Takaaki Shimohata, Kazuaki Mawatari, and Akira Takahashi. 2020. "Functional roles of B-vitamins in the gut and gut microbiome." *Molecular nutrition & food research* 64 (18): 2000426.
- Ushiyama, K., T. Ogawa, M. Ishii, R. Ajisaka, Y. Sugishita, and I. Ito. 1991. "Physiologic neuroendocrine arousal by mental arithmetic stress test in healthy subjects." *American journal of cardiology* 67 (1): 101-3.
- Vercoulen, Jan HMM, Caroline MA Swanink, Jan FM Fennis, Joep MD Galama, Jos WM van der Meer, and Gijs Bleijenberg. 1994. "Dimensional assessment of chronic fatigue syndrome." *Journal of psychosomatic research* 38 (5): 383-392.
- Wabaidur, Saikh Mohammad, Zeid Abdullah ALOthman, and Mu Naushad. 2012. "Determination of dopamine in pharmaceutical formulation using enhanced luminescence from europium complex." Spectrochimica acta part A: molecular and biomolecular spectroscopy 93: 331-334.
- Wagner, G. C., M. F. Jarvis, and R. M. Carelli. 1985. "Ascorbic acid reduces the dopamine depletion induced by MPTP." *Neuropharmacology* 24 (12): 1261-2.

- Walia, V., C. Garg, and M. Garg. 2019. "Nitrergic signaling modulation by ascorbic acid treatment is responsible for anxiolysis in mouse model of anxiety." *Behavioural brain research* 364: 85-98.
- Wandzilak, Theodore R, Stacy D D'andre, Paul A Davis, and Hibbard E Williams. 1994. "Effect of high dose vitamin C on urinary oxalate levels." *The journal of urology* 151 (4): 834-837.
- Wang, Y., X. J. Liu, L. Robitaille, S. Eintracht, E. MacNamara, and L. J. Hoffer. 2013. "Effects of vitamin C and vitamin D administration on mood and distress in acutely hospitalized patients." *The American journal of clinical nutrition* 98 (3): 705-11.
- Ward, M. S., J. Lamb, J. M. May, and F. E. Harrison. 2013. "Behavioral and monoamine changes following severe vitamin C deficiency." *Journal of neurochemistry* 124 (3): 363-75.
- Watson, David, Lee Anna Clark, and Auke Tellegen. 1988. "Development and validation of brief measures of positive and negative affect: the PANAS scales." *Journal of personality and social psychology* 54 (6): 1063.
- Worm-Smeitink, M, M Gielissen, L Bloot, HWM Van Laarhoven, BGM Van Engelen, P Van Riel, G Bleijenberg, S Nikolaus, and H Knoop. 2017. "The assessment of fatigue: Psychometric qualities and norms for the Checklist individual strength." *Journal of psychosomatic research* 98: 40-46.
- Wrieden, Wendy L, Mary K Hannah, Caroline Bolton-Smith, Roger Tavendale, Caroline Morrison, and Hugh Tunstall-Pedoe. 2000. "Plasma vitamin C and food choice in the third Glasgow MONICA population survey." *Journal of epidemiology & community health* 54 (5): 355-360.
- Yan, J., L. Studer, and R. D. McKay. 2001. "Ascorbic acid increases the yield of dopaminergic neurons derived from basic fibroblast growth factor expanded mesencephalic precursors." *Journal of neurochemistry* 76 (1): 307-11.
- Yang, W., and Y. Cong. 2021. "Gut microbiota-derived metabolites in the regulation of host immune responses and immune-related inflammatory diseases." *Cellular & molecular immunology* 18 (4): 866-877.
- Young, J., S. B. McKinney, B. M. Ross, K. W. Wahle, and S. P. Boyle. 2007. "Biomarkers of oxidative stress in schizophrenic and control subjects." *Prostaglandins, leukotrienes and essential fatty acids* 76 (2): 73-85.
- Zalonis, I., F. Christidi, A. Bonakis, E. Kararizou, N. I. Triantafyllou, G. Paraskevas, E. Kapaki, and D. Vasilopoulos. 2009. "The stroop effect in Greek healthy population: normative data for the Stroop Neuropsychological Screening Test." Archives of clinical neuropsychology 24 (1): 81-8.
- Zhang, M., L. Robitaille, S. Eintracht, and L. J. Hoffer. 2011. "Vitamin C provision improves mood in acutely hospitalized patients." *Nutrition* 27 (5): 530-3.
- Zhang, X. Y., Z. P. Xu, W. Wang, J. B. Cao, Q. Fu, W. X. Zhao, Y. Li, X. L. Huo, L. M. Zhang, Y. F. Li, and W. D. Mi. 2018. "Vitamin C alleviates LPS-induced cognitive impairment in mice by suppressing neuroinflammation and oxidative stress." *International immunopharmacology* 65: 438-447.

국문초록

젊은 성인에서 비타민 C 가 정신적 활력에 미치는 영향 연구

서울대학교 대학원 식품영양학과 심 민 주

서론

비타민 C 는 인간이 스스로 합성할 수 없어 과일과 채소 등의 식품을 섭취하여 얻는 필수 영양소이다. 비타민 C 는 전자공여체와 보조인자로 기능함으로써 인체의 항산화 작용, 콜라겐과 카르니틴의 합성, 페닐알라닌과 티로신의 대사 등에 관여한다. 특히 뇌는 신체에서 매우 고농도의 비타민 C 를 보유하는 장기 중 하나로, 뇌에 존재하는 비타민 C 는 신경 세포를 발달시키고 산화 스트레스로부터 보호하며, 신경전달물질의 합성과 분비를 조절한다. 이는 비타민 C 가 뇌의 정상적인 기능을 유지하여 정신 건강을 이루는 데 매우 중요한 영양소라는 점을 시사한다. 또한, 신체의 비타민 C 가 결핍되면 극심한 무기력증이 나타나는 것으로 보아, 비타민 C 가 육체적 피로뿐만 아니라 정신적 활력에도 깊이 관여할 것으로 생각된다. 그러나 비타민 C 와 인간의 정신 건강 사이의 관련성은 아직 충분한 연구가 이루어지지 않았으며, 현재까지 이루어진 연구의 대부분은 노인이나 정신질환을 앓고 있는 환자군을 대상으로 수행되었다. 따라서 건강한 젊은 인구 집단에서 정신적 활력에 대한 비타민 C 의 역할을 규명할 수 있는 임상 연구가 필요하다.

연구 목적

본 연구를 통해 건강한 젊은 성인에서 비타민 C 상태와 정신적 활력 사이의 관계를 조사하고자 하였다. 따라서 첫째로, 단면연구(연구 1)를 실시하여 혈청 비타민 C 농도와 정신 활력 지표 사이의 상관성을 조사하였다. 둘째로, 비타민 C 보충 중재연구(연구 2)를 수행하여 비타민 C 와 정신 활력 사이의 인과성을 조사하고 비타민 C 가 정신 활력을 증진시키는 생리적 기전을 탐구하였다.

연구 내용 및 방법

연구 1 에서는 20~39 세의 건강한 성인 214 명을 대상으로 단면연구를 수행하였다. 먼저, 혈청 비타민 C 농도와 관련된 요인을 탐색하기 위해 흡연, 운동량, 알코올 섭취 빈도, 비타민 C 식이 섭취량 및 비타민 C 보충제 사용 여부와 같은 생활습관 요인을 조사하였다. 또한 나트륨 의존성 비타민 C 수송체 1(sodium-dependent vitamin C transporter 1)을 암호화하는 유전자 자리에 존재하는 단일염기다형성(single nucleotide polymorphism) rs6596473 의 유전자형을 분석하였다. 혈청에서의 비타민 C 농도는 고성능 액체 크로마토그래피를 사용하여 측정한 후, 혈청 농도가 50µM 미만인 것을 '불충분(suboptimal) 상태'로 관정하고 생활습관 요인 및 rs6596473 과의 상관성을 이항 로지스틱 분석으로 조사하였다. 연구대상자의 활력도와 기분 상태는 설문 검사를 이용하여 조사하였다. 활력도 지표로서 연구대상자가 느끼는 자신의 주의집중력과 피로감을 평가하였고, 기분 상태를 나타내는 지표로서 스트레스, 우울도, 긍정 및 부정 정서를 평가하였다. 선형 회귀 분석을 이용하여 혈청 비타민 C 농도와 활력 및 기분 상태 사이의 상관성을 조사하였다. **연구 2** 에서는 20~39 세의 젊은 성인을 대상으로 비타민 C 보충 중재연구를 수행하였다. 최근 한 달 이내에 비타민 C 보충제를 섭취하 이력이 없고. 건강하지만 혈청 비타민 C 농도가 50uM 미만인 자가 무작위 배정, 이중 맹검, 위약대조 중재연구에 참여하여 4 주 동안 하루 두 번씩 500mg 의 비타민 C(24 명) 혹은 플라시보(22 명)를 섭취하였다. 비타민 C 보충이 정신적 활력에 미치는 영향을 평가하기 위해 주관적 활력도, 인지 실험에서의 주의집중력, 혈청 내 뇌유래신경영양인자(brain-derived neurotrophic factor)의 농도 변화를 조사하였다. 주관적 활력도로서 피로도와 주의집중력, 직무와 공부에 대한 열의(활력, 헌신, 몰입), 자기조절력을 설문 검사를 이용하여 평가하였다. 연구대상자의 지속적 주의력(sustained attention)은 높은 난이도의 암산과제를 통해 인지적 피로감을 유발한 상태에서 스트룸 과제(Stroop 속도를 task)에 정확하게 반응하는 측정하여 평가하였다. 뇌유래신경영양인자의 혈청 내 농도는 효소면역측정법을 이용하여 측정하였다. 비타민 C 보충이 기분 상태에 미치는 영향을 조사하기 위해 연구대상자의 스트레스, 우울도, 긍정 및 부정 정서, 불안도를 설문 검사로 평가하였다. 다음으로, 비타민 C 가 정신적 활력을 증진시키는 생리적 기전을 탐색하기 위해 중재 전후에 수집한 대변과 혈액 시료를 이용하여 장내 미생물총, 사이토카인 및 신경전달물질의 변화를 조사하였다. 16S rRNA 차세대 염기서열 분석법을 이용하여 장내 미생물 군집의 변화를

조사하고, 장 박테리아 시퀀스 데이터를 바탕으로 장내 미생물총의 기능적 특성을 분석하였다. 또한, 장내 미생물총의 기능 분석 결과를 근거로 하여, 스퍼미딘(spermidine)과 지질다당체결합단백질(lipopolysaccharide-binding protein)의 혈청 내 농도를 효소면역측정법으로 측정하였다. 혈청에 존재하는 사이토카인 중, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, TNF-α, IFN-γ의 농도는 전기화학발광 다중 면역분석법으로 분석하였다. 신경전달물질 L-DOPA, 노르에피네프린, 세로토닌의 혈청 내 농도는 초고성능 액체 크로마토그래피 질량분석법을 이용하여 측정하였다.

연구 결과

단면연구(연구 1)에서 수행한 이항 로지스틱 분석에 따르면 rs6596473 자리에 소수 염기(minor allele) 동형접합체를 가진 사람은 다수 염기(minor allele) 동형접합체를 가진 사람보다 혈청 비타민 C 농도가 50µM 미만으로 불충분할 가능성이 2.7 배 더 높았다(95% CI=1.058-7.304). 남성은 여성과 비교하여 혈청 비타민 C 농도가 불충분할 가능성이 4.6 배 더 높았다(95% CI=2.101-10.01). 이외에도 비타민 C 식이 섭취 수준이 가장 낮은 삼분위수에 속하는 자, 비타민 C 보충제를 사용하지 않는 자는 비타민 C 식이 섭취 수준이 가장 높은 삼분위수에 속하는 자, 비타민 C 보충제를 사용하는 자와 비교하여 혈청 비타민 C 농도가 불충분할 가능성이 각각 4.0 배(95% CI=1.773-8.832), 4.4 배(95% CI=2.099-9.405) 더 높았다. 선형 회귀 분석에서 혈청 비타민 C 농도와 활력도 사이의 상관성을 분석한 결과, 혈청 비타민 C 농도는 주의집중도와 유의한 양의 상관성을 보였다(B=0.161, p<0.05). 또한 성별, 나이, BMI, 현재 흡연 상태, 알코올 섭취 유무, 운동량 수준을 통제하여도 혈청 비타민 C 농도가 높아질수록 주의집중도가 함께 높아지는 것을 관찰하였다(B=0.203, p<0.01). 중재연구(연구 2)에서 초기 혈청 비타민 C 농도가 50uM 미만으로 불충분했던 사람에게 하루 1.000mg 의 비타민 C 를 4 주가 보충하 결과. 혈청 비타민 C 농도가 초기 대비 106% 만큼 증가하였다(p<0.001). 반면, 플라시보 섭취군의 혈청 비타민 C 농도는 초기 대비 30% 만큼 감소하였다(p<0.01). 플라시보 섭취군은 주관적 주의집중도에서 유의한 변화를 보이지 않은 반면, 비타민 C 섭취군은 초기 대비 27% 만큼 증가하여(p<0.01) 변화량에서 플라시보 섭취군과 유의하 차이를 보였다(1.9±2.7 vs. 0.3±2.5, p<0.05). 또한 플라시보 섭취군은 직무나 학업에 대한 몰입도에서 유의한 변화를 보이지 않았으나, 비타민 C 섭취군은 초기 대비 10% 만큼 증가하여(p<0.05) 변화량에서 플라시보 섭취군과 유의한 차이를 나타냈다(2.2±4.0 vs. -0.5±4.1, p<0.05). 반면, 피로, 자기조절력, 뇌유래신경영양인자 농도, 기분 상태 지표에서는 비타민 C 보충의 유의한 효과가 관찰되지 않았다. 한편, 비타민 C 섭취군은 플라시보 섭취군보다 스트룹 과제에 정확하게 반응하는 데 더 짧은 시간(초)을 소요하며(82.3±9.4 vs. 89.1±12.1, p<0.05) 더 우수한 인지 과제 수행 능력을 보였다. 또한 중재가 종료된 후에 측정한 혈청 비타민 C 농도와 스트룹 과제에 반응하는 데 걸린 시간 사이에는 음의 상관 관계가 존재했다(r=-0.28, p=0.05), 비타민 C 는 장 미생물총에도 유의미한 변화를 유도했는데, 비타민 C 섭취군은 플라시보 섭취군과 비교하여 Bacillaceae. Bifidobacterium 및 Anaerotruncus 의 상대적 풍부도가 증가한 반면, Desulfovibrio 의 상대적 풍부도는 감소하였다(p<0.05). 또한,

Bacillaceae(r=0.30, p<0.05) 및 Anaerotruncus(r=0.35, p<0.05)의 풍부도 변화가 주관적 주의집중도 점수의 변화와 양의 상관성을 보였다. 반면, 스트룹 검사에서의 인지 수행 능력이 Desulfovibrio 의 풍부도 변화와 음의 상관성을 나타냈다(r=-0.31, p<0.05), 다음으로, 장 미생물총의 기능적 특징을 분석한 결과, 비타민 C 섭취는 플라시보 섭취와 비교하여 폴리아민 생합성 경로와 특정 그람 음성균이 사용하는 것으로 알려져 있는 Entner-Doudoroff(ED) 경로의 상대적 풍부도를 감소시켰다(p<0.05). 그 결과, 비타민 C 섭취는 플라시보 섭취와 비교하여 장내 박테리아가 생성하는 스퍼미딘의 혈청 농도(0.86±2.84 vs. 1.36±2.85ng/mL, p<0.05)와 그람 세포 외벽에서 음성균의 기인한 지질다당체에 결합하는 지질다당체결합단백질의 혈청 농도(0.00±0.59 vs. 0.87±1.30μg/mL, p<0.01)를 유의하게 감소시켰다. 또한, 박테리아의 폴리아민 생합성 경로(r=0.58, p<0.001) 및 ED 경로(r=0.33, p<0.05)의 풍부도 변화는 스트룹 과제에 반응하는 데 걸린 시간과 양의 상관관계를 나타냈다. 혈청 사이토카인의 경우, 플라시보 섭취군에서는 IL-6 와 IL-10 의 농도가 초기 대비 각각 46%(p<0.01), 22%(p<0.01) 만큼 증가하였지만, 비타민 C 섭취군은 두 지표에서 유의한 변화를 보이지 않아 변화량에서 플라시보 섭취군과 유의한 차이를 나타냈다(IL-6: 0.07±0.35 vs. 0.31±0.53, IL-10: -0.02±0.18 vs. 0.12±0.20, p<0.05). 또한, 비타민 C 섭취군에서는 TNFα의 혈청 내 농도가 23% 만큼 감소한(p<0.01) 것에 반해, 플라시보 섭취군은 유의한 변화를 보이지 않아 TNF-α의 농도 변화에서 두 섭취군이 유의한 차이를 보였다(-0.38±0.92 vs. 0.12±0.32, p<0.05). 특히, 플라시보 섭취군에서는 IL-8 의 증가와 스트룹 검사에서의 수행 능력 사이에서 음의

상관성이 나타났는데(r=-0.47, p<0.05), 비타민 C 섭취군에서는 이러한 상관성이 관찰되지 않았다. 한편, L-DOPA, 노르에피네프린 및 세로토닌의 혈청 농도 변화에서 두 섭취군은 유의미한 차이를 보이지 않았다. 하지만 비타민 C 섭취군만이 L-DOPA 농도의 변화와 직무 및 학업에 대한 열의도에서의 변화가 서로 강한 양의 상관관계를 보였다(r=0.58, p<0.001).

결론

본 연구의 결과는 체내 비타민 C 상태와 정신 건강 사이의 밀접한 관련성을 보여준다. 특히, 건강하지만 체내 비타민 C 상태가 불충분한 젊은 성인에서 혈청 비타민 C 농도가 50µM 이상으로 충분히 높아지면, 비타민 C 가 도파민의 정상적인 기능을 도와 일에 대한 몰입과 동기부여를 촉진한다. 또한 비타민 C 는 만성 염증의 잠재적 위험이 되는 장내 미생물총을 억제함으로써 지속적 주의력과 같은 인지 수행 능력을 향상시킨다. 이러한 연구 결과는 비타민 C 가 장내 미생물총의 균형을 유도할 뿐만 아니라, 장-뇌 축을 통해 정신적 활력까지 증진시킬 수 있음을 나타낸다. 따라서 신체의 적절한 비타민 C 상태를 유도하는 영양 중재는 뇌 건강을 위협하는 생리적 요인을 차단하고 정신적 에너지를 증가시킴으로써 활력 있고 성공적인 일상을 이루는 데 도움을 줄 것으로 기대된다.

주요어: 비타민 C, 정신적 활력, 주의집중력, 동기 부여, 장내 미생물총, 장-뇌 축, 염증성 사이토카인, 단일염기다형성

학번: 2018-34327